I. INTRODUCTION

I

105

KINETIC AND PHYSICO-CHEMICAL ANALYSIS OF ENZYME COMPLEXES AND THEIR POSSIBLE ROLE IN THE CONTROL OF METABOLISM

TAMÁS KELETI, JUDIT OVÁDI and JÓZSEF BATKE

Institute of Enzymology, Biological Research Center, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest H 1502, PO Box 7, Hungary

CONTENTS

п	METHODS FOR QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS OF MACROMOLECULAR INTERACTIONS	107
	1. Physico-chemical Methods	107
	(a) Sedimentation methods (velocity and equilibrium sedimentation, active band ultracentrifuga-	
	(i) tion)	107
	(b) Chromatoaraphic methods (ael-, affinity-chromatoaraphy, immobilization)	108
	(c) Partition (in polyethylene glycol) method	109
	(d) Fluorescence methods (steady-state intensity and anisotropy measurements, energy transfer.	
	time-resolved anisotropy techniques)	110
	2. Kinetic Methods	112
	(a) Transient time and steady-state velocity of coupled reactions	112
	(b) Transient time in interacting systems	114
	(c) Analysis of the mechanism of intermediate transfer	115
	(d) Trapping methods	118
III.	Interaction of Cytosolic Enzymes	118
	1. Interactions of Purified Enzymes in vitro	118
	2. In Search of a Multienzyme Aggregate	124
	3. Interactions of Enzymes with Structural Elements	126
	(a) Interaction of soluble cytosolic enzymes with membranes	126
	(b) Interactions with skeletal elements and cell particles	126
IV.	INTERACTIONS OF MITOCHONDRIAL ENZYMES	128
	1. Citric Acid Cycle and Some Closely Related Enzymes	128
	2. Other Mitochondrial Enzymes	132
V.	Control of Metabolism by Macromolecular Interactions	133
	1. Control of Metabolism in Bulk Medium	133
	2. Control of Metabolism in Organized Systems	134
	3. Thermodynamics of Metabolic Control	135
VI.	Concluding Remarks	136
	References	137
	Note Added in Proof	151

I. INTRODUCTION

Although about 30 years ago Siekievitz (1959) already speculated about the possible role of reversible binding of "soluble" enzymes to cellular membranes in regulation of enzymatic activity, Green et al. (1965) were the pioneers suggesting that membrane fractions were capable of catalysing the complete sequence of glycolysis and all metabolic sequences might be membrane bound in vivo.

Indeed, the homogeneous components of the cell, like enzymes and metabolites, are immersed into a radically inhomogeneous environment so that "the dynamics of the homogeneous components must need to be coupled into the inhomogeneity of the internal environment" (Elsasser, 1969). In the last two decades more and more authors have suggested that even the so called "soluble" proteins of the cytoplasm and mitochondria may associate with each other or with various membranous and particulate components of the

cell (Atkinson, 1969; Ling, 1969; Kempner and Miller, 1968; Sols and Marco, 1970; Masters, 1981; Srere, 1982, 1987; Friedrich, 1984; Welch, 1977a, 1985; Keleti *et al.*, 1977; Welch and Clegg, 1986; Srivastava and Bernhard, 1986a, 1987a; Damjanovich *et al.*, 1986; Keleti and Ovádi, 1988). Moreover, the intracellular distribution of enzymes may not be an invariant property, but it may vary with the metabolic status of the cell; hence, such terms as "mitochondrial matrix" enzymes, "cytoplasmic" enzymes, etc., may not be correct in their original meaning. The rapid and reversible variation in "localization" may represent one mechanism of several by which regulation of catalytic activity may be achieved (Wilson, 1978; Masters *et al.*, 1987; Ovádi, 1988).

However, a number of controversial data have been accumulated over the past 15 years. Any unequivocal demonstration of an interaction between components of cytosol and membranous structures is fraught with considerable technical difficulties, which relate to the possible perturbations of cellular structure during homogenization, the common use of nonphysiological suspension media and the susceptibility of the cytosol to component redistribution during subcellular fractionation (Masters, 1981). Hence, even if there is a quasi-permanent organizational network, stabilized perhaps by weak bonding to membrane or other structures or to other enzymes, the shearing forces of cell disruption can reduce the viscosity sufficiently for it to be destroyed (Ottaway and Mowbray, 1977).

The apparent concentration of several enzymes in the cell is 10^{-6} - 10^{-5} mol/kg of tissue or even higher (Srere, 1967; Bernhard, 1988). These concentrations are much higher than those used generally in kinetic studies *in vitro*, so that the classic kinetic parameters, namely the Michaelis constant and maximum velocity may be significantly altered in the cellular milieu. Moreover, the binding of enzymes to cell particles or other enzymes may also alter both of these kinetic characteristics. Regulatory behaviour may appear or disappear in soluble form or at assay concentration under *in vitro* conditions.

Another thing that also should be kept in mind is the following: tissues in animals contain about 1000 different enzymes of an average molecular mass of 10⁵ (Srere, 1967) and the mean distance between enzymes is well below the diameter of an average tetrameric protein molecule (Srere, 1982), i.e. enzymes are densely packed in the cell and cellular particles. This dense packing would make possible metabolic interactions or regulation controlled simply by diffusion rather than specifically organized structures. Really, if the medium is water, enzymic reactions do not require special conditions or organized structures to allow enzymes to encounter their substrates and effectors: that is, diffusion may be rapid enough that it could not be the rate limiting factor (Webb, 1963). However, in an intracellular "microenvironment" diffusion could be rate limiting in the enzymic reaction (Hübscher *et al.*, 1971).

The extremely high macromolecular crowding of the cytoplasm as well as that of the mitochondria influences the biorecognition processes through alteration of the kinetics and equilibria of reactions leading to the formation of specific macromolecular complexes, such as the binding of hormones to their receptors, the recognition of foreign substances by antibodies, etc. (Minton, 1987). Recently, new techniques have being developed for quantification of macromolecular association equilibria at concentrations far higher than previously possible and also in the presence of other species of macromolecules at concentrations comparable with the physiological ones (Chatelier and Minton, 1987a,b). Model calculations to high background protein concentrations suggest that in solutions containing proteins at concentrations comparable to those existing in biological media, the diffusive transport of larger proteins and aggregates is slower than in dilute solution by several orders of magnitude (Muramatsu and Minton, 1988), while the diffusion of small molecular mass compounds (like metabolites, effectors) slowed down 2 3 times only (Mastro et al., 1984; Jacobson and Wojcieszyn, 1984). This was explained as the result of mostly transient interactions of the diffusible macromolecules with the cytoplasmic matrix proteins (Gerson et al., 1985). Taking into account the sufficiently viscous cytoplasm and membranes, the appropriate metabolite concentrations can be created by arranging enzymes of a certain pathway next to each other.

A number of instances are known where enzymes remain attached to each other during extraction and purification procedures. Such physically associated multienzyme systems,

independently of the nature of their physical association, have the potential of exhibiting unique catalytic properties (Gaertner, 1978). A multienzyme complex is defined as an aggregate of different, functionally related enzymes bound together by non-covalent forces into a highly organized structure (Ginsburg and Stadtman, 1970). Multienzyme complexes do not seem to be random associations of enzymes but ones which are related by virtue of catalysing sequential reactions and they allow channelling of metabolites along specific enzyme pathways without the intermediates becoming free (Stebbing, 1980). However, the same enzymes in closely related organisms may be differently associated and we should therefore be wary of applying one explanation for the existence of multienzyme complexes in general. Multienzyme complexes are likely to reveal functions and origins in intermediary metabolism. However, enzyme-enzyme interactions occur not only between components of well established multienzyme complexes, but also between so-called "soluble" enzymes. Although these interactions are weak and the enzymes can be extracted from the cell as individual entities, they may ensure a dynamism for the complexes which manifests itself in their dissociation-association processes (Jaenicke and Helmreich, 1972; Salerno et al., 1975). Such interactions are assumed to have functions in vivo and this point applies especially to areas of current interest: compartmentation or channelling, understanding of which phenomena might provide explanation of metabolic controls. Indeed, development of the concept of metabolic compartmentation seemed to be necessary since several data could not be understood in any other way (Srere and Mosbach, 1974; Ovádi and Keleti, 1978; Friedrich, 1984; Keleti and Ovádi, 1988).

II. METHODS FOR QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS OF MACROMOLECULAR INTERACTIONS

1. Physico-chemical Methods

Since the interactions are frequently loose and transient in dynamic enzyme complexes, their study is difficult. Special sensitive physico-chemical techniques are required to detect complex formation of enzymes as well as to characterize quantitatively the heterologous interactions. From these data the possible existence of enzyme complexes at physiological enzyme concentrations could be deduced.

(a) Sedimentation methods (velocity and equilibrium sedimentation, active band ultracentrifugation)

The sedimentation of an enzyme complex existing in equilibrium with their components may be characterized by its mass average sedimentation coefficient, s, which is the average of the sedimentation coefficients of all components in terms of their mass concentrations in solution. For a monomer-dimer system Gilbert (1955) has shown that a single sedimenting boundary is observed at all concentrations if the rate of association is very rapid compared to that of dissociation; however, in such a system s shows a characteristic concentration dependence.

With the development of the different sedimentation technique (Kirschner and Schachman, 1971), which has the precision to detect extremely small alterations in sedimentation coefficient, the problem of distinguishing very small changes in molecular mass from changes in frictional coefficient has largely been overcome.

Measurements over a range of protein concentrations do justify conclusions about the magnitude of the association constant (Smith *et al.*, 1973; Zimmerman and Crowl-Powers, 1988). Ligand-induced changes in association constant would be recognized and the difference in sedimentation coefficient could be attributed to a shift in the equilibrium.

The active enzyme ultracentrifugation method allows one to obtain the hydrodynamic parameters of the enzyme-substrate complex while it is fully active. The sedimentation and diffusion coefficients of the enzyme-substrate complex are calculated from the optical observation of either the appearance of the product of the reaction or the disappearance of the substrate (Cohen and Mire, 1971). Although this method may produce artifacts, not found in the more common centrifugation methods, it has numerous advantages. One of them is, for example, that the sedimentation of the enzyme can be observed at very dilute concentrations, hence the hydrodynamic properties can be directly compared with kinetic data. Moreover, this method does not require a purified preparation: therefore, it may be advantageous to investigate enzymes associated in complexes.

During the ultracentrifugation run of two proteins the symmetrical difference curve of two successive absorption scannings may become asymmetric. According to the consideration of Cohen and Claverie (1975) such a shoulder is a direct proof of interaction between active species having different molecular mass. Consequently, it was suggested that the asymmetrical shape of the difference curve is indicative of complex formation between two enzymes. It should be mentioned that in such a complex case the quantitative interpretation is rather difficult, if not impossible (Llewellyn and Smith, 1978).

Until now it was not completely clear why complex formation between soluble globular enzymes detected kinetically in some cases could not be demonstrated by ultracentrifugation methods (Horecker et al., 1981; Fahien and Smith, 1974) with an exception of the complex between aldolase and glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, as indicated by active band ultracentrifugation (Batke et al., 1980). The reason for the failure to demonstrate complex formation is probably connected with the pressure effect known for many years and discussed in detail by Harrington and Kegeles (1973). The high pressure $(7 \times 10^{6} - 40 \times 10^{6})$ 10^{6} Pa) in the ultracentrifuge cell during a run can change the molecular volume and shift dramatically the equilibrium of the complex. This effect may be especially significant in high speed velocity experiments, which, otherwise, would be advantageous for the analysis of "labile" systems, since a relatively short time is needed for the run compared to the sedimentation equilibrium studies, which requires slower rotor speed (consequently pressure effect becomes less important). If the high pressure induces the decomposition of enzyme complexes, the detection of such an enzyme complex may be possible by active band ultracentrifugation applying the non-functioning enzyme in high excess relative to the "active" enzyme, the hydrodynamic parameters of which are monitored. Binding of soluble proteins to the skeletal elements of the cell has been detected by ultracentrifugation techniques (cf. Section III.3.b).

(b) Chromatographic methods (gel-, affinity-chromatography, immobilization)

Gel-chromatographic methods are utilized for determination of stoichiometry and equilibrium constants of associating protein systems. The method is very commonly used since it requires simple equipment and it is particularly well-suited to studies in a wide range of concentrations. The basic principles of gel-chromatography and applications to single and polydisperse solute systems have been described in several reviews (Ackers, 1970, 1975). The technique of elution and batch chromatography is based upon the molecular size-dependent penetration of solute molecules into porous networks of gels such as crosslinked dextrans (Sephadex), polyacrylamide and agarose. This technique has been used, for example, to detect complex formation between aldolase and glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and to study the modulating effect of metabolites on this heterologous enzyme interaction (Vértessy and Ovádi, 1989).

Small zone elution gel-chromatography is a useful qualitative method of detecting interaction, but from such an experiment association constants cannot be determined.

In large zone experiments in the case of dissociable systems the data should be derived from a wide range of concentrations in order to carry out an unequivocal determination of stoichiometry and provide some diagnostic information as to the type of system (Valdes and Ackers, 1979).

The fundamental principle of affinity chromatography is the utilization of the exceptional property of biologically active substances to form stable specific and reversible complexes. If one of the components of the complex is immobilized, a specific sorbent is formed for the second component of the complex, with the assumption, of course, that all conditions necessary for the formation of this complex are maintained. The binding sites of the immobilized substances must retain good steric accessibility even after their binding to the solid carrier, and they must not be deformed. The application of affinity chromatography to the study of interactions of enzymes seems very promising, although the results do not permit general conclusions to be drawn (Antonini *et al.*, 1975; Powell and Morrison, 1979). Moreover, these methods are time consuming and the working formulae are rather complicated (Nichol *et al.*, 1974b; Danner *et al.*, 1979), since in affinity chromatography a heterologous system is operative. Nevertheless, this method was employed to demonstrate the substrate-induced dissociation of the tetrameric glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Kálmán *et al.*, 1980). The dissociation constant of the complex between aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase has been determined by using NAD-Sepharose 4B as affinity gel in an equilibrium batch system (Kálmán and Boross, 1982). With the help of this method it is possible to study any kind of interaction between two molecules if there exists any affinity sorbent for one of the interacting molecules, while the other molecule cannot bind to this sorbent. Furthermore, this system is easily applicable to the study of factors influencing complex formation, e.g. pH, temperature and ionic strength.

The immobilization of enzymes is important from both theoretical and practical points of view. Enzymes bound to well characterized surfaces of solid supports represent simple models for the study of the effect of microenvironments on the binding and transformation of substrate. As most enzymes *in vivo* are bound to membranes or occur in the form of some other complex of the native environment, the study of such systems is undoubtedly important. Many reviews have already been written on affinity chromatography and the binding of enzymes to solid supports (Cuatrecasas, 1972; Cuatrecasas and Anfinsen, 1971a, b; Mosbach, 1977; Turkova, 1978).

Immobilization has been used to detect subunit-subunit interactions in oligomeric enzymes (Nagradova *et al.*, 1981; Muronetz *et al.*, 1982, 1986; Ashmarina *et al.*, 1980, 1982) or heterologous complex formation between two different enzymes (Ashmarina *et al.*, 1984, 1985, Muronetz *et al.*, 1986; Arrio-Dupont *et al.*, 1985).

Immobilization of two sequentially working enzymes on the same matrix was described by Mosbach and coworkers (Mosbach and Mattiasson, 1970; Siegbahn *et al.*, 1987). The rate of the overall reaction catalysed by the enzymes coupled together on a carrier was compared with the rate of the corresponding free enzymes equivalent in activity to those of the immobilized ones. It was concluded that in an immobilized system the product of the reaction catalysed by the first enzyme is available in a higher concentration in the environment of the second enzyme, than in the system of free enzymes. This two-enzyme system was then extended to a three- (Srere *et al.*, 1973; Mattiasson and Mosbach, 1971) and four-enzyme system (Okamoto *et al.*, 1980). Moreover, the enzymes of a complete metabolic cycle, the urea cycle, have been co-immobilized to supports (Siegbahn and Mosbach, 1982). In all cases the immobilized systems were much more efficient than the corresponding soluble ones.

Mansson *et al.* (1983) described the use of bis-NAD analogues to obtain an immobilized two-enzyme system (lactic dehydrogenase and alcohol dehydrogenase) in which the two different active sites are facing one another. Similar experiments were performed with an oxidase/peroxidase system using quinones as crosslinking intermediates (Dittrich and Neumann, 1988). By such an arrangement the diffusion of the product of the first enzyme to the active site of the second enzyme was facilitated due to the proximity and proper orientation of the active sites.

(c) Partition (in polyethylene glycol) method

Precipitation by polyethylene glycol (PEG) is a simple and suitable method to detect an association-dissociation process in enzyme systems where either homologous or heterologous interaction occurs.

Ogston (1937) argued many years ago that PEG provided an environment for proteins more comparable to the cellular environment, where they are surrounded by a high concentration of hydrophobic protein molecules, than do most aqueous solutions. This insight is probably more valid for the highly-concentrated proteins of the mitochondrial matrix than it is for proteins in other subcellular compartments, but even in those other compartments protein concentrations may reach 20%, a concentration seldom used in the study of proteins *in vitro*. The use of PEG as a "crowding agent" in the study of the kinetic behaviour of mammalian phosphofructokinase opened ways for the investigation of enzymes at physiological concentrations (Boscá *et al.*, 1985). This approach was used to detect the interaction of phosphofructokinase and fructose-bisphosphatase (Ovádi *et al.*, 1986).

PEG is one of the most useful protein salting-out agents. It has been shown that the salting-out effectiveness of PEG can be explained by the large unfavourable change in freeenergy of its interaction with proteins (Arakawa and Timasheff, 1985). Results from solvent-protein interaction studies indicate that PEGs are hydrophobic in nature and will interact favourably with the hydrophobic side chains exposed upon unfolding (Lee and Lee, 1987).

Coprecipitation of two enzymes in the presence of PEG under conditions when neither alone is precipitated could be due to the interaction between them; however, the molecular basis of the protein-precipitating action of PEG and other polymers is poorly understood. The effectiveness of PEG increases with the size of the polymer (Polson *et al.*, 1964) and the larger proteins tend to precipitate at lower concentrations of PEG (Juckes, 1971). Hence, it seems probable that the proteins are sterically excluded from regions of the solvent occupied by the inert synthetic polymers and are thus concentrated until their solubility is exceeded and precipitation occurs. For example, interaction of glutamate dehydrogenase with mitochondrial enzymes and the interaction of citrate synthase with malate dehydrogenase has been demonstrated in PEG (Halper and Srere, 1977).

PEG is one of the polymer components in biphasic systems which is more and more widely used to study interactions between enzymes, and enzymes and particles. If the distribution of two substances in a biphasic system is different from when they are alone, interaction can be detected, and the change in partition can be used for calculation of dissociation constants. The properties of polymers of biphasic systems and the application of the distribution method have been described in detail by Albertsson (1971) and Albertsson *et al.* (1982). The systems are obtained by dissolving two water soluble polymers above certain concentrations in water. Salts and buffers can be added to give a desired ionic strength and pH. The most commonly used system contains dextran and PEG.

The aqueous polymer solutions are not adverse towards biological material and can dissolve many proteins and other biopolymers. A number of macromolecular systems have been studied by this partition technique and interactions could be detected, e.g. protein-protein, protein-nucleic acid complex formation, the binding of proteins to membrane surfaces, cell organelles, membrane vesicles. It should be stressed that the dissociation constants obtained by this method using such a milieu are not necessarily the same as obtained with water as solvent. The separation of two components can be improved considerably by repeating the partition procedure several times, for example, by the procedure of countercurrent distribution (CCD). By comparison of the CCD diagram for two molecules when they are run separately or together one can draw conclusions as to their interaction. By this technique interaction has been detected between cytoplasmic forms of malate dehydrogenase and aspartate aminotransferase and also between the mitochondrial forms of the two enzymes. However, no interaction was found between the heterotopical enzymes (Backman and Johansson, 1976). Association of glycolytic enzymes with filamentous actin was also detected by CCD (Westrin and Backman, 1983), as well as protein-protein association of six enzymes of the Calvin cycle (Persson and Johansson, 1989). Complex formation of five enzymes of the Calvin cycle was demonstrated also with other independent methods (Gontero et al., 1988).

However, caution is needed in using different synthetic polymers. Several "inert" synthetic polymers (polyvinyl alcohol, polyvinylpyrrolidon) inhibit or activate different enzymes (aldolase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) by direct interaction and even change their mechanism of action (Jancsik *et al.*, 1976, 1979; Keleti *et al.*, 1977, 1978).

(d) Fluorescence methods (steady-state intensity and anisotropy measurements, energy transfer, time-resolved anisotropy techniques)

The study of interacting macromolecular systems by fluorescence techniques is a

productive, thriving endeavour. Changes in fluorescence intensity (quantum yield) and in the fluorescence polarization can be considered as sensitive indicators of environmental effects which alter both the conformation of proteins (static and dynamic quenching, *cf.* Eftink and Ghiron, 1981) and/or the aggregational state of oligomers or heterologous enzyme–enzyme complexes (*cf.* Hammes, 1981; Rawitch and Weber, 1972).

In practice signals originating from intrinsic groups of the proteins (tyrosine, tryptophan and prosthetic groups such as flavine and pyridoxal cofactors, etc.) and externally attached fluorescence dyes (probes) are used for detection. Increase in the size of a macromolecule due to the formation of a complex with another macromolecule can be followed by the change of the fluorescence quantum yield (y) or intensity (I) and/or fluorescence polarization (p) or rather the steady state emission anisotropy (r). The advantage of using anisotropy in calculations is that anisotropies are additive whereas summation of polarization is a complex procedure (Jablonski, 1960; Deranleau *et al.*, 1980). The steady state anisotropy (r) is:

$$r = 2p/(3-p)$$
 and $p = (I_{rr} - I_{rh}G)/(I_{rr} + I_{rh}G)$

where $G = I_{vh}/I_{hh}$ and I is the fluorescence intensity of the emitted light. The first and the second indices refer to the positions (v: vertical, h: horizontal) of the polarizer and analyser, respectively. G is the instrumental factor. The additivity of fluorescence emission anisotropies can be represented by

$$r = \sum_{i} f_{i} r_{i}$$

where r is the measured anisotropy of fluorescence emitted by a mixture of molecular species excited at a given wavelength by linearly polarized light, r_i is the anisotropy due to species i and f_i is the fraction of the total emitted fluorescence of species i.

In fluorescence measurements special care is needed to avoid artifacts caused by concentration quenching and known as inner-filter effects. A correction formula for the calculation of quenching both in the excitation and emission processes has been derived and applied for quantitative analysis of the concentration-dependent dissociation of the tetrameric glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase into dimers and monomers (Batke, 1982). The values of the dissociation constants calculated with this method agreed well with those obtained from fluorescence anisotropy measurements using the formula originally proposed by Rawitch and Weber (1972) and extended by Ovádi *et al.* (1982) for the analysis of two-step dissociation processes.

A large variety of information can be obtained from singlet-singlet fluorescence energy transfer measurements. This method was elaborated by Förster (1951, 1965) and others (Jovin, 1979; Stryer, 1978) for the determination of distances in macromolecules in the range of 100-800 nm; however, it is also elegantly suited to the study of stoichiometry, conformational changes and kinetics of complex formation in associating protein systems. In double sphere transfer experiments one of the components of the complexes was labelled only with donor chromophores and the other only with acceptor chromophores and the transfer was indicated in binary and also in ternary complexes of trypsin, alpha-chymotrypsin, and the double-headed black-eyed pea inhibitor (Gennis *et al.*, 1972).

In fact, the double sphere transfer method may be useful for *in vivo* demonstration of enzyme complex formation in intact cells or in cell suspensions by measuring the transfer efficiency between the separately (covalently) labelled purified components after injecting them into the cell or mixed to the cell-suspension.

Techniques permitting the semiquantitative interpretation of singlet-singlet energy transfer measurements on multiply labelled single proteins and protein complexes are given by Gennis and Cantor (1972). In a complex of two or more proteins singlet energy transfer measurements enable one to determine fairly accurately the distances between pairs of proteins (Gennis and Cantor, 1972; Laskowski and Sealock, 1971).

Time dependent anisotropy, r(t) (cf. Tao, 1969) is also used in the study of interacting enzymes and proteins (Churchich and Lee, 1976; Ikkai *et al.*, 1980; Kim *et al.*, 1988). The complexes of aspartate aminotransferase/glutamate dehydrogenase and aspartate amino-

transferase/pyridoxal kinase were characterized by larger rotational correlation times, 175 and 62 nsec, respectively, than the free aspartate aminotransferase for which values of 43 nsec (Churchich and Lee, 1976) and 36 nsec (Kim *et al.*, 1988) were reported.

The physico-chemical detection of the formation of multienzyme complexes is the *conditio* sine qua non to start experiments concerning their role in the regulation of metabolism. However, complex formation without kinetic consequences is irrelevant as far as direct regulation is concerned.

2. Kinetic Methods

While the functional advantages of the stable multienzyme complexes in the regulation of cellular metabolism have been extensively investigated, and are widely acknowledged, the dynamic enzyme complexes being loose and transient in nature, are much less well characterized. The kinetic approaches are the widely accepted techniques to study the functional consequences of enzyme interactions. The kinetic method for the detection and analysis of enzyme complexes is based upon measuring the steady-state flux in consecutive reactions catalysed by functionally related enzymes as well as determining the time required for attaining the steady-state flux. Modelling of the interacting enzyme systems makes it possible to quantify the heterologous enzyme interactions.

The possible theoretical approaches of the kinetic analysis of the *in vitro* interaction of two functionally related enzymes are the following: (i) the analysis of deviation from the kinetics of coupled enzymes, assuming no interaction between the enzymes; and then (ii) the analysis of the kinetics of interacting coupled enzymes by developing different mathematical models.

(a) Transient time and steady-state velocity of coupled reactions

If the reaction catalysed by the first enzyme proceeds at constant velocity, and the reaction catalysed by the second enzyme is first order in respect of the intermediate (which is the product of the first and the substrate of the second enzyme) then the linear part of the time course represents the steady-state velocity of the first enzyme. The production of the end product reaches the steady-state as a function of time after a lag-phase. The intercept of the extrapolated linear part on the time axis equals the transient time, τ , which is proportional to the lag-phase (Hess and Wurster, 1970; Bartha and Keleti, 1979; Keleti, 1984; Easterby, 1981, 1986).

Interaction between the two enzymes can be kinetically analysed by measuring the time courses of the coupled reaction at different enzyme concentrations keeping their ratio constant (Hess and Wurster, 1970). If a kinetically significant complex is formed, then the steady-state velocity will not be a linear function of the concentration of the first enzyme and/or the change in $1/\tau$ as a function of the concentration of the second enzyme will not be linearly proportional.

By increasing the concentration of the first enzyme (E_1) the concentration of the intermediate (I) is also increased resulting in a hyperbolic dependence of steady-state velocities on *I* concentrations, from which the K_m value of *I* for the second enzyme (E_2) can be calculated for the coupled system:

$$v = k_{\text{cat}}[E_2]_T (k_1[E_1]_T t - [P]) / \{K_{\text{m}} + (k_1[E_1]_T t - [P])\}$$
(1)

where k_1 is the first order rate constant of the reaction catalysed by E_1 and P is the end product of the coupled reaction, K_m is the Michaelis constant.

If this K_m value differs from that measured in a separate reaction (when only E_2 was present) then a kinetically significant interaction between E_1 and E_2 exists. Moreover, this phenomenon may be indicative of the existence of direct transfer of the intermediate between the active centres of two enzymes (Ovádi and Keleti, 1978).

One should bear in mind that if the reaction of E_2 is not of first order with respect to *I*, but follows Michaelis-Menten kinetics, then (Storer and Cornish-Bowden, 1974):

$$\tau = K_{\rm M} / (V_{\rm max} - v_1). \tag{2}$$

In a coupled system of two enzyme-catalysed reactions, provided that the activities of the

two enzymes are comparable, the kinetic properties of both enzymes may be determined simultaneously by analysis of the sigmoidal progress curve of product formation (Duggleby, 1983). Kuchel *et al.* (1974) have showed that for a coupled enzymatic sequence of *n* enzymes, each of which has a single substrate and obeys Michaelis-Menten kinetics, a plot of the concentration of the final product vs t^n will tend towards a straight line. For more general theoretical treatments of the transient time, for example, when both enzymes follow Michaelis-Menten or one of them reversible kinetics or the chain of consecutive reactions comprises three or more enzymes, we refer to the literature (McClure, 1969; Rudolph *et al.*, 1979; Easterby, 1973, 1981; Kuchel and Roberts, 1974; Nichol *et al.*, 1974a; Brooks *et al.*, 1984; Keleti, 1986; Yang and Schulz, 1987; Brooks and Suelter, 1989).

For a two-enzyme coupled reaction (if $[E_2] \ll K_{m,E_2}$, cf. Bartha and Keleti, 1979) the transient time is the reciprocal of the kinetic power (Keleti and Vértessy, 1986; Welch *et al.*, 1988): $\tau = 1/k_{\Gamma}$, where the kinetic power, $k_{\Gamma} = V_{max}/K_{M}$, which encompasses all factors which bear upon the conversion of free substrate to free product within the cell (Keleti and Welch, 1984; Keleti, 1988). The transient time can be defined not only for the simplest one-substrate reaction as the reciprocal of the kinetic power but also for two-substrate reactions as well as reactions catalysed by allosteric enzymes.

We define the kinetic power of the enzyme catalysing the reaction of two substrates A and B as:

$$k_{\Gamma,A,B} = V_{\text{max}} / [(K_{\text{m},A} + K_{\text{m},B})/2]$$
(3)

i.e. the kinetic power is the ratio of maximal velocity and the average Michaelis constant (Keleti, 1989a) and it is the function of the ratios of dissociation and decomposition of the central complex and its formation, which follows from the transformation of eqn (3):

$$1/k_{\Gamma,A,B} = (K_{S,A} + K_{S,B})/2k_2[E]_T + (k_{1,A} + k_{1,B})/2k_{1,A}k_{1,B}[E]_T.$$
(4)

If $k_{1,A} = k_{1,B} = k_D$, where k_D is the diffusion rate constant,

$$1/k_{\Gamma,A,B} = (1/k_D[E]_T) [(k_{-1,A} + k_{-1,B})/2k_2 + 1]$$
(5)

and if $k_{-1,A} \approx k_{-1,B} \approx k_2$, which is identical with the evolutionary "compromise" condition for a simple enzyme function (Knowles, 1976),

$$k_{\Gamma,\mathbf{A},\mathbf{B}} = k_{\mathbf{D}}[E]_T/2. \tag{6}$$

If we assume a single-substrate enzyme to be allosteric and to follow the symmetry model (Monod *et al.*, 1965) we obtain for the kinetic power (Keleti, 1989a):

$$1/k_{\Gamma} = \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(K_{R}^{i-1} + LK_{T}^{i-1}\right)/(K_{R}^{i} + LK_{T}^{i})V_{\max} + n(1/k_{1}[E]_{T})\right]/n$$
(7)

where K_R is the association constant of the ES complex in the R state and K_T is the same in the T state. L is the allosteric equilibrium constant of the step $E_T \Leftrightarrow E_R$, i.e. $L = [E_T]/[E_R]$, where E_R and E_T are the free enzyme in R and T state, respectively.

In the case of the tetrahedral sequential model (Koshland *et al.*, 1966) assuming the subunits to exist in 'a' form in the absence and in 'b' form in the presence of bound substrate, the kinetic power is (Keleti, 1989a):

$$1/k_{\Gamma} = \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} 1/K_{a,i} V_{\max} + n(1/k_{1}[E]_{T})\right] / n$$
(8)

where $K_{a,i}$ are the association constants defined in eqns (9):

$$K_{a,1} = K_{b}K_{c}K_{d}^{3}$$

$$K_{a,2} = K_{b}K_{c}K_{d}K_{c}$$

$$K_{a,3} = K_{b}K_{c}K_{c}^{2}/K_{d}$$

$$K_{a,4} = K_{b}K_{c}K_{c}^{3}/K_{d}^{3}$$
(9)

for the four subunits, where K_b is the association constant of S with the b conformation of subunits, K_c is the equilibrium constant of the conversion of the subunit in the a conformation to that in the b one, K_d is the subunit interaction factor between subunits in form a and b, and K_e that between a pair of b subunits. Consequently, the reciprocal of the kinetic power defines the transient time of the coupled reactions even for two-substrate enzymes and for allosteric enzymes.

(b) Transient time in interacting systems

Let us analyse quantitatively the following coupled reaction catalysed by two enzymes interacting in a kinetically significant manner (Bartha and Keleti, 1979; Keleti, 1984):



If the first reaction is of zero order, E_1 is practically present only in the enzyme-substrate complex (E_1S) . E_1S forms a complex (C) with E_2 , with the dissociation constant K. Both E_1 and C transform S into I with the same velocity v_1 , i.e. it is assumed that E_2 does not affect the activity of E_1 . However, it is assumed that E_1 affects E_2 , i.e. that E_2 catalyses the transformation of I into P with the velocity v_2 , but C catalyses it with v_2^* . It is assumed that no channel is formed.

If n is the number of active sites of E_2 bound per active site of E_1 and the reaction is of first order with respect to I:

$$v_2 = (k_2/K_{\rm m}) \left([E_2]_T - n[C] \right) [I]$$
(10)

$$v_2^* = (k_2^* / K_m^*) n[C] [I]$$
(11)

where k_2 , K_m and k_2^* , K_m^* are the microscopic rate and Michaelis constants of the reaction of E_2 and C, respectively.

If $v_1 = \text{constant}$ and at t = 0, [P] = [I] = 0, the law of mass conservation requires that:

$$[P] = v_1 t - [I] - v_2/k_2 - v_2^*/k_2^*.$$
(12)

In the steady-state, if $[I] = [I]_{ss} = constant$, then $[C] = [C]_{ss} = constant$, $v_1 = v_2 + v_2^* = constant$, and

$$[P] = v_1(t - \tau). \tag{13}$$

If we assume that $v_1 \ll k_2[E_2]_T$, $k_2^*[E_2]_T$, and $[I]_{ss}$, $[E_2]_T \ll K_M$, K_M^* , we obtain

$$v_2 \approx (k_2/K_{\rm m}) \left([E_2]_T - n[C]_{\rm ss} \right) \left[I \right]_{\rm ss}$$
(14)

$$v_2^* \approx (k_2^*/K_m^*)n[C]_{ss}[I]_{ss}$$
 (15)

 $[C]_{ss} \approx (1/2) \left([E_1]_T + [E_2]_T / n + K \right) \left(1 - \sqrt{\{1 - 4[E_1]_T [E_2]_T / n ([E_1]_T + [E_2]_T / n + K)^2\}} \right)$ (16) and

$$v_1 \tau = [I]_{ss} \tag{16a}$$

$$[E_1]_T/(k_2[E_2]_T/K_m - 1/\tau) + K/(k_2^*[E_2]_T/K_m^* - 1/\tau) \approx (1/n)/(k_2/K_m - k_2^*/K_m^*).$$
(17)

Measuring τ at different $[E_1]_T$ and $[E_2]_T$ one can determine k_2/K_m , k_2^*/K_m^* and K by non-linear regression. If k_2/K_m is known from independent measurements and $[E_1]_T = [E_2]_T/n$ then one may estimate k_2^*/K_m^* and K from a linearized form:

$$1/\tau[E_2]_T = k_2^*/K_m^* \pm \sqrt{[K]nk_2/K_m - nk_2^*/K_m^*]} \sqrt{[(1/[E_2]_T)]k_2/K_m - 1/\tau[E_2]_T]}.$$
 (18)

(c) Analysis of the mechanism of intermediate transfer

A special consequence of complex formation between two enzymes is the channelling of intermediate, i.e. the direct transport of the product of the first enzyme from its active centre to the active centre of the second enzyme (Nichol *et al.*, 1974a). The channelling of the intermediate substrate may result in physiological advantages to an organized state like (i) segregation of competing pathways due to microcompartmentation of intermediates; (ii) reduction of time required to reach the steady-state; and (iii) enhancement in metabolite flux by providing high local metabolite concentration. The kinetic methods for detection and analysis of channelling are based upon measuring the transient time (τ) in the interacting system (Hess and Wurster, 1970). A new description of the channelling effect on the bases of its inherent parameters such as channel efficiency and intermediate lifetime makes it possible to explain reduction of transient time due to the interaction, even if no changes in the kinetic parameters of the individual reaction occur and no physical barrier prevents the diffusion of *I* into the bulk solution (Tompa *et al.*, 1987a).

If the enzymes, E_1 and E_2 , catalyse consecutive conversion of the initial substrate (S) to the final product (P) via formation of intermediate (I) then the lifetime of the intermediate includes the times required for release from E_1 , diffusion time, association to and conversion by E_2 . The sum of these times for all molecules yields a characteristic lifetime of the whole population (Fig. 1). Obviously, the fraction of molecules (α) which will be converted within the E_1E_2 enzyme complex (C) has a shorter lifetime ($\langle t' \rangle$) than the non-channelled one ($\langle t \rangle$), since the average distance between active centres is shorter within a heterologous enzyme complex than between separated enzyme molecules. The channel efficiency (α) can be defined as the probability of an intermediate being converted within the generating complex. If the generation of intermediate proceeds at a constant rate (v) and E_2 is subsaturated by I, then the concentration of I at steady-state (I_{ss}) for partially complexed enzyme systems is the following (Tompa *et al.*, 1987a):

$$[I_{ss}] = v/[E_1]_T \{ \alpha[C] \langle t' \rangle + ([E_1]_{free} + (1-\alpha)[C]) \langle t \rangle \}.$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

Since $[P] = vt - [I_{ss}]$ at steady-state, by extrapolating the linear part of the progress curve of product formation, its intercept on the time axis is the apparent transient time (τ_{app}) which is characteristic for channelling effect in a certain partially complexed enzyme system:

$$\tau_{app} = 1/[E_1]_T \{ \alpha[C] \langle t' \rangle + ([E_1]_{free} + \{1 - \alpha\}[C]) \langle t \rangle \}$$

$$(20)$$

where $\langle t \rangle$ is a concentration dependent parameter $(K_{m,2}/k_{cat,2}[E_2])$, while $\langle t' \rangle$ is a concentration independent one being an inherent property of the enzyme complex. By measuring τ_{app} at various enzyme concentrations ensuring different degree of complexation, the channel efficiency and lifetime of the channelled intermediates can be experimentally determined. In general, α varies between 0 and 1, such that

$$\langle t' \rangle \leq \tau_{app} \leq \langle t \rangle$$

The decrease in transient time in the interacting enzyme system may be due either to the presence of a physical barrier on the out-diffusion of intermediate or to the mere juxtaposition of the sequential active sites (Fig. 1). Any alteration in the interacting system relating either to the diffusional process or to the kinetic parameters, will manifest itself in changes of α , $\langle t \rangle$ and $\langle t \rangle$ (cf. Section IV.1) (Tompa *et al.*, 1987a).

Concerning the analytical implication of the kinetic approach, the mechanism of



FIG. 1. Diffusion-limited and direct transfer of intermediate in the coupled reaction catalysed by E_1 and E_2 .

intermediate transfer (channelling) can be identified by the relationships among macroscopic kinetic parameters (Ovádi, 1986; Orosz and Ovádi, 1987; Ovádi et al., 1989). The relation of the transient time (τ_{app}) for the coupled reaction catalysed by the complexed and uncomplexed enzyme species and the pseudo-first-order rate constants measured in the absence (k_{E2}) and presence (k_{E2}^{E1}) of E_1 are indicative of the mechanism in the interacting enzyme system (cf. Table 1). If the interaction of the two enzymes induces alterations in the ternary and/or quaternary structure of the enzymes without producing channelling of the intermediate the relationship described in Table 1, line 2 is fulfilled. If the intermediate produced endogenously by the E_1E_2 complex is channelled between the two enzymes the transient time is reduced with respect to that measured in a non-interacting system. This relationship may result from either steric hindrance which impedes the diffusion of intermediate into the bulk solution (Table 1, line 4) or simply from the juxtaposition of active sites of the enzymes in complexed form (Table 1, line 3). The latter case, which can be considered as a special one, we denoted as a leaky channel. If the escape of the intermediate from the complex is prevented the mechanism is denoted as a perfect channel (Table 1, line 5) where $\alpha = 1$ and $\langle t' \rangle \ll \langle t \rangle$. In a dynamically interacting enzyme system these kinetic parameters are composite functions of those for the processes catalysed by the complex and by the isolated enzymes.

Type of interaction	Macrosect to the E_1	ppic parameters referring e actions of enzymes E_2	Microscopic parameters	Examples*	(Ref.)
1. Non-interacting	$v_{k1} = r$	$1/\tau_{app} = k_{E2}^{E1} = k_{E2}$	$\chi = 0$	GAPD/TPI	1
2. Interaction inducing conformational changes	$r_{E1} > r$	$1/\tau_{app} = k_{E2}^{E1} > k_{E2}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0 < \alpha < 1 \\ \langle t' \rangle < \langle t \rangle \end{array}$	PFK/FBPase	2
3. Leaky channel	$v_{k1} = r$	$1/\tau_{\rm app} > k_{E2} = k_{E2}^{E1}$	$0 < \alpha < 1$ (t') < <(t)	Ald./GAPD	3
4. Partial channel	$v_{E1} = v$	$1 \tau_{app} > k_{E2} > k_{E2}^{E1}$	$0 < \alpha < 1$ \lapha t'\range < \lapha t\range	Ald./GDH	4
5. Perfect channel	$v_{E1} = v$	$1 : \tau_{app} \rightarrow \infty, k_{E2}^{E1} \rightarrow 0$	$0 < \alpha < 1$ $\langle t' \rangle \approx 0$	AAT/GluDH	5

TABLE 1. RELATIONSHIPS OF THE MICROSCOPIC AND MACROSCOPIC KINETIC PARAMETERS IN ENZYME SYSTEMS

* GAPD=glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; TPI=triosephosphate isomerase; PFK=phosphofructokinase; FBPase=fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase; Ald.=aldolase; GDH=glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; AAT=aspartate aminotransferase; GluDH=glutamate dehydrogenase. 1: Orosz *et al.*, 1986; 2: Ovádi *et al.*, 1986; 3: Ovádi and Keleti, 1978; 4: Vértessy and Ovádi, 1987; 5: Salerno *et al.*, 1982a. Further evidence for microcompartmentation can be obtained by adding isotope intermediate to the reaction mixture during the coupled reaction. The absence of labelling in the end-product is strong evidence for complete channelling. If the end-product is labelled in a percentage which is proportional to the degree of isotope label of the intermediate and that produced in the coupled reaction, no channelling can be assumed (*cf.* Friedrich, 1984). One can add isotope substrate to the first enzyme, "dilute" the system with non-labelled intermediate and measure the specific radioactivity of the end-product (Bryce *et al.*, 1976). The specific radioactivity of the end-product will equal unity, if complete channelling occurs and will be the function of the rate of the first and second step and of the concentration of added intermediate in the absence of or in the presence of partial channelling. The combination of isotope and kinetic methods allows us to choose between conformational change, leaky or perfect channel (Ovádi, 1986; Orosz and Ovádi, 1987) and to prove the leaky channel between aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Orosz and Ovádi, 1987).

The use of kinetic approach based on the comparison of the kinetic parameters, combined with isotope dilution technique enormously enhances the sensitivity of the identification of the mechanism of intermediate transfer.



If the initial substrate of the consecutive reactions is radioactive (S^*) and unlabelled intermediate is added to the reaction mixture then the relative specific radioactivity (r) of the end product (P^*) at a given time (t) can be calculated from the ratio of $[P^*]$ and the total concentration of the final product $([P^*]+[P])$. If the measured relative specific radioactivity (r_{meas}) is compared with the calculated one (r_{calc}) , assuming different models, the mechanism of intermediate transfer can be identified. For the calculations of r values the equations are given in Table 2.

TABLE 2. SPECIFIC RADIOACTIVITY OF THE PRODUCT IN COUPLED REACTION*

For non-interacting system:	$r = \frac{vt - v/k(1 - e^{-kt})}{vt - v/k(1 - e^{-kt}) + [I_0](1 - e^{-kt})}$
For conformational changes induced by interaction:	$r = \frac{vt - v\tau(1 - e^{-t/\tau})}{vt - v\tau(1 - e^{-t/\tau}) + [I_0](1 - e^{-t/\tau})}$
For channelling of intermediate:	$r = \frac{vt - v\tau(1 - e^{-t/\tau})}{vt - v\tau(1 - e^{-t/\tau}) + [I_0](1 - e^{-t/\tau})}$

* $k = k_{E2}$, $\tau = \tau_{app}$ (cf. Table 1) and $k = k[E_2]_{\text{free}}/[E_2]_{\text{total}}$.

Obviously, this approach does not say anything about the extent of the channel, since the kinetic parameters are the weighted sums of the corresponding kinetic parameters for interacting and non-interacting enzyme species. This is because the reaction mixture always contains both complexed and free E_1 and E_2 . Nevertheless, the mechanism of the interaction of functionally related enzymes can be determined without knowing the actual concentration of the heterologous complex.

If the dissociation constant is determined in an independent manner and the channelling mechanism is identified as well, then the extent of the channel can be deduced according to the following scheme and equations:



$$r_{\rm channel} = \frac{vt - (1 - \alpha)v/k'(1 - e^{-k't})}{vt - (1 - \alpha)v/k'(1 - e^{-k't}) + [I_0](1 - e^{-k't})}$$
(21)

where $\alpha = [E_1]_{\text{bound}} / [E_1]_{\text{total}}$, (cf. Table 1).

Therefore, in a partially complexed enzyme system the value of the measured relative specific radioactivity is characteristic for the perfectness of the "channel", since

 $r_{\text{non-interacting}} \leq r_{\text{meas}} \leq r_{\text{channel}}$

(d) Trapping methods

One can use different "trapping" methods to prove the channelling of the intermediates of functionally related enzymes:

- (i) Solvent method, by using a compound which dissolves the intermediate but not the substrate and end-product. The solvent must not inhibit either enzyme of the coupled reaction. If no or only partial channelling occurs the concentration of intermediate decreases by adding the solvent and consequently decreases the activity of the second enzyme, since first order kinetics must be assured for it (Yanofsky and Rachmeler, 1958).
- (ii) Side reaction method, trapping the intermediate by a reaction which renders it unable to react with the second enzyme (Ovádi and Keleti, 1978). Its inverse is to detect the lack of such side reaction in the case of channelling (Keleti, 1978).
- (iii) Enzyme probe method, to decompose specifically the intermediate by an enzyme into product which cannot react with the second enzyme if no or only partial channelling occurs (Friedrich *et al.*, 1977; Solti and Friedrich, 1979).

III. INTERACTION OF CYTOSOLIC ENZYMES

Enzymes of glycolysis, glyconeogenesis and the pentose phosphate pathway are commonly recognized as "soluble enzymes" and many of the individual components of these and other cytosolic pathways have been intensively studied. In cytoplasm the major set of soluble enzymes belongs to glycolysis. In the yeast cell, for example, glycolytic enzymes constitute about 65% of total soluble protein (Hess *et al.*, 1979). This situation favours the protein protein interactions in the cells (Srere, 1967). Since these dynamic macromolecular interactions are frequently loose and transient, their studies are difficult. The use of the approaches discussed in the previous chapter is widely accepted, on the one hand, to detect complex formation at physiological or even lower enzyme concentrations, on the other hand, to gain information on the functional consequences of interactions of metabolically related enzymes.

1. Interactions of Purified Enzymes In Vitro

A simple and sensitive approach used to monitor the binding of a protein to another one is measuring the signal of a covalently attached fluorescent probe. One of the earliest examples for the evaluation of quantitative data for heterologous complex formation is the aldolase–glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase enzyme system. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase was labelled with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) and the anisotropy was measured as a function of aldolase concentration (Ovádi *et al.*, 1978). The

experimental points could be fitted to a model assuming a complex with an apparent dissociation constant of 0.3 μ M and an apparent stoichiometry of 1:2, which probably means that tetrameric aldolase binds dimeric dehydrogenase. However, Masters and Winzor (1981) suggested that the association between aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase was artifactual, mediated by the probe introduced into the enzymes. Indeed, a fluorescein-mediated interaction of bovine serum albumin with a fluorescent derivative of prolactin has been demonstrated (Church *et al.*, 1981), i.e. the fluorescent emission spectra of the fluorescein moiety in the labelled prolactin was red-shifted and increased in intensity in the presence of albumin, However, such a phenomenon was not observed in the aldolase–dehydrogenase system; therefore, the interaction of the two enzymes *via* the fluorescent dye could be excluded. Moreover, complex formation between aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase was demonstrated by several other methods (*cf.* Table 3).

The binding of aldolase to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase was demonstrated also with yeast enzymes and the dissociation constants of the yeast enzymes, mammalian enzymes and their hybrids was compared (Batke and Tompa, 1986; Tompa *et al.*, 1986). Batke and his coworkers found that the hybrid complexes had comparable dissociation constants with that of non-hybrid ones probably due to the possible conservation of the heterologous complex-forming surfaces of these enzymes during evolution (Batke and Tompa, 1986; Tompa *et al.*, 1986).

Complex formation between aldolase and another "branching enzyme", glycerol-3phosphate dehydrogenase had been detected many years ago. These two enzymes form cocrystals (myogen A) during isolation (Baranowski and Niederland, 1949). The first indications of the interaction between these two enzymes were provided by rapid kinetic technique and active band centrifugation (Batke *et al.*, 1980). Results of kinetic (Batke, 1978; Batke *et al.*, 1980) and fluorescence (Ovádi *et al.*, 1983) analyses showed simultaneous dependence of the specific enzymatic activity of glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and the fluorescence anisotropy of the enzyme on enzyme concentration. A model for the theoretical description of complex formation of aldolase with dissociable glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase was developed (Ovádi *et al.*, 1985); moreover, the rate constants of the individual steps of complex formations were determined.

Hess and Boiteux (1972) were the first who made a systematic study of various sets of glycolytic enzymes isolated from yeast by measuring the transient time over a wide range of enzyme concentration, and they failed to detect any sign of interaction with the exception of the alcohol dehydrogenase and pyruvate dehydrogenase coupled system.

In recent years a number of authors have suggested that in certain metabolic sequences catalysed by soluble enzymes, the product of the reaction of one enzyme can be transferred directly to the subsequent enzyme via transient enzyme-enzyme interactions (*cf.* Srivastava and Bernhard, 1986a; Keleti and Ovádi, 1988). However, there are also some reports in which other authors (Grazi and Trombetta, 1980; Kvassman *et al.*, 1988; Chock and Gutfreund, 1988) re-examined the kinetics of the transfer of intermediates and suggested the original interpretations to be incorrect. For illustration of the contradictions first we discuss the aldolase–glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase system. We have demonstrated the complex formation between these two enzymes (Batke *et al.*, 1980; Ovádi *et al.*, 1983) and we analysed the mechanism of the intermediate transfer as well (Vértessy and Ovádi, 1987). However, recently *pro* and *contra* data have been published from various laboratories (Srivastava and Bernhard, 1986a; Chock and Gutfreund, 1988).

The two enzymes catalyse the conversion of fructose-1,6-bisphosphate to glycerol-3phosphate via dihydroxyacetonephosphate formation. For the analysis of the mechanism of interaction a simple kinetic diagnostic test has been applied (*cf.* Section II.2.c). The relationship of kinetic parameters determined under interacting and non-interacting conditions indicated that the binding of exogenous intermediate (dihydroxyacetonephosphate) to the glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase is impeded in the presence of aldolase probably by steric hindrance, whereas the endogenous intermediate produced by aldolase has direct access to the dehydrogenase within the complex. In fact, we have found that the pseudo-first-order rate constant of the conversion of exogenous dihydroxyacetonephosphate measured in the presence of non-functioning aldolase is reduced as compared to that measured in the absence of aldolase due to an apparent increase in K_m value of exogenous intermediate for dehydrogenase (Vértessy and Ovádi, 1987). Very recently, in accordance

Sources of enzymes and type of the complex	Method of detection and K_d (in μM) of the complexes and remarks	References
Rabbit muscle	FITC-label fluorescence anisotropy; K_d :	Ovádi et al., 1978
	Rapid kinetics; activity of aldolase does not change in the presence of GAPD; $K_{m,GAP}$ in the presence of aldolase is decreased	Ovádi and Keleti, 1978
	Complex is modulated by fructose	Neuzil et al., 1989
	Isotope exchange, high performance liquid chromatography; leaky channel is detected	Orosz and Ovádi, 1986, 1987; Orosz et al., 1986
	Kinetic analysis A "suicide" reaction NAD-Sepharose 4B gel-chromatography	Grazi and Trombetta, 1980 Patthy and Vas, 1978 Kálmán and Boross. 1982
	Frontal gel-chromatography: complex was not found	Földi et al., 1973
Yeast aldolase/GAPD	FITC-label fluorescence anisotropy; $K_{\rm d} \sim 0.3$	Batke and Tompa, 1986
	Hybrid complexes of yeast and muscle enzymes with the same K_{d} is also observed	Tompa <i>et al.</i> , 1986
Rabbit muscle aldolase/GDH	Cocrystallization (myogen A)	Baranowski and Niederland, 1949
	Rapid reaction technique and active band ultracentrifugation	Batke, 1978; Batke et al., 1980
	FITC-label fluorescence anisotropy K_d (ald-monomeric GDH): 1	Ovádi et al., 1983 Ovádi et al., 1985
	Channelling of DHAP in the complex Complex is mediated by fructose phosphates	Vértessy and Ovádi, 1987 Vértessy and Ovádi, 1989
Rabbit muscle aldolase/TPI	FITC-label fluorescence anisotropy and gel equilibrium; K_d : 2	Salerno and Ovádi, 1982
	GAPD and TPI compete for aldolase	Orosz <i>et al.</i> , 1986 Orosz and Ovádí, 1986
Insect flight muscle aldolase/TPI		Gavilanes et al., 1981
Rabbit liver aldolase/FBP-ase	Indication in liver	Pontremoli et al., 1980
,	With purified enzymes FBP-ase gives a blue shift of aldolase fluorescence: Complex is specific for liver enzymes and not for muscle's	Horecker <i>et al.</i> , 1981
	Complex was not found by equilibrium and velocity sedimentation, light scattering and gel filtration, however by gel-penetration a complex with 1:1 stoichiometry was observed	Horecker <i>et al.</i> , 1982 Horecker <i>et al.</i> , 1981
Yeast or mammalian muscle aldolase/PFK	FITC-label fluorescence anisotropy	Tompa et al., 1986
	Calmodulin is a modulator of the complex	Orosz et al., 1987, 1988a, b
Rabbit brain aldolase/S100 protein	Aldolase activity is increased in the complex	Zimmer and Van Eldik, 1986
Rabbit muscle PFK/FBP-ase	Mutual kinetic influence	Ovadi et al., 1986
·	The complex is modulated by hormones and produces self-oscillation	Goldstein and Ivanova, 1987

TABLE 3. EXAMPLES OF THE IN VITRO OBSERVED COMPLEXES OF CYTOPLASMIC ENZYMES

Analysis of enzyme complexes

Bovine brain, rabbit muscle, yeast enolase/	FITC-label fluorescence anisotropy; kinetic analysis	Batke et al., 1988
phosphoglycerate mutase	 K_d (for brain): 20-40 K_d (for muscle): 0.5-2 K_d (for hybrids of muscle/brain or yeast/brain): 0.5-2 	Nazaryan and Batke, 1989
GAPD/ADH and GDH/LDH	Kinetic analysis: direct transfer of NAD/HADH is assumed in the complex FITC-label fluorescence anisotropy: K_d (GDH/LDH)~1	<i>cf.</i> Srivastava and Bernhard, 1986a; Friedrich and Hajdu, 1987 Batke, 1989
lsocitrateDH/GluDH	Transfer of NAD/NADH was not found	Ehrlich, 1987
Yeast ADH/pyruvateDH	Transient time analysis	Hess and Boiteux, 1972

TABLE 3---continued

* Abbreviations: ADH: alcohol dehydrogenase; DH: dehydrogenase; DHAP: dihydroxyacetonephosphate; FBPase: fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase; FITC: fluoroisothiocyanate; GAP: glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate; GAPD: glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; GDH: glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; GluDH: glutamate dehydrogenase; LDH: lactate dehydrogenase; PFK: phosphofructokinase; TPI: triosephosphate isomerase.

with our results, Chock and Gutfreund (1988) reported that the aldolase is an inhibitor for the dehydrogenase-catalysed reaction since the apparent K_m of dihydroxyacetonephosphate for the dehydrogenase is increased in the presence of aldolase. However, they interpreted these results in a different way. The increase of K_m was attributed to the binding of substrate to aldolase which reduced the free concentration of the triosephosphate. Unfortunately, these authors did not indicate what concentrations of aldolase and substrate were applied in their experiments. However, in our experiments the concentration of aldolase was 15 μ M or lower, and the concentration of dihydroxyacetonephosphate was several orders of magnitude higher; therefore, the segregation of the substrate by non-functioning aldolase can be excluded. Moreover, to increase the K_m of the substrate (which is in the mM range for the dehydrogenase) by binding to aldolase, at least mM aldolase concentration would be needed, which is hardly realizable in practice. The idea of an active-site-directed interaction between aldolase and glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase is consonant with the suggestion of Srivastava and Bernhard (1986a) who observed direct transfer of the intermediate substrate from aldolase to the dehydrogenase using different kinetic approaches.

Another system which has been the subject of detailed investigations in several laboratories is the aldolase/glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase system (Ovádi and Keleti, 1978; Ovádi et al., 1978; Patthy and Vas, 1978; Grazi and Trombetta, 1980; Orosz and Ovádi, 1987; Kvassman et al., 1988). We have found that the exogenous intermediate, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate has the same probability to be bound to the free dehydrogenase as to the complexed one (cf. Table 1, line 3). However, the endogenous aldehyde form of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate liberated at the active site of aldolase is transferred directly, at least partially, within the heterologous enzyme complex due to the proximity effect. Thus the hydration in the bulk medium of the aldehyde form generated by aldolase before reaching the active site of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase is prevented. Data of Kvassman et al. (1988) reported recently were consistent with ours published 10 years earlier. However, the results of their theoretical analysis have been interpreted to be compatible with a freediffusion mechanism for transfer of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate. In fact, the rate of the enzymatic conversion of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate in their experiments was much higher than the hydration rate of its aldehyde form since they applied a high excess of the dehydrogenase. Under our experimental conditions the rate of the enzymatic reaction catalysed by the dehydrogenase was slower than that of the aldehyde-diol interconversion. Therefore, the unfavourable aldehyde-diol conversion of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate, at least partly, would have occurred if the substrate were to mix with the bulk medium. This latter situation is the theoretical sine qua non condition for the detection of channelling complex formation in this system and this condition was not fulfilled in the experiments of Kvassman et al. (1988).

Channelling of the intermediate of the coupled reaction catalysed by aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in the presence of triosephosphate isomerase was also investigated using isotope dilution technique (Orosz and Ovádi. 1987). In the presence of triosephosphate isomerase the hydration of the aldehyde form of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate becomes negligible, since the triosephosphate exists predominantly in dihydroxyacetonephosphate form. Moreover, the excess of triosephosphate isomerase ensures a constant concentration of aldehyde form in the steady-state of the coupled reactions. In the experiment ¹⁴C-fructose-1,6-bisphosphate was used as initial substrate and unlabelled exogenous glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate was added to the system. We could show that the isotope glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate generated endogenously is more accessible for the dehydrogenase than the exogenous substrate. Therefore, the channelling of the aldehyde form of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate has clearly been demonstrated. Moreover, the precise mechanism of intermediate transfer could be identified as "leaky channel", which refers to a situation when the exogenous intermediate binds to the complexed dehydrogenase with the same probability as to the free one. This finding indicates that the active site of dehydrogenase in its complexed form may not be blocked by aldolase. Grazi and Trombetta (1980) reported no evidence for the direct transfer of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate between aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase on the basis of the following observation: the addition of triosephosphate isomerase decreased the rate of formation of the 3-phosphoglyceroyl enzyme intermediate similarly in both reaction systems where the two enzymes were freshly mixed or allowed to form complex. Disregarding the possibility that the heterologous complex formation during the catalysis might be very rapid, the finding of Grazi and Trombetta (1980) fits the "leaky channel" mechanism.

The reports are contradictory also for interaction between phosphoglycerokinase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase both in respect to finding any complex formation and concerning the details of interaction (Friedrich, 1985). While gelchromatographic and fluorimetric measurements as well as the transient time analysis with muscle enzymes by Vas and Batke (1981) proved no complex formation between these enzymes, experiments with immobilized enzymes (Ashmarina *et al.*, 1984) or kinetic approaches with halibut enzymes (Weber and Bernhard, 1982) or enzymes from pea chloroplasts (Macioszek and Anderson, 1987) led to an apparently contradictory result. Our intention is not to discuss in detail the *pro* and *contra* data (we refer to the discussion of possible sources of discrepancies by Friedrich, 1985), but rather a special attention is paid to the kinetic analysis measured at different molar ratio of phosphoglycerokinase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in different laboratories.

It is assumed that 1,3-diphosphoglycerate dissociates apparently very slowly (Huskins et al., 1982) from 1.3-diphosphoglyceroyl-phosphoglycerokinase if the reaction is not coupled with glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase (Weber and Bernhard, 1982; Sukhodolets et al., 1987). Weber and Bernhard (1982) suggested that the binding of dehydrogenase to the acylenzyme facilitated the liberation of 1,3-diphosphoglycerate from kinase by a direct transfer mechanism. It has been pointed out (Friedrich, 1985: Sukhodolets et al., 1987) that formally such a "one-encounter type of metabolite transfer" cannot be distinguished from the random mechanism involving free I by transient time measurement. Moreover, in the transient time measurements of Vas and Batke (1981) the concentration of glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase was 20 times higher than that of phosphoglycerokinase. Therefore, a small fraction of the dehydrogenase could be complexed by the kinase. Accordingly, practically no change in the transient time can be expected even at high glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase concentrations. However, it remains to be scrutinized, why the interaction between phosphoglycerokinase and glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase is not reflected in the measurements of steady-state velocity of coupled reactions vs phosphoglycerokinase concentration in the experiments of Vas and Batke (1981). If the dissociation of 1,3-diphosphoglycerate is facilitated by the binding of dehydrogenase as suggested by Weber and Bernhard (1982) then it is not unlikely that at relatively high glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase concentrations non-linear dependence of the steady-state velocity (i.e. of phosphoglycerokinase activity) on the phosphoglycerokinase concentration should have been observed. Obviously, the kinetic effect of complex formation on the activity of phosphoglycerokinase depends on: (i) how much the dissociation of 1,3-diphosphoglyceroyl-phosphoglycerokinase is facilitated by the glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase. The quantitative data are not unequivocal; and (ii) the relative concentration of the phosphoglycerokinase complexed with glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase may depend on the oligomeric form of the dehydrogenase which in the experiments of Vas and Batke (1981) is predominantly in tetrameric form. The available data are insufficient to prove or disprove the reasons of the contradictory data.

The direct transfer also of NAD/NADH between alcohol dehydrogenase or lactate dehydrogenase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase or glycerophosphate dehydrogenase was demonstrated (Srivastava and Bernhard, 1984, 1985, 1986a,b, 1987a,b; Srivastava *et al.*, 1985; Bernhard and Srivastava, 1987), as well as the competition of glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase and lactate dehydrogenase for NADH produced by glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Friedrich and Hajdu, 1987). However, this type of direct coenzyme transfer seems to be absent in the system of NADP-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase and glutamate dehydrogenase (Ehrlich, 1987) and even the original findings were recently questioned (Chock and Gutfreund, 1988). However, due to several recent reviews mentioned before we will not discuss in detail these data.

The modulation of dynamic channelling complexes of enzymes has been investigated only in a few cases. Kinetics of aldolase-catalysed conversion of fructosephosphates was analysed by coupling the aldolase reaction to the metabolically sequential enzymes, glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase (Neuzil et al., 1989) or glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase (Vértessy and Ovádi, 1989). At low enzyme concentrations polyethylene glycol was added to promote complex formation of aldolase and glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase or glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase resulting in a significant increase in $K_{\rm m}$ of fructose-1,6bisphosphate and no change in k_{cat} . Gel-chromatography and fluorescence measurements showed positive modulation of the interaction of aldolase with either of the dehydrogenases by fructose-1,6-bisphosphate. While the presence of fructose-1,6-bisphosphate increased the affinity of aldolase for the dehydrogenases, the presence of neither fructose-1-phosphate nor dihydroxyacetonephosphate affected the dissociation constant of the heterologous enzyme complexes. We have concluded that the site for the binding of the C-6 phosphate group of the substrate on aldolase is likely to be involved directly or indirectly in the interactions. Since there are several similarities in the interaction of aldolase with glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase and glyceraldehydephosphate dehydrogenase, we suggested that their binding involves similar mechanisms and their binding sites on aldolase might overlap. Therefore, we suggested that fructosebisphosphate modulates the formation of channelling complex between aldolase and dehydrogenases. Obviously, the effect of metabolite levels and the alternative enzyme assemblies may mutually act upon each other. Therefore, any effect which influences the specificity of enzyme interactions may consequently result in an alteration of substrate level of the flux of metabolic pathways (Ovádi, 1988).

Another type of experiment led to the detection of complex formation between aldolase and fructosebisphosphatase which in liver catalyse successive reactions of gluconeogenesis. However, one should mention that in this case also we may find controversial data in the literature.

An early indication of an interaction between aldolase and fructosebisphosphatase came from the observation that rabbit liver aldolase tends to copurify with fructosebisphosphatase when the latter enzyme is isolated from liver of fed but not fasted rabbit (Pontremoli *et al.*, 1980). Other evidence for complex formation between aldolase and the phosphatase was provided also with purified enzymes by Horecker *et al.* (1981). They observed that the presence of fructosebisphosphatase which does not contain tryptophan caused a blue shift in the fluorescence emission spectrum of aldolase, indicating conformational changes in the aldolase molecule due to the binding of the phosphatase. Further, it was found that the amount of Zn^{2+} bound to the high affinity site of fructosebisphosphatase was significantly reduced by aldolase. Changes in the conformation of fructosebisphosphatase could also be monitored by measuring its susceptibility to limited proteolysis by subtilisin in the presence of a small molar excess of liver aldolase (Pontremoli *et al.*, 1982). It is noteworthy that each of the effects described was specific for the mixture of enzymes isolated from liver, but no similar phenomena were found with muscle enzymes.

Attempts to demonstrate the formation of a higher molecular mass complex containing liver fructosebisphosphatase and aldolase by equilibrium or velocity sedimentation, light scattering or gel-filtration have failed. However, equilibrium penetration experiments showed that the addition of liver aldolase to a solution containing liver fructosebisphosphatase reduced the ability of the latter to enter into the interior phase of the gel. The molecular mass of the complex between the two enzymes was estimated to be approximately 300,000 Da which corresponded to a 1:1 molar complex (Horecker *et al.*, 1981). Any gross change in the catalytic properties of either enzyme induced by the other protein could not be detected. However, aldolase has been shown to undergo inactivation in liver of fasted rabbits without significant change in molecular mass or loss of its ability to bind antialdolase antibody (Pontremoli *et al.*, 1979a, 1980).

Pontremoli *et al.* (1982) reported, for both aldolase and fructosebisphosphatase, that inactivation by cathepsin M was accompanied by the loss of a segment from the C-terminus. Complex formation between the two enzymes (Botelho *et al.*, 1977; Pontremoli *et al.*, 1979b) is affected by this modification of aldolase but not by similar modification of the C-terminus of the phosphatase.

2. In Search of a Multienzyme Aggregate

Studies carried out over several years have yielded some evidence for the existence of a multienzyme complex in *E. coli* containing all enzymes of glycolysis (Macnab *et al.*, 1973; Mowbray and Moses, 1976; Moses, 1978; Gorringe and Moses, 1980). However, no other laboratories confirmed these results.

Data showing the compartmentalization of glycolysis in yeast cells (Rothstein *et al.*, 1959; Green *et al.*, 1965), in Zygorrhyncus moelleri (Moses *et al.*, 1959), in the endospermium of castor oil semen (Dennis and Green, 1975), in Trypanosoma brucei (Opperdoes and Borst, 1977; Visser *et al.*, 1981), in Crithida fasciculata and Trypanosoma cruzi (Taylor *et al.*, 1980; Aman *et al.*, 1985) has been reported. The unique compartmentation of the glycolytic pathway inside an intracellular organelle is the glycosome (Opperdoes *et al.*, 1984; Misset *et al.*, 1986; Opperdoes, 1987, 1988).

The enzymes within the glycosome influence the ATP synthesis (Hammond *et al.*, 1985) and have a half-life about one order of magnitude higher than in the cytosol (Hart *et al.*, 1987). The glycosomic enzymes—at variance with the cytosolic ones—have a marked excess of positive charges, distributed in two or more clusters about 40 Å apart, which may serve as topogenic signals for import into the glycosomes (Wiesenga *et al.*, 1987).

The possible existence of a multienzyme complex of glycolytic enzymes has been investigated also in the cytosol of muscle cells (Melnick and Hultin, 1973b). Kwon and Olcott (1965) reported the enhancement of aldolase activity of myogen by glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase observed under conditions in which the dehydrogenase was enzymatically inactive.

A specific sedimentation technique to test association of glycolytic enzymes has failed to detect any significant amount of multienzyme aggregates (De Duve, 1970; Anderson and Green 1967). Clarke and Masters (1973a) reinvestigated this problem. They provided evidence in support of the occurrence of a multienzyme aggregate of glycolytic components under physiological conditions of pH and ionic strength by sedimenting a cytosol fraction (myogen) of rat muscle. It has been pointed out that the complex is very sensitive to factors such as pH, ionic strength and the concentrations of proteins and metabolites.

The compartmentalization of glycolytic enzymes (the upper and lower part of glycolysis in two separate compartments) is demonstrated in ascites tumour cells (Coe and Greenhouse, 1973), and experiments with permeabilized mouse L-929 cells indicate that none of the glycolytic enzymes can exist completely in solution, suggesting enzyme organization (Clegg and Jackson, 1988).

Several attempts are known to search enzyme-enzyme interactions within the glycolytic

pathway in erythrocytes. Many enzymes of erythrocytes have been purified and studied enzymologically. A number of hypotheses on the glycolytic control mechanism and ATP stabilization and some mathematical models of this metabolic system have appeared in the literature (Segel *et al.*, 1975; Atkinson, 1968; Rapoport *et al.*, 1974, 1976, 1977). The results suggested that any supramolecular organization of red cell glycolysis was unnecessary to describe the behaviour of the system. Nevertheless, a number of studies have proposed that many of the classical "cytoplasmic" proteins of the cell exist in ordered structures which may include interactions with membranous elements of the cell.

Early observations suggesting some interaction between cell membrane and soluble enzymes came from the study of incorporation of inorganic phosphate into glycolytic intermediates in erythrocytes. Since ATP was labelled faster by 32 P_i than was intracellular P_i, some authors suggested that glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase is located at or in the membrane both in erythrocytes (Gourley, 1952; Prankerd and Altman, 1954; Gerlach *et al.*, 1958; Latzkovits *et al.*, 1972), and in HeLa cells (Niehaus and Hammerstedt, 1976). The binding of soluble enzymes by the erythrocyte membrane was further suggested by the localization of some glycolytic enzymatic activity on the membrane fraction after hypotonic haemolysis (Green *et al.*, 1965; Schrier, 1966, 1967; Mitchell *et al.*, 1965; Arese *et al.*, 1974). The experimental data are summarized in Table 4.

·····		·····
Enzyme bound to the membrane through band-3 protein	Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase*	Kant and Steck, 1973; McDaniel and Kirtley, 1975; McDaniel et al., 1974; Solti and Friedrich, 1976; Shin and Carraway, 1973; Girotti, 1976; Letko and Bohnensack, 1975; Allen et al., 1987
	Aldolase	Green et al., 1965; Solti and Friedrich, 1976; Strapazon and Steck, 1976, 1977; Yeltman and Harris, 1980; Wilson et al., 1982
	Phosphofructokinase	Karadsheh and Uyeta, 1977; Higashi et al., 1979
	3-Phosphoglycerate kinase	Green et al., 1965; Schrier, 1966; Tillmann et al., 1975; Braun and Kirtley, 1977
Enzymes located near the cell membrane detected by the molecular sieving property	Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase, Lactate dehydrogenase, Phosphoglycerate kinese	Cseke and Szabolcsi, 1983; Cseke et al., 1978: Szabolcsi and Cseke, 1981
Saponine-induced release from intact cell	Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase	Kliman and Steck, 1980
Autoradiographic localization of ³ H-iodoacetate labelled enzyme	Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase	Solti <i>et al.</i> , 1981
Crosslinking in intact erythrocyte	Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase	Yeltman and Harris, 1980; Keokitichai and Wrigglesworth, 1980
NMR	Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase	Wilson et al., 1982

TABLE 4. ENZYME-MEMBRANE INTERACTIONS IN ERYTHROCYTES

* The glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase-binding site of bovine band-3-protein is at a distance of molecular mass ≈ 5000 Da from its N-terminal end (Moriyama and Makino, 1987). However, the physiological binding of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase to the erythrocyte membrane was questioned on the basis that it was observable only at low ionic strength (Maretzki *et al.*, 1974; Fujii and Sato, 1975; Maretzki *et al.*, 1989).

Experimental data strongly suggest that there is a supramolecular structural organization at least of the upper part of glycolysis under the erythrocyte membrane (Salhany and Gaines, 1981; Friedrich, 1984). Such localization is further suggested by the compartmentation of glycolytic intermediates in the erythrocytes, as tested by the experiments with an enzymeprobe (Friedrich *et al.*, 1977; Solti and Friedrich, 1979). The structural network of erythrocytes including the band-3-protein and spectrin-actin reticulum is probably responsible for the formation of enzyme-enzyme complexes of the glycolytic pathway near the membrane, which on the other hand causes the compartmentation of intermediates (Friedrich, 1974; Murthy *et al.*, 1981; Haest, 1982).

3. Interactions of Enzymes with Structural Elements

(a) Interaction of soluble cytosolic enzymes with membranes

Mitochondrial membranes can also bind enzymes. Mitochondrial membrane in brain was the first shown to bind hexokinase (Crane and Sols, 1953; Knull *et al.*, 1970; Wilson, 1978), but the same phenomenon was demonstrated in liver (Rose and Warms, 1967; Felgner *et al.*, 1979), heart (Font *et al.*, 1975), small intestine (Mayer and Hübscher, 1971) and ascites tumour cells (Rose and Warms, 1967). The binding of hexokinase to the mitochondrion activates the enzyme and effects metabolite channelling (Gots *et al.*, 1972; Wilson, 1972; Gots and Bessman, 1974; Viitanen and Geiger, 1979). Brain hexokinase binds to porin (a binding protein of the mitochondrial outer membranes which concomitantly forms the contact points between the outer and inner membranes, *cf.* Jancsik *et al.*, 1988) and the hexokinase-porin complex is located in a cholesterol-free membrane domain (Dorbani *et al.*, 1987).

It is also theoretically conceivable that the kinetic and regulatory properties of membraneadsorbed (soluble) enzymes are different from those of the free (soluble) forms (Kurganov and Loboda, 1979; Kurganov *et al.*, 1978). Experimentally the cytosolic glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase was found to bind reversibly to synthetic and mitochondrial membranes (Jancsik and Horváth, 1984) and to be regulated by the adsorption-desorption phenomenon (Jancsik and Keleti, 1986). Similarly, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase may be bound to liposomes, the result of which is the change of the conformation of the enzyme (Michalak *et al.*, 1987). Lactate dehydrogenase also associates with cellular structures and the different isoenzymes have different adsorption properties (Güttler and Clausen, 1967; De Domenech *et al.*, 1970; Ehman and Hultin, 1973).

Binding of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and phosphoglycerokinase to sarcolemmal and sarcoplasmic reticular membranes has been demonstrated. The binding was found to be reversible, charge-dependent and inhibitory (Pierce and Philipson, 1985).

Glycolytic and other cytoplasmic enzymes associate also with the membranes of the particulate fraction of lysed nerve endings. Hexokinase and fumarase are associated with mitochondrial membrane. Aldolase, glucosephosphate isomerase, phosphofructokinase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, pyruvate kinase and lactate dehydrogenase show enrichment in fractions containing synaptosomal membranes (Knull, 1978). Glucose-phosphate isomerase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, aldolase, pyruvate kinase and lactate dehydrogenase became fixed when intact synaptosomes were incubated with glutaraldehyde. The immobilized enzymes are located near the synaptosomal membrane, perhaps in association with actin found at this site (Knull, 1980). Indeed, subcellular distribution of aldolase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and pyruvate kinase in brain parallels that of brain actin (Tamir *et al.*, 1972; Clarke and Masters, 1973b; Blitz and Fine, 1974; Clarke and Morton, 1982), and they are bound, as is phosphofructokinase, to the particulate fractions (Clarke and Masters, 1972).

About 40% of hexokinase, 10% of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, 8% of pyruvate kinase and 1% of 3-phosphoglycerate kinase is associated with the cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane of glioma cells (Daum *et al.*, 1988).

(b) Interactions with skeletal elements and cell particles

The first findings showing the interaction of cytosolic enzymes with muscle proteins was published in the late 1960s and early 1970s (Karpatkin, 1967; Arnold and Pette, 1968, 1970; Melnick and Hultin, 1973a; Clarke and Masters, 1976). The apparent molecular mass of

some glycolytic enzymes is increased due to their binding to the proteins of contractile apparatus (Clarke and Masters, 1973a, 1974a; Földi et al., 1973). The adsorption seems to be reversible and depends upon pH and ionic strength (Arnold et al., 1971), as well as on the nature of the soluble enzyme (Arnold et al., 1969), the structure of the individual isoenzymes (Masters and Holmes, 1975; Masters et al., 1987) or on the concentration of specific metabolites (Clarke and Masters, 1975). Correlation exists between the phylogenetic stability of actin and that of several glycolytic enzymes in muscle and other tissues (Pollard and Weihing, 1974; Anderson et al., 1969; Perham, 1969; Cohen et al., 1973). On the other hand, in the presence of Mg^{2+} , the formation of actin filaments is hindered by glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and this effect is counteracted by KCl required for their correct formation (Lanzara and Grazi, 1987). Phosphofructokinase and filamentous actin form a specific association as demonstrated by electron microscopy and this reversible association may play a role in regulating the enzymatic activity and consequently the glycolysis during metabolic acidosis (Roberts and Somero, 1987). Not only actin but also troponin and tropomyosin must be considered as potential binding sites for glycolytic enzymes (Walsh et al., 1977), and the binding depends on ionic strength (Clarke and Masters, 1975; Walsh et al., 1980).

Moreover, it was found that the phosphorylation may play a role in the regulation of phosphofructokinase since the phosphorylated form of the enzyme has a higher apparent affinity for F-actin than does the non-phosphorylated form (Luther and Lee, 1986). F-actin acts as a positive effector of the phosphorylated form and the effect of F-actin is specific. These results seem to be consistent with *in vitro* observation which shows that upon stimulation of muscle contraction, the enzyme is phosphorylated to a greater extent and the binding to muscle matrix is increased.

Interactions of soluble enzymes with skeletal elements can lead to the formation of compartments for glycolytic enzymes and intermediates (Ottaway, 1979; Kurganov *et al.*, 1985; Ureta, 1985), which was found in rat diaphragm (Shaw and Stadie, 1957, 1959; Landau and Sims, 1967; Kalant and Breitner, 1971), rat skeletal muscle (Dully *et al.*, 1969), rat liver (Threlfall and Heath, 1968) and mouse ascites cells (Moses and Lonberg-Holm, 1966).

The thin filament F-actin-tropomyosin-troponin binds strongly glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase, aldolase, phosphofructokinase, lactate dehydrogenase, pyruvate kinase, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase but weakly triosephosphate isomerase, phosphoglycerate kinase, phosphoglycerate mutase, enolase and hexokinase (Clarke and Masters, 1975). It is interesting to note that troponin-T and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase share a common antigenic determinant (Sanders *et al.*, 1987). Association between thin filaments of muscle and aldolase was demonstrated by electron microscopy (Morton *et al.*, 1977), ultracentrifugal analysis (Clarke *et al.*, 1974) and affinity chromatography (Bronstein and Knull, 1981). The experimental results obtained with Factin-tropomyosin are best described by a model in which there is one aldolase binding site per heptameric repeat unit on the filament (Masters *et al.*, 1981).

The binding of aldolase to actin increases the susceptibility of aldolase to proteolytic attack by trypsin or chymotrypsin (Dedman *et al.*, 1975). The binding of aldolase (or aldolase + glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) to the thin filaments of glycerinated rabbit psoas muscle produces a significant change in their small angle X-ray diffraction pattern (Stewart *et al.*, 1979). Aldolase crosslinks the filaments of F-actin or F-actin-tropomyosin and F-actin-tropomyosin-troponin as shown by electron micrographs of their paracrystals (Stewart *et al.*, 1980). The extent of aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase bound to actin filament is increased by electrical stimulation of anaerobic muscle (Clarke *et al.*, 1980). Under physiological conditions aldolase should be regarded as an equilibrium mixture of free and myofibril-bound forms, the relative proportions of which are a function of the metabolic state of the cell (Kuter *et al.*, 1983; Harris and Winzor, 1985, 1987).

Recently, Walsh and Knull (1988) reported that PEG enhanced several glycolytic enzyme–F-actin, enzyme–myogen and purified enzyme–enzyme interactions. These interactions, in which one protein may associate with any of several other proteins, including the

enzyme-enzyme-F-actin interaction and depicted by Clarke as "piggy-backing" (Clarke *et al.*, 1983) are consistent with the microtrabecular lattice structure.

One of the potentially most significant factors affecting metabolic regulation in the cellular microenvironment may be the interaction between enzymes and cellular structures (Masters, 1977, 1978; Kuter *et al.*, 1981). For example, binding of aldolase to F-actin-tropomyosin-troponin filaments produces major alterations in the kinetic parameters and renders them Ca^{2+} -sensitive (Arnold and Pette, 1970; Walsh *et al.*, 1977). Similarly, the kinetic parameters of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, phosphofructokinase and lactate dehydrogenase are altered by adsorption to muscle proteins (Dagher and Hultin, 1975; Pette, 1978; Liou and Anderson, 1980; Eronina *et al.*, 1975; Sugrobova *et al.*, 1983).

Recently, the existence of a glycolytic minicomplex in the muscle and the facilitated binding of triosephosphate isomerase to myofibrils when both aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase were bound to the filament was demonstrated (Stephan *et al.*, 1986). Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and phosphofructokinase have distinct active sites for actin, as revealed by proteolysis (Humphreys *et al.*, 1986). Interaction of actin and xanthine oxidase was also demonstrated (Lanzara *et al.*, 1988).

Aldolase can be bound also to the microsomes in the muscle and this interaction results in an increase of the Michaelis constant for fructose-1,6-bisphosphate (Weiss *et al.*, 1981). Similarly, lactate and malate dehydrogenase is bound to the microsomal fraction in chicken liver (Sagristá and Bozal, 1987) and rat brain (Franco *et al.*, 1988). The glycolytic enzymes are bound to particulate fraction also in carrot and sugar beet (Moorhead and Plaxton, 1988). Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase associates with mono- and polyribosomes and is one of the three major RNA-binding proteins of reticulocytes (Ryazanov, 1985; Ryazanov *et al.*, 1987, 1988).

The enzyme binds to microtubules and this binding modulates the enzymatic activity and quaternary structure (Durrien *et al.*, 1987a,b). Muscle aldolase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, pyruvate kinase and muscle-type lactate dehydrogenase have been found to be bound as well to the cytoskeletal tubulin as to actin (Karkhoff-Schweizer and Knull, 1987) suggesting that the model of the microtrabecular network involving the association of soluble enzymes with actin filaments may need to be slightly modified.

Very recently a model has been developed which proposes that the glycolytic sequence is best described as consisting of a number of segments *in vivo*, each segment formed by a cluster of isozymes (*cf.* Ureta, 1978), many of which can interact with the actin filaments. Such segmentation and compartmentation are suggested to play a role in meeting the different types of energy requirement in the cytoplasm of divergent cell types (Masters *et al.*, 1987). This model based on the adsorption of enzymes on subcellular structures has been extended by the "direct transfer" hypothesis of Bernhard (Ryazanov, 1988). The basic idea is that the binding of metabolites results in desorption of the enzymes from subcellular structures during each catalytic act which makes the enzymes mobile and capable of directly transferring metabolites to the other enzymes.

IV. INTERACTIONS OF MITOCHONDRIAL ENZYMES

1. Citric Acid Cycle and Some Closely Related Enzymes

Before the 1970s it was generally believed that the enzymes of the citric acid cycle were dispersed randomly in the mitochondrial matrix (for reviews, *cf.* Srere, 1972; Srere and Mosbach, 1974), but later it was suggested that proteins in it interact as multienzyme complexes (Srere and Henslee, 1980; Srere, 1980; Glund and Walther, 1982; Förster, 1988). This idea has been based on the following observations:

(i) The experimentally observed rate of the Krebs cycle is much higher than the calculated rate of the citrate synthase reaction. In other words, the apparent mitochondrial concentration of free oxaloacetate is low $(4 \times 10^{-8} \text{ M})$ and since the $K_{\rm m}$ for oxaloacetate of rat liver citrate synthase is about 4×10^{-6} M, citrate synthase would express only about 1% of its maximal activity, which is too low to account for the observed rate of respiration of liver mitochondria (Halper and Srere, 1977). To

reconcile this apparent discrepancy the existence of a complex of citrate synthase and malate dehydrogenase was proposed by Srere (1972). In such a complex the channelling of oxaloacetate may result in the observed high rate of the Krebs cycle.

- (ii) Oxaloacetate is a key metabolite also of other metabolic pathways in mitochondria, it regulates the activity of succinate dehydrogenase and the aspartate-malate shuttle; further, it is a starting point for gluconeogenesis. Thus channelling of oxaloacetate is likely (Marco *et al.*, 1974) since the organization of the citric acid cycle enzymes would create a special microenvironment and in this way maintain a high flux through the cycle (Halper and Srere, 1977; Beeckmans and Kanarek, 1981).
- (iii) Srere (1980) concluded that the concentration of enzymes in rat liver mitochondrial matrix is over 50% by weight and a direct consequence of this is that these enzymes probably exist and behave as a multienzyme complex rather than as enzymes in solution. Recent experiments with gently disrupted rat liver mitochondria suggest that the tricarboxylic acid cycle exists as a sequential complex of enzymes, a metabolon, *in situ* (Srere, 1985; Robinson *et al.*, 1987; Lyubarev and Kurganov, 1987). Moreove, linear relationships were found between mitochondrial forces and cytoplasmic flows. These findings are suggestive of extensive enzyme organization within these metabolic pathways (Berry *et al.*, 1987).

Several publications appeared in the last 10 years indicating the existence of physical interactions between the enzymes of the citric acid cycle and other metabolically related enzymes (cf. Table 5 and references therein). Five enzymes (i.e. aspartate aminotransferase, malate dehydrogenase, citrate synthase, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and glutamate dehydrogenase) may have exceptional importance in this respect.

- (i) Interaction of aspartate aminotransferase and malate dehydrogenase: Backman and Johansson (1976) assumed that complexes between aspartate aminotransferase and malate dehydrogenase on both sides of the membrane might be involved in the regulation of NAD⁺/NADH ratio (cf. also the review of Dawson (1979)). The original finding on the channelling of oxaloacetate between aspartate aminotransferase and malate dehydrogenase (Bryce et al., 1976) was questioned (Manley et al., 1980). More recently a large citric acid cycle–(malate dehydrogenase–aspartate aminotransferase shuttle) multienzyme complex has been indicated by Beeckmans and Kanarek (1981). This complex was assumed to have physiological implications on the regulation of metabolic fluxes by channelling oxaloacetate towards the citric acid cycle or towards the aspartate–malate shuttle.
- (ii) Interaction of malate dehydrogenase and citrate synthase: Malate dehydrogenase catalyses the only reaction of the citric acid cycle with a rather unfavourable equilibrium, [L-malate]/[oxalate] = 10^4 (Newsholme and Start, 1973). This equilibrium forces the cell to remove oxaloacetate rapidly in order to ensure the running of the cycle. On the other hand, citrate synthase, the enzyme next to malate dehydrogenase, is considered to be the main control point of the cycle (Newsholme and Start, 1973; Srere, 1974). Therefore Beeckmans and Kanarek (1981) reckoned "that besides extensive control by different substances on this enzyme itself, the fact of switching on and off a physiological interaction between malate dehydrogenase and citrate synthase would be an extra way of regulating the cycle activity especially with the equilibrium of the former reaction lying far to the left."

The apparent dissociation constant of the complex of mitochondrial citrate synthase and mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase is 10^{-6} M while that of the complex of mitochondrial citrate synthase and the cytoplasmic malate dehydrogenase is 1.5×10^{-5} M (Tompa *et al.*, 1987b).

(iii) Interaction of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex with other enzymes: Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex is also considered as a regulator at the switch point between energy metabolism and gluconeogenesis (Hucho, 1975). As a result of the close functional relationship between pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and citrate synthase it was assumed there is an interaction between them (Sümegi *et al.*, 1980; Sümegi and Alkonyi, 1983). They found that the K_m value of CoA on the pyruvate

TABLE 5. INTERACTIONS OF MITOCHONDRIAL ENZYMES (CITRIC ACID CYCLE AND CLOSELY RELATED ENZYMES)

Enzyme complex	Remarks	References
Binary-enzyme complexes:		
Malate dehydrogenase-citrate synthase (MDH CS)*		Srere, 1974; Fahien et al., 1979; Bryce et al., 1976
,,	Activation of malate dehydrogenase by citrate synthase	Tompa <i>et al.</i> , 1987b
	Channelling of oxaloacetate Polyethylene glycol induced formation of the enzyme complex	Datta et al., 1985 Merz et al., 1987
MDH fumarase	Fumarase MDH is considered as an anchor to succinate dehydrogenase (located in mitochondrial inner membrane, Ernster and Kuylenstierna, 1970) giving connection between citric acid cycle and respiratory chain	Beeckmans and Kanarek, 1981
MDH-aspartate amino transferase (AAT)	The complex is detected by counter current distribution only between the mitochondrial enzymes	Backman and Johansson, 1976; Dawson, 1979; Fahien <i>et al.</i> , 1979; Beeckmans and Kanarek, 1981; Fahien and Kmiotek, 1983
AAT-glutamate dehydrogenase (GLuDH)†	Interaction of pig liver mitochondrial enzymes was demonstrated by gel- chromatography and steady state	Fahien et al., 1979; Fahien and Kmiotek, 1983; Salerno et al., 1975
	fluorescence anisotropy Bovine liver GLuDH and pig heart cytoplasmic AAT interact especially in the presence of NADH plus ammonium ion or NAD plus aspartate	Fahien and Smith, 1969, 1974
	The complex is stabilized by bifunctional crosslinker dimethyl-3,3'-dithiobis-	Hucho et al., 1975; Fahien et al., 1978
	Detection of complex by analysing the consecutive reaction. Data are fitted to a model of direct transfer of the intermediate assuming 1:1 stoichiometry in binding of GL uDH and AAT	Salerno et al., 1982a
	Complex of beef liver enzymes was indicated by time-resolved fluorescence anisotropy	Churchich and Lee, 1976
	Coprecipitation	Salerno et al., 1982a
Citrate synthase-thiolase		Sümegi et al., 1985
Citrate synthase pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC)	The K_m value of CoA on PDC and that of acyl-CoA on CS is decreased in the complex	Sümegi et al., 1980; Sümegi and Alkonyi, 1983
x-Ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (KGDH)-succinate thiokinase		Porpáczy et al., 1983
KGDH-NAD-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase		Porpáczy et al., 1987
KGDH-NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase (UQORase)		Porpáczy et al., 1987
UQORase PDC		Sümegi and Srere, 1984
UQORase-MDH		Sümegi and Srere, 1984
UQORase-β hydroxyacyl CoA dehydrogenase		Sümegi and Srere, 1984
β hydroxyacyl CoA dehydrogenase specific binding protein in inner mitochondrial membrane		Kispál et al., 1986

1	3	1

TABLE 2	5-continued
---------	-------------

GLuDH-MDH		Fahien et al., 1979
CS-AAT		Fahien et al., 1979; Fahien and Kmiotek, 1983
Ternary-enzyme complexes:		
MDH -acetyl CoA carboxylase -phosphoenolpyruvate - carboxylase	In Euglena gracilis this complex participates in CO_2 fixation	Wolpert and Ernst-Fonberg, 1975a,b
Fumarase-MDH AAT		Beeckmans and Kanarek, 1981
Fumarase MDH CS		Beeckmans and Kanarek, 1981
MDH -CS -lactate dehydrogenase	Immobilized three-enzyme system. A model for micro-environmental compartmentation in mitochondria	Srere <i>et al.</i> , 1973
MDH -AAT KGDH	MDH activity is enhanced due to decrease in K_m of malate α -Ketoglutarate and citrate enhance the dissociation of MDH from this complex	Fahien <i>et al.</i> , 1988

* K_d (in absence of substrates) = 1 μ M; K_d (in presence of α -KG) = 0.2 μ M; K_d (in presence of NADH) = 5 μ M; K_d (of complex of mitochondrial CS and cytoplasmic MDH) = 15 μ M; Tompa *et al.*, 1987b.

† $K_d = 8.6 \ \mu$ м; Salerno *et al.*, 1982а.

 K_d : apparent dissociation constant assuming 1:1 stoichiometry in the complex. KG: α -ketoglutarate.

dehydrogenase and that of acyl-CoA on citrate synthase decreased in the coupled system when compared to those of the individual reactions.

(iv) Interaction of aspartate aminotransferase and glutamate dehydrogenase: Complexes between glutamate dehydrogenase and mitochondrial aminotransferases may even play a physiologically significant role in converting amino acids to keto acids plus ammonium ions in liver mitochondria. This statement is based on the following reasons: (a) glutamate dehydrogenase, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase are in the same mitochondrial compartment (De Rosa and Swick, 1975; Sottocasa et al., 1963); (b) in liver mitochondria the level of glutamate dehydrogenase is even higher (Schmidt et al., 1963; Klingenberg et al., 1965) than that required in vitro to form a complex with mitochondrial ornithine, alanine or aspartate aminotransferase (Fahien and Smith, 1974; Fahien et al., 1977); (c) complexes between glutamate dehydrogenase and these mitochondrial aminotransferases are quite active in vitro in catalysing an amino acid dehydrogenase reaction even in the absence of α -ketoglutarate or glutamate (Fahien and Smith, 1974; Fahien *et al.*, 1977); (d) the reductive amination of oxaloacetate could occur more efficiently through the consecutive reaction catalysed by the complex of aspartate aminotransferase and glutamate dehydrogenase than by the free enzyme and within the complex practically complete channelling was observed (Salerno *et al.*, 1982). The efficiency (α) of the intermediate transfer (cf. also Section II.2.c) in this complex was determined recently (Tompa *et al.*, 1987a) and experimental values could be fitted by using $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\langle t' \rangle = 0$.

Considering the rather great and continuously increasing number of observed enzyme -enzyme interactions presented above in (i)–(iv) (cf. also Table 5), to answer the question about the hierarchy (specificity) of the possible complex formation (in competing cases) as well as about the effect of various intermediates and other factors becomes especially important in respect of *in vivo* functions of these complexes. Unfortunately, although many individual observations and data are known, we did not possess a general outline till now. However, some evidence concerning the specificity of complex formation and the regulation of complex association/dissociation by intermediates suggests the possible role of enzyme enzyme interactions even in *in vivo* conditions.

Mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase and aspartate aminotransferase can form hetero-

complexes with either glutamate dehydrogenase (Fahien *et al.*, 1979) or citrate synthase. As indicated by Fahien and Kmiotek (1983) the complexes with aspartate aminotransferase are favoured over those with citrate synthase. At low enzyme concentration the only detectable complex is that of aspartate aminotransferase and glutamate dehydrogenase.

NADPH disrupts the complexes with malate dehydrogenase but has little effect on the complexes with aspartate aminotransferase. Oxaloacetate disrupts the complexes with citrate synthase but has hardly any effect on the complexes with glutamate dehydrogenase. NADH + malate abolish the complexes of malate dehydrogenase and glutamate dehydrogenase, aspartate aminotransferase and glutamate dehydrogenase, malate dehydrogenase and citrate synthase but favour the formation of the complex of aspartate aminotransferase and citrate synthase.

NAD⁺, oxaloacetate, citrate, ATP, L(-)- or D(+)-malate had no effect on the association of citrate synthase and malate dehydrogenase, whereas α -ketoglutarate increased and NADH decreased it. On one hand, α -ketoglutarate, as a Krebs cycle intermediate, also has alternate metabolic fates, it is involved in glutamate formation or in the malate -aspartate shuttle. The activation of malate dehydrogenase by citrate synthase indicated by Tompa *et al.* (1987b) is consistent with the necessity of maintaining balanced fluxes between α ketoglutarate dehydrogenase and citrate synthase (*cf.* Williamson and Cooper, 1980). On the other hand, since NADH affects the strength of the association between citrate synthase and malate dehydrogenase, the degree of enzyme interaction (and hence the oxaloacetate-citrate flux) may be readily controlled by changes in the NAD⁺/NADH ratio. Accordingly, the NAD⁺/NADH ratio may serve a dual role. First, it is a major determinant of the energy-generation flux in the Krebs cycle by virtue of the regulatory effects on various enzymes therein (Williamson and Cooper, 1980). In addition, it may function in the control of metabolic flow of carbon moiety between catabolism and anabolism.

Bovine serum albumin, alpha-globulin, ovalbumin and lactate dehydrogenase did not alter the nanosecond and/or steady-state fluorescence polarization of labelled mitochondrial aspartate aminotransferase. Similar results for the specificity of aspartate aminotransferase-glutamate dehydrogenase complex were obtained by precipitation experiments in polyethylene glycol solution (Fahien and Kmiotek, 1979).

Other proteins (bovine serum albumin, citrate synthase, cytoplasmic malate dehydrogenase) did not coprecipitate with either glutamate dehydrogenase or aspartate aminotransferase. The coprecipitation of aspartate aminotransferase and glutamate dehydrogenase was markedly decreased by increasing either the pH and/or ionic strength (Salerno *et al.*, 1982b) or by addition of ligands such as malate plus NADPH, NADH or GTP (Fahien and Kmiotek, 1983).

Other observations also indicate that formation of enzyme-enzyme complexes can be influenced by substrates (Fahien *et al.*, 1977; *cf.* Table 5). It was found that in the presence of NADPH and ammonium ions glutamate dehydrogenase can react with the pyridoxal-phosphate form of aspartate aminotransferase to produce the pyridoxaminephosphate form of this enzyme and NADP (Fahien and Smith, 1974; Fahien *et al.*, 1971; Shemise *et al.*, 1972). The affinity of aspartate aminotransferase to glutamate dehydrogenase can be enhanced in the presence of NADP plus glutamate or aspartate (Fahien and Smith, 1974).

Interaction between bovine liver glutamate dehydrogenase and pig heart cytoplasmic aspartate aminotransferase could also be observed especially in the presence of NADH plus ammonium ions or NAD plus aspartate (Fahien and Smith, 1974).

2. Other Mitochondrial Enzymes

Mitochondrial creatine phosphokinase is compartmentalized (Bessman *et al.*, 1978; Erickson-Viitanen *et al.*, 1982a,b) and coupled not only to oxidative phosphorylation (Erickson-Viitanen *et al.*, 1982a) but also to nucleotide translocase (Brooks and Suelter, 1987). The carbamoyl phosphate metabolism and the arginine pathways in the mitochondria of *Neurospora crassa* are compartmentalized by channelling (Wasternack, 1984; Davis, 1986; Davis and Ristow, 1987). Moreover, in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* carbamylphosphate synthetase associates with aspartate transcarbamylase (Belkaïd *et al.*, 1987; Penverne and Hervé, 1983) and as a consequence of this complex formation carbamylphosphate is channelled between the two enzymes (Belkaïd *et al.*, 1988).

V. CONTROL OF METABOLISM BY MACROMOLECULAR INTERACTIONS

For the description of regulatory properties of metabolic pathways a control analysis has been developed (Higgins, 1963, 1965; Savageau, 1972, 1976; Savageau *et al.*, 1987a,b; Kacser and Burns, 1973, 1979; Kacser, 1983; Heinrich and Rapoport, 1973, 1974a,b, 1983; Heinrich *et al.*, 1977; Newsholme and Crabtree, 1973, 1976; Crabtree and Newsholme, 1985). Kacser (1983) has suggested the idea of "molecular democracy" to characterize each enzyme in a metabolic process as an autonomous entity and the control as a sort of linear superposition of the effects of the individual enzymes. The milieu of this "molecular society" is a bulk aqueous solution with non-interacting enzymes and non-compartmentalized metabolites homogeneously dispersed therein. The links in such a metabolic network are the intermediate metabolite pools.

1. Control of Metabolism in Bulk Medium

Assuming a chain of unsaturated but reversible enzymes carrying out the overall conversion of external substrate X_1 to the final external product X_2 via successive intermediary metabolites $S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_{n-1}$

 $X_1 \xrightarrow{E_1} S_1 \xrightarrow{E_2} S_2 \xrightarrow{\cdots} S_{n-1} \xrightarrow{E_n} X_2$

it follows (Kacser and Burns, 1973) by using the term of kinetic power (Keleti and Vértessy, 1986; Welch *et al.*, 1988) that the overall flux, *F*, for this system is:

$$F = ([X_1] - [X_2]/K_{eq,1}K_{eq,2} \dots K_{eq,n})/(1/k_{\Gamma,1} + 1/k_{\Gamma,2}K_{eq,1} + 1/k_{\Gamma,3}K_{eq,1}K_{eq,2} + \cdots).$$
(22)

The factor describing the response of the overall rate to an infinitesimal change in enzyme concentration is the control coefficient (Kacser and Burns, 1973; Heinrich and Rapoport, 1974a). The manner by which the control of a homogeneous, bulk-phase metabolic process is shared amongst all of the enzymes is revealed from the Summation Theorem (Kacser and Burns, 1973, 1979) which shows that the sum of all control coefficients of a given metabolic pathway equals unity.

In the metabolic control the control coefficients of the individual enzymes are connected by the Connectivity Property (Kacser and Burns, 1973, 1979; Heinrich and Rapoport, 1974a; Heinrich *et al.*, 1977). The Elasticity Coefficient (Kacser and Burns, 1973, 1979; Heinrich and Rapoport, 1974a; Heinrich *et al.*, 1977) reveals the relative infinitesimal change of enzyme velocity in the function of relative infinitesimal change in substrate concentration.

The Control Coefficient, Elasticity Coefficient, Connectivity Property and Summation Theorem are the most important parameters of metabolic control.

Metabolic cycles and cascades have an important role in the amplification mechanism of enzyme activity and thus in the control of metabolic pathways (Newsholme and Crabtree, 1973, 1976; Crabtree, 1976; Newsholme *et al.*, 1984; Goldbeter and Koshland, 1982; Sorribas and Bartrons, 1986) similarly to the futile cycles (Hue, 1982). In this type of bulk medium metabolic control, the kinetic properties of the enzymes in the pathway are related to the extent to which the same enzymes control the steady-state concentration of metabolites (Westerhoff and Chen, 1984). The calculation of the flux control coefficients can be performed from the kinetic parameters by using a simple matrix algebra procedure (Fell and Sauro, 1985) which was extended to allow determination of the concentration control coefficients (Sauro *et al.*, 1987) even if moiety conserved cycles (Hofmeyr *et al.*, 1986) are involved in the pathway. Hofmeyr (1986) elaborated the method of steady-state modelling of metabolic control. The theory was extended to branched metabolic systems (Heinrich *et al.*, 1987; Giersch, 1988c; Small and Fell, 1989) and to parallel systems working with isoenzymes or alternative enzymes (Derr and Derr, 1987).

The control theory was successfully applied to the glycolysis of erythrocytes (Rapoport et al., 1976; Heinrich et al., 1987) or of some streptococci (Poolman et al., 1987), to the

conversion of glucose in rat liver extract (Torres *et al.*, 1986), the gluconeogenetic pathway (Groen *et al.*, 1986), the aromatic amino acid metabolism in isolated rat liver cells (Salter *et al.*, 1986), the arginine pathway of *Neurospora crassa* (Flint *et al.*, 1981), mitochondrial respiration, oxidative phosphorylation and translocator action (Groen *et al.*, 1982a,b, 1983; Tager *et al.*, 1983; Wanders *et al.*, 1984a,b; Mazat *et al.*, 1986), the electron flux through cytochrome oxidase (Murphy and Brand, 1987), serine biosynthesis in mammals (Fell and Snell, 1988) and interrelation between glycolysis and hexose monophosphate shunt in erythrocytes (Schuster *et al.*, 1988). The possibility of the application of control theory to central metabolic pathways of *E. coli* (Holms, 1986, 1987), to microbial growth and metabolism in general (Kell and Westerhoff, 1986; Kell, 1987), and to the Calvin photosynthesis cycle (Pettersson and Ryde-Pettersson, 1988) was discussed.

2. Control of Metabolism in Organized Systems

The previously discussed bulk-phase, "pool" view of metabolic control may be valid for some enzymatic process *in vivo*; however, it is not valid for many others. In the previous sections it was shown that there is now abundant evidence that much—perhaps the majority—of cellular metabolism is spatially organized on a scale much smaller than that of any of the well-known organelles. This organization includes membrane-bound enzyme clusters, multienzyme complexes and enzyme arrays attached to the cytomatrix. While our present knowledge of the actual microenvironments in these organized enzyme regimes is very limited, it is quite apparent that the thermodynamic and kinetic character of the reaction—diffusion flow therein is distinctly different from the condition in an aqueous bulkphase solution, where the only links in a metabolic network are homogeneous pools of substrates and products. Consequently, the cell metabolism is more likely controlled in a manner of "supramolecular socialism" (Welch and Keleti, 1987) where the "cytosociological" behaviour of the enzymes is manifested in the evolutionarily governed formation of multienzyme systems (Welch and Keleti, 1981).

The kinetic consequence of supramolecular organization of the enzymes is manifested most effectively if channelling occurs (Hess and Wurster, 1970; Welch, 1977b; Bartha and Keleti, 1979; Easterby, 1981, 1986; Keleti, 1984, 1986b; Wasternack and Hause, 1986; Tompa *et al.*, 1987a; Hofer *et al.*, 1987; Ovádi *et al.*, 1989; Keleti *et al.*, 1988). The existence of intracellular microenvironments demands us to modify our concepts about cell metabolism and its control traditionally based on simplistic bulk-phase view.

The relationships for the velocity of the individual enzymes in the pathway and for the flux in organized systems remain formally identical with those derived in the case of the bulk-phase system; however, the meaning of the constants will be different (Welch *et al.*, 1988).

The flux-control coefficients for an organized multienzyme system represent the change in the kinetic properties of each enzyme due to its interaction with the next one in the pathway (Welch *et al.*, 1988).

The flux itself depends on the state of organization of the enzyme system. If the organized system entails localized "pools" of metabolites and enzymes, the structural constraints in such microenvironments might impart a vectorial character onto the metabolic flow therein, along with an anisotropic distortion of the local concentration–diffusion fields. For tightly interacting multienzyme complexes which channel metabolites, the "pool" concept for intermediate substrates does not apply (Welch *et al.*, 1988).

The kinetic parameters of metabolic control for organized multienzyme systems were formulated and the control analysis for organized heterogeneous enzyme systems was presented recently (Keleti and Vértessy, 1986; Welch *et al.*, 1988; Keleti, 1989b). The difference between the bulk-phase and organized systems was proved for the control coefficient (Crabtree and Newsholme, 1987, 1988; Giersch, 1988a) and the connectivity relation (Giersch, 1988b). It is reasonable to stress that enzymes behave differently providing they are in free solution or in a living cell (*cf.* Kacser and Porteous, 1987), since due to the compartmentalization of both enzymes and metabolites, enzyme catalysis and consequently metabolic pathways are vectorial processes (Kell and Westerhoff, 1985). Moreover, the fixed charges of biological membranes attract or repulse mobile ions (among them H^+) and consequently the concentration of these ions which modulate enzymatic activity will be different in the vicinity of the membranes and in the bulk-phase. Therefore, metabolic pathways organized by one or more enzymes associated with membranes are controlled differently than those in the bulk medium (Ricard and Noat, 1984; Ricard, 1989).

If the catalytic capacity of an enzyme in the cell is much higher than that of the other enzymes which react with the same substrates, then it will bring its own reaction partners very close to thermodynamic equilibrium. This is called "near-equilibrium relation" (Holzer *et al.*, 1956; Bücher and Klingenberg, 1958; Hohorst *et al.*, 1959; Krebs and Veech, 1969; Veech *et al.*, 1969, 1970). Since the kinetic requirements for a near-equilibrium relation are not too restrictive it can be expected that whole pathways may consist of them (Reich, 1976). If we assume the whole metabolic pathway in near-equilibrium, the K_{eq} s defined as the equilibrium constants between the intermediate pools will be simply the thermodynamic equilibrium constants of the reversible reactions catalysed by the respective enzymes.

The equation of the flux (eqn (22)) in this case will have the form:

$$F = \left(X_1 \prod_{i=1}^{n} k_{\Gamma,i}^f - X_2 \prod_{j=1}^{n} k_{\Gamma,j}^r \right) \Big/ D_c$$
(23)

where

$$D_{c} = \prod_{i=2}^{n} k_{\Gamma,i}^{f} + k_{\Gamma,1}^{r} \prod_{i=3}^{n} k_{\Gamma,i}^{f} + \prod_{j=1}^{2} k_{\Gamma,j}^{r} \prod_{i=4}^{n} k_{\Gamma,i}^{f} + \prod_{j=1}^{3} k_{\Gamma,j}^{r} \prod_{i=5}^{n} k_{\Gamma,i}^{f} + \dots + \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} k_{\Gamma,j}^{r}$$
(24)

and superscripts f and r refer to the forward and reverse reaction, respectively.

The rates in a near-equilibrium system depend only on kinetic power and metabolite concentrations. The flux depends on the concentration of the first substrate and last product in the whole pathway and on the kinetic power of all enzymes. The control coefficients depend only on kinetic powers.

According to the rules of reversible Michaelis-Menten mechanisms (Keleti, 1986c) the relation of the individual kinetic constants of the enzymes with the kinetic parameters of metabolic control will be different depending on whether the reversible reaction reaches the steady-state at infinite time (diffusion controlled reactions) in the forward and reverse reactions or the kinetics in one direction is rapid equilibrium (Keleti, 1989b).

For complex metabolic networks as organized, bifurcating and oscillating systems, etc., complex mathematical formulations are elaborated (Savageau, 1969a,b, 1970, 1971a,b, 1985; Liao and Lightfoot, 1987; Palsson *et al.*, 1985; Palsson and Lightfoot, 1985a,b; Palsson and Groshans, 1988; Bohnensack, 1985).

3. Thermodynamics of Metabolic Control

The thermodynamic control theory was elaborated by Westerhoff *et al.* (1987a). The free energy elasticity coefficient is defined as

$$\varepsilon_{S}^{i} = \left\{ \partial \ln \left| v_{i} \right| / \partial \ln \left[S \right] \right\}_{\left[P \right], \left[E \right]} = \left\{ \partial \ln \left| v_{i} \right| / \partial \ln \left(\mu_{S} / RT \right) \right\}_{\mu, \left[E \right]} = \varepsilon_{\mu}^{i}$$
(25)

where μ_s is the chemical potential of the substrate.

Relationships exist between flux control coefficients and free energy elasticity coefficients. This approach can also resolve some problems in the bulk medium control analysis caused by compartmentation. The thermodynamic control theory was successfully applied to the control of mitochondrial respiration by the adenine nucleotide translocator (Westerhoff *et al.*, 1987b).

In order to obtain a better physical feel for the channelling process, we explore more deeply the apparent first-order rate constant, the reciprocal of transient time within an enzyme complex.

In the formalism of the absolute rate theory in a channelled system the reciprocal transient time is a real first-order rate constant, which is directly related to the standard activation freeenergy of the respective coupled reaction (Keleti, 1986b; Keleti *et al.*, 1988) and is characteristic of the rate-limiting intramolecular conversion $I \rightarrow P$ within the bienzyme complex. As such, it (like all first-order rate constants for the transformation of enzyme-bound intermediates) is constrained by the theoretical upper limit specified by the universal frequency $k_{\rm B}T/h$ (=6.21 × 10¹² sec⁻¹ at 298 K) (Keleti *et al.*, 1988).

Since the bulk-phase form of the reciprocal transient time is only an apparent first-order rate constant, the transition-state theory cannot be applied, in general, to the coupled reaction involving the separated enzymes in bulk solution (i.e. where there is no intramolecular product formation). However, if the rate of this coupled reaction is diffusion-controlled, then $1/k_D[E_2]_T$ (where k_D is the Smoluchowski diffusion-rate coefficient) sets the lower limit for the bulk-phase transient time (Keleti and Welch, 1984).

In conclusion, we can quantitate the kinetic (transition-state) barrier for the coupled enzymatic conversion $I \rightarrow P$ in the two extreme cases as follows (Keleti *et al.*, 1988). We have

$$\Delta G_{c}^{*} = -2.48 \ln[(h/k_{\rm B}T)/\tau]$$
(26)

in kJ/mol at 298 K, for the first-order case of perfect channelling within the bienzyme complex, E_1E_2 , where τ is the transient time within the complex. For the diffusion-limited, second-order reaction of I and E_2 , occurring in a system of non-interacting enzymes, we find

$$\Delta G_{\rm D}^{\ *} = -2.48 \, \ln(k_{\rm D}/\Phi'). \tag{27}$$

The transition-state free energy, ΔG_{D}^{*} , represents the barrier for diffusive particle motion in the liquid state, and Φ' is a pro-pre-exponential factor (Keleti, 1983), whose form depends on the particular model of the liquid state (Glasstone *et al.*, 1941; North, 1964; Hill, 1985).

Obviously, the association/dissociation of multienzyme complexes may have direct consequences on the overall energy profile of coupled reactions (Keleti, 1986b; Srivastava and Bernhard, 1986b; Keleti *et al.*, 1988; Bernhard, 1988).

However, one should be aware that the validity of thermodynamic arguments of Albery and Knowles (1976) for balancing changes in basic free energy in a metabolic pathway catalysed by reversible enzymes depends on kinetic factors and is not general (Kamp *et al.*, 1988).

VI. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Studies on purified enzymes have contributed a good deal to the understanding of the catalytic action of several enzymes at the molecular level. However, the results obtained with enzymes taken out from their natural milieu do not necessarily demonstrate how the enzymes function in vivo. The structural and functional organization of enzymes can be influenced by the presence of other enzymes and macromolecules as well. This validates the search for enzyme-enzyme interactions. Many examples presented previously demonstrate that the catalytic efficiency of the enzymes involved in consecutive reactions is increased if the enzymes are clustered and organized into multienzyme complexes. Enzyme-enzyme interactions may occur either in tight complexes or in weak ones among so-called soluble enzymes in different compartments of the cell, like cytosol, mitochondrial matrix, etc. Compartments for soluble enzymes are furnished by intracellular structures or elements of the contractile system. In addition, microcompartments for metabolites can be formed in the channels of complexes of functionally related enzymes. The simultaneous existence of interactions between enzymes, structural elements and metabolites may ensure a dynamism of the weak complexes. This dynamism manifests itself in the association dissociation of the complexes resulting in the alternation of catalytic efficiency or regulatory behaviour.

The existence of dynamic microcompartments may ensure alternative vectorial motions of metabolites, a means for the coordination of metabolic pathways of the same intermediates. In this way the living cell spares energy by preventing undesirable side reactions of intermediates. Vice versa, the metabolites themselves influence the state of the dynamic microcompartments. In other words, the metabolic control of heterogeneous organized enzyme systems differs from that of enzymes in homogeneous bulk medium.

The choice of interactions, complexes, compartments we have dealt with in this review

reflects mainly our special interest and certainly does not give a comprehensive picture covering all ramifications of this rapidly developing field.

REFERENCES

- ACKERS, G. K. (1970) Analytical gel chromatography of proteins. Adv. Protein Chem. 24, 343.
- ACKERS, G. K. (1975) Molecular sieve methods of analysis. In *Proteins*, 3rd edn, Vol. 1 (eds. H. NEURATH and R. L. HILL), pp. 1–94. Academic Press, New York.
- ALBERTSSON, P. Å. (1971) Partition of Cell Particles and Macromolecules. 2nd edn, Almquistand Wiksell, Stockholm.
- ALBERTSSON, P. Å., ANDERSSON, B., LARSSON, C. and ÅKERLUND, H. E. (1982) Phase partition—a method for purification and analysis of cell organelles and membranes vesicles. *Meth. biochem. Analysis* 28, 115.
- ALBERY, W. J. and KNOWLES, J. R. (1976) Evolution of enzyme function and the development of catalytic efficiency. Biochemistry 15, 5631.
- ALLEN, R. W., TRACH, K. A. and HOCH, J. A. (1987) Identification of the 37-kDa protein displaying a variable interaction with the erythroid cell membrane as glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. J. biol. Chem. 262, 649.
- AMAN, R. A., KENYON, G. L. and WANG, C. C. (1985) Cross-linking of the enzymes in the glycosome of *Trypanosoma brucei*. J. biol. Chem. 260, 6966.
- ANDERSON, N. G. and GREEN, J. G. (1967) The globule phase of the cell. In *Enzyme Cytology* (ed. D. B. RODDYN), pp. 475-509. Academic Press, London, New York.
- ANDERSON, P. J., GIBBONS, I. and PERHAM, R. N. (1969) A comparative study of the structure of muscle fructose 1,6diphosphate aldolase. Eur. J. Biochem. 11, 503.
- ANTONINI, E., ROSSI-FANELLI, M. R. and CHIANCONE, E. (1975) Properties of polymeric proteins bound to solid matrices: subunit exchange chromatography. In *Protein-Ligand Interaction* (eds. H. SUND and G. BLAUER), pp. 45-58. De Gruyter, Berlin, New York.
- ARAKAWA, T. and TIMASHEFF, S. N. (1985) Mechanism of poly(ethylene glycol) interaction with proteins. Biochemistry 26, 7813.
- ARESE, P., BOSIA, A., PESCARMONA, G. P. and TILL, U. (1974) 2,3-diphosphoglycerate synthesis by human white ghosts. FEBS Lett. 49, 33.
- ARNOLD, H. and PETTE, D. (1968) Binding of glycolytic enzymes to structure proteins of the muscle. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 6, 163.
- ARNOLD, H. and PETTE, D. (1970) Binding of aldolase and triosephosphate dehydrogenase to F-actin and modification of catalytic properties of aldolase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 15, 360.
- ARNOLD, H., NOLTE, J. and PETTE, D. (1969) Quantitative and histochemical studies on the desorption and resorption of aldolase in cross-striated muscle. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 17, 314.
- ARNOLD, H., HENNING, R. and PETTE, D. (1971) Quantitative comparison of the binding of various glycolytic enzymes to F-actin and the interaction of aldolase with G-actin. Eur. J. Biochem. 22, 121.
- ARRIO-DUPONT, M., COULET, P. R. and GAUTHERON, D. C. (1985) Coupled reaction of immobilized aspartate aminotransferase and malate dehydrogenase. A plausible model for the cellular behaviour of these enzymes. *Biochim biophys. Acta* 829, 58.
- ASHMARINA, L. I., MURONETZ, V. I. and NAGRADOVA, N. K. (1980) A monomer of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase is catalytically active. *Biochem. Int.* 1, 47.
- ASHMARINA, L. I., MURONETZ, V. I. and NAGRADOVA, N. K. (1982) Evidence for a change in catalytic properties of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase monomers upon their association in a tetramer. FEBS Lett. 144, 43.
- ASHMARINA, L. I., MURONETZ, V. I. and NAGRADOVA, N. K. (1984) Immobilized glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase forms a complex with phosphoglycerate kinase. *Biochem. Int.* 9, 511.
- ASHMARINA, L. I., MURONETZ, V. I. and NAGRADOVA, N. K. (1985) Yeast glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Evidence that subunit cooperativity in catalysis can be controlled by the formation of a complex with phosphoglycerate kinase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 149, 67.
- ATKINSON, D. E. (1968) The energy charge of the adenylate pool as a regulatory parameter. Interaction with feedback modifiers. *Biochemistry* 7, 4030.
- ATKINSON, D. E. (1969) Limitation of metabolite concentrations and the conservation of solvent capacity in the living cell. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 1, 29.
- BACKMAN, L. and JOHANSSON, G. (1976) Enzyme-enzyme complexes between aspartate aminotransferase and malate dehydrogenase from pig heart muscle. *FEBS Lett.* **65**, 39.
- BARANOWSKI, T. and NIEDERLAND, T. R. (1949) Aldolase activity of myogen A. J. biol. Chem. 180, 543.
- BARTHA, F. and KELETI, T. (1979) Kinetic analysis of interaction between two enzymes catalyzing consecutive reactions. Oxid. Commun. 1, 75.
- BATKE, J. (1978) Does dimeric glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase self-associate or dissociate during its catalytic turnover? 11th IUPAC Symp., Symp., Papers, Vol. 1, pp. 147-150.
- BATKE, J. (1982) Spectrofluorimetric analysis of the dissociation of oligomeric macromolecules: correction for the absorption of exciting and emitted light in a side-bottom type fluorometer. *Analyt. Biochem.* 121, 123.BATKE, J. (1989) in preparation.
- BATKE, J. and TOMPA, P. (1986) The dynamic character of enzyme-enzyme interactions in the cytoplasm of evolutionary distant species. In *Dynamics of Biochemical Systems* (eds. S. DAMJANOVICH, T. KELETI and L. TRÓN), pp. 247–264. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- BATKE, J., ASBÓTH, G., LAKATOS, S., SCHMITT, B. and COHEN, R. (1980) Substrate-induced dissociation of glycerol-3phosphate dehydrogenase and its complex formation with fructose-bisphosphate aldolase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 107, 389.
- BATKE, J., NAZARYAN, K. B. and KARAPETIAN, N. H. (1988) Complex of brain D-phosphoglycerate mutase and gamma-enolase and its reactivation by D-glycerate-2,3-bisphosphate. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 264, 510.

- BEECKMANS, S. and KANAREK, L. (1981) Demonstration of physical interactions between consecutive enzymes of the citric acid cycle and of the aspartate malate shuttle. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **117**, 527.
- BELKAÏD, M., PENVERNE, B., DENIS, M. and HERVÉ, G. (1987) In situ behavior of the pyrimidine pathway enzymes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. 2. Reaction mechanism of aspartate transcarbamylase dissociated from carbamylphosphate synthase by genetic alteration. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 254, 568.
- BELKAÏD, M., PENVERNE, B. and HERVÉ, G. (1988) In situ behavior of the pyrimidine pathway enzymes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. 3. Catalytic and regulatory properties of carbamylphosphate synthase: channeling of carbamylphosphate to aspartate transcarbamylase. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 262, 171.
- BERNHARD, S. A. (1988) The intracellular equilibrium thermodynamic and steady-state concentrations of metabolites. *Cell Biophys.* 12, 119.
- BERNHARD, S. A. and SRIVASTAVA, D. K. (1987) Functional consequences of the direct transfer of metabolites in muscle glycolysis. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **15**, 977.
- BERRY, M. N., GREGORY, R. B., GRIVELL, A. R., HENLY, D. C., PHILLIPS, J. W., WALLACE, P. G. and WELCH, G. R. (1987) Linear relationships between mitochondrial forces and cytoplasmic flows argue for the organized energy-coupled nature of cellular metabolism. *FEBS Lett.* 224, 201.
- BESSMAN, S. P., BORREBACK, B., GEIGER, P. J. and BEN-OR, S. (1978) Mitochondrial creatine kinase and hexokinase: two examples of compartmentation predicted by the hexokinase mitochondrial binding theory of insulin action. In *Microenvironments and Metabolic Compartmentation* (eds. P. A. SRERE and R. W. EASTABROOK), pp. 111–128. Academic Press, New York.
- BLITZ, A. L. and FINE, R. E. (1974) Muscle-like contractile proteins and tubulin in synaptosomes. Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 71, 4472.
- BOHNENSACK, R. (1985) Theory of steady-state control in complex metabolic networks. *Biomed. biochim. Acta* 44, 1567.
- BOSCÁ, L., ARAGÓN, J. J. and SOLS, A. (1985) Modulation of muscle phosphofructokinase at physiological concentration of enzyme. J. biol. Chem. 260, 2100.
- BOTELHO, L. H., EL-DORRY, A. M., CRIVELLARO, O., CHO, D. K., PONTREMOLI, S. and HORECKER, B. L. (1977) Digestion of rabbit fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase with subtilisin: sites of cleavage and activity of the modified enzyme. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 184, 535.
- BRAUN, K. and KIRTLEY, M. E. (1977) Interaction of phosphoglycerate kinase with human erythrocyte membranes. *J. biol. Chem.* **252**, 6715.
- BRONSTEIN, W. W. and KNULL, H. R. (1981) Interaction of muscle glycolytic enzymes with thin filament proteins. *Can. J. Biochem.* **59**, 494.
- BROOKS, S. P. J. and SUELTER, C. H. (1987) Compartmented coupling of chicken heart mitochondrial creatine kinase to the nucleotide translocase requires the outer mitochondrial membrane. *Archs Biochem. Biophys.* **257**, 144.
- BROOKS, S. P. J. and SUELTER, C. H. (1989) Practical aspects of coupling enzyme theory. Analyt. Biochem. 176, 1.
 BROOKS, S. P. J., ESPINOLA, T. and SUELTER, C. H. (1984) Theory and practical application of coupled enzyme reactions: one and two auxiliary enzymes. Can. J. Biochem. cell. Biol. 62, 945.
- BRYCE, C. F. A., WILLIAMS, D. C., JOHN, R. A. and FASELLA, P. (1976) The anomalous kinetics of coupled aspartate aminotransferase and malate dehydrogenase. *Biochem. J.* 153, 571.
- BÜCHER, TH. and KLINGENBERG, M. (1958) Wege des Wasserstoffs in der lebendigen Organisation. Angew. Chem. 70, 552.
- CHATELIER, R. C. and MINTON, A. P. (1987a) Sedimentation equilibrium in macromolecular solutions of arbitrary concentration. I. Self-associating proteins. *Biopolymers* 26, 507.
- CHATELIER, R. C. and MINTON, A. P. (1987b) Sedimentation equilibrium in macromolecular solutions of arbitrary concentration. II. Two protein components. *Biopolymers* 26, 1097.
- CHOCK, P. B. and GUTFREUND, H. (1988) Reexamination of the kinetics of the transfer of NADH between its complexes with glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and with lactate dehydrogenase. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85, 8870.
- CHURCH, W. R., RAWITCH, A. B. and EBNER, K. E. (1981) The fluorescein-mediated interaction of bovine serum albumin with fluorescent derivatives of prolactin and other polypeptides in polarization of fluorescence based assay. *Archs Biochem. Biophys.* **206**, 285.
- CHURCHICH, J. E. and LEE, J. H. (1976) Nanosecond emission anisotropy of interacting enzymes aspartate aminotransferase glutamate dehydrogenase. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 68, 409.
- CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS, C. J. (1972) On the reversible and selective adsorption of aldolase isoenzymes in rat brain. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 153, 258.
- CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS, C. J. (1973a) Multi-enzyme aggregates: new evidence for an association of glycolytic components. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 327, 223.
- CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS, C. J. (1973b) On the distribution of aldolase isoenzymes in subcellular fractions from rat brain. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 156, 673.
- CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS, C. J. (1974) On the association of glycolytic components in skeletal muscle extracts. Biochim. biophys. Acta 358, 193.
- CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS. C. J. (1975) On the association of glycolytic enzymes with structural proteins of skeletal muscle. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 381, 37.
- CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS, C. J. (1976) Interactions between muscle proteins and glycolytic enzymes. Int. J. Biochem. 7, 359.
- CLARKE, F. M. and MORTON, D. J. (1982) Glycolytic enzyme binding in fetal brain---the role of actin. Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun. 109, 388.
- CLARKE, F. M., MASTERS, C. J. and WINZOR, D. J. (1974) Interaction of aldolase with the troponin-tropomyosin complex of bovine muscle. *Biochem. J.* 139, 785.
- CLARKE, F. M., SHAW, F. D. and MORTON, D. J. (1980) Effect of electrical stimulation post-mortem of bovine muscle on the binding of glycolytic enzymes. Functional and structural implications. *Biochem. J.* 186, 105.
- CLARKE, F. M., STEPHAN, P., MORTON, D. and WEIDEMANN, J. (1983) In Actin: Structure and Function in Muscle and Non-Muscle Cells (eds. J. BRÄNDEN and C. DOS REMEDIOS), pp. 249–257. Academic Press, Sydney.

CLEGG, J. S. and JACKSON, S. A. (1988) Glycolysis in permeabilized L-929 cells. Biochem. J. 255, 335.

- COE, L. L. and GREENHOUSE, W. V. (1973) Possible regulatory interactions between compartmentalized glycolytic systems during initiation of glycolysis in ascites tumor cells. Biochim. biophys. Acta 329, 171.
- COHEN, R. and CLAVERIE, J. M. (1975) Sedimentation of generalized systems of interacting particles. II. Active enzyme centrifugation-theory and extensions of its validity range. Biopolymers 14, 1701.
- COHEN, R. and MIRE, M. (1971) Analytical-band centrifugation of an active enzyme-substrate complex. Eur. J. Biochem. 23, 267.
- COHEN, P. T., OMENN, G. S., MOTULSKY, A. G., CHEN, S. H. and GIBLETT, E. R. (1973) Restricted variation in the glycolytic enzymes of human brain and erythrocytes. Nature New Biol. 241, 229.
- CRABTREE, B. (1976) Reversible (near-equilibrium) reactions and substrate cycles. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 4, 1046.
- CRABTREE, B. and NEWSHOLME, E. A. (1985) A quantitative approach to metabolic control. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 25, 21.
- CRABTREE, B. and NEWSHOLME, E. A. (1987) The derivation and interpretation of control coefficients. Biochem. J. 247, 113.
- CRABTREE, B. and NEWSHOLME, E. A. (1988) Control analysis based on unvalidated models cannot be used as a short cut to understanding metabolic control. Biochem. J. 253, 619.
- CRANE, R. K. and SOLS, A. (1953) The association of hexokinase with particulate fractions of brain and other tissue homogenates. J. biol. Chem. 203, 273.
- CSEKE, E. and SZABOLCSI, G. (1983) Enzyme-enzyme interaction within human erythrocytes as suggested from prelytic release. Acta biochim. biophys. Acad. Sci. hung. 18, 151.
- CSEKE, E., VÁRADI, A., SZABOLCSI, G. and BISZKU, É. (1978) On the molecular sieving property of the human erythrocyte membrane and the localization of some glycolytic enzymes in the cell. FEBS Lett. 96, 15.
- CUATRECASAS, P. (1972) Affinity chromatography of macromolecules. Adv. Enzymol. 36, 29.
- CUATRECASAS, P. and ANFINSEN, C. B. (1971a) Affinity chromatography. Meth. Enzymol. 22, 345. CUATRECASAS, P. and ANFINSEN, C. B. (1971b) Affinity chromatography. A. Rev. Biochem. 40, 259.
- DAGHER, S. M. and HULTIN, H. O. (1975) Association of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with the particulate fraction of chicken skeletal muscle. Eur. J. Biochem. 55, 185.
- DAMJANOVICH, S., KELETI, T. and TRÓN, L. (eds.) (1986) Dynamics of Biochemical Systems. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- DANNER, J., SOMMERVILLE, J. E., TURNER, J. and DUNN, B. M. (1979) Multiple binding sites of carboxypeptidase B: the evaluation of dissociation constants by quantitative affinity chromatography. *Biochemistry* 18, 3039.
- DATTA, A., MERZ, J. M. and SPIVEY, H. O. (1985) Substrate channeling of oxaloacetate in solid-state complexes of malate dehydrogenase and citrate synthase. J. biol. Chem. 260, 15005.
- DAUM, G., KELLER, K. and LANGE, K. (1988) Association of glycolytic enzymes with the cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane of glioma cells. Biochim. biophys. Acta 939, 277.
- DAVIS, R. H. (1986) Compartmental and regulatory mechanisms in the arginine pathways of Neurospora crassa and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microbiol. Rev. 50, 280.
- DAVIS, R. H. and RISTOW, J. L. (1987) Arginine-specific carbamoyl phosphate metabolism in mitochondria of Neurospora crassa. Channeling and control by arginine. J. biol. Chem. 262, 7109
- DAWSON, A. G. (1979) Oxidation of cytosolic NADH formed during aerobic metabolism in mammalian cells. Trends Biochem. Sci. 4, 171.
- DEDMAN, J. R., PAYNE, D. M. and HARRIS, B. G. (1975) Increased proteolytic susceptibility of aldolase induced by actin binding. Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun. 65, 1170.
- DE DOMENECH, E., DOMENECH, C. E. and BLANCO, A. (1970) Distribution of lactate dehydrogenase isozymes in subcellular fractions of rat tissues. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 141, 147.
- DE DUVE, C. (1970) Is there a glycolytic particle? In Wennergren Symposium on Structure and Function of Oxidation-Reduction Enzymes, pp. 715-728. Wennergren Center, Stockholm.
- DENNIS, D. T. and GREEN, T. R. (1975) Soluble and particulate glycolysis in developing castor bean endosperm. Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun. 64, 970.
- DERANLEAU, D. A., BINKERT, TH. and BALLY, P. (1980) Estimation of the saturation function of bound fluorescent ligands from the intensity and anisotropy of the emission. J. theor. Biol. 86, 477.
- DE ROSA, G. and SWICK, R. W. (1975) Metabolic implications of the distribution of the alanine aminotransferase isoenzymes. J. biol. Chem. 250, 7961.
- DERR, R. F. and DERR, R. E. (1987) Control of flux by isozymes and alternate enzymes: application to horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase. Biochem. Archs 3, 453.
- DITTRICH, F. and NEUMANN, B. (1988) Crosslinking by reactive intermediates—a new principle for kinetic control of consecutive enzymatic reactions. Biol. Zbl. 107, 3.
- DORBANI, L., JANCSIK, V., LINDÉN, M., LETERRIER, J. F., NELSON, B. D. and RENDON, A. (1987) Subfractionation of the outer membrane of rat brain mitochondria: evidence for the existence of a domain containing the porin hexokinase complex. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 252, 188.
- DUGGLEBY, R. G. (1983) Determination of the kinetic properties of enzymes catalysing coupled reaction sequences. Biochim. biophys. Acta 744, 249.
- DULLY, C. C., BOCEK, R. M. and BEATTY, C. H. (1969) Presence of two or more glucose-6-phosphate pools in voluntary skeletal muscle and their sensitivity to insulin. Endocrinology 84, 855.
- DURRIEN, C., BERNIER-VALENTIN, F. and ROUSSET, B. (1987a) Binding of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase to microtubules. Molec. cell. Biochem. 74, 55.
- DURRIEN, C., BERNIER-VALENTIN, F. and ROUSSET, B. (1987b) Microtubules bind glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and modulate its enzyme activity and quaternary structure. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 252, 32.
- EASTERBY, J. S. (1973) Coupled enzyme assays: a general expression for the transient. Biochim. biophys. Acta 293, 552
- EASTERBY, J. S. (1981) A generalized theory of the transition time for sequential enzyme reactions. Biochem. J. 199, 155.
- EASTERBY, J. S. (1986) Application of the transient kinetic behaviour of coupled enzyme reactions to the analysis of

metabolic pathway dynamics. In *Dynamics of Biochemical Systems* (eds. S. DAMJANOVICH, T. KELETI and L. TRÓN), pp. 145–158. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and Elsevier, Amsterdam.

- EFTINK, M. R. and GHIRON, C. A. (1981) Fluorescence quenching studies with proteins. Analyt. Biochem. 114, 199.
 EHMAN, J. D. and HULTIN, H. O. (1973) Substrate inhibition of soluble and bound lactate dehydrogenase (isoenzyme 5). Archs Biochem. Biophys. 154, 471.
- EHRLICH, R. S. (1987) Absence of direct coenzyme transfer in an A B dehydrogenase system. Biochem. J. 248, 269.
- ELSASSER, W. M. (1969) What is theoretical biology? In *Theoretical Physics and Biology* (ed. M. MARAIS), p. 74. Elsevier, New York.
- ERICKSON-VIITANEN, S., VIITANEN, P., GEIGER, P. J., YANG, W. C. T. and BESSMAN, S. P. (1982a) Compartmentation of mitochondrial creatine phosphokinase. I. Direct demonstration of compartmentation with the use of labeled precursors. J. biol. Chem. 257, 14395.
- ERICKSON-VIITANEN, S., GEIGER, P. J., VIITANEN, P. and BESSMAN, S. P. (1982b) Compartmentation of mitochondrial creatine phosphokinase. II. The importance of the outer mitochondrial membrane for mitochondrial compartmentation. J. biol. Chem. 257, 14405.
- ERONINA, T. B., MURONETZ, V. I., NAGRADOVA, N. K., OSTROVSKAYA, M. V. and POGLAZOV, B. F. (1975) Effect of actin on the catalytic properties of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Biokhimiya* **48**, 401.
- ERNSTER, L. and KUYLENSTIERNA, B. (1970) Outer membrane of mitochondria. In Membranes of Mitochondria and Chloroplasts (ed. E. RACKER), pp. 172–212. Van Nostrand Reinhold, Princeton.
- FAHIEN, L. A. and KMIOTEK, E. (1979) Precipitation of complexes between glutamate dehydrogenase and mitochondrial enzymes. J. biol. Chem. 254, 5983.
- FAHIEN, L. A. and KMIOTEK, E. (1983) Complexes between mitochondrial enzymes and either citrate synthase or glutamate dehydrogenase. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 220, 386.
- FAHIEN, L. A. and SMITH, S. E. (1969) Studies of gluconeogenic mitochondrial enzymes V. The effect of transaminases on reactions catalyzed by glutamate dehydrogenase. *Archs Biochem. Biophys.* **135**, 136.
- FAHIEN, L. A. and SMITH, S. E. (1974) The enzyme-enzyme complex of transaminase and glutamate dehydrogenase. *J. biol. Chem.* **249**, 2696.
- FAHIEN, L. A., LIN-YU, J. H., SMITH, S. E. and HAPPY, J. M. (1971) Interactions between glutamate dehydrogenase, transaminases and keto acids. J. biol. Chem. 246, 7241.
- FAHIEN, L. A., HSU, S. L. and KMIOTEK, E. (1977) Effect of aspartate on complexes between glutamate dehydrogenase and various aminotransferases. J. biol. Chem. 252, 1250.
- FAHIEN, L. A., RUOHO, A. E. and KMIOTEK, E. (1978) A study of glutamate dehydrogenase-aminotransferase complexes with a bifunctional imidate. J. biol. Chem. 253, 5745.
- FAHIEN, L. A., KMIOTEK, E. and SMITH, L. (1979) Glutamate dehydrogenase malate dehydrogenase complex. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 192, 33.
- FAHIEN, L. A., KMIOTEK, E. H., MACDONALD, M. J., FIBICH, B. and MANDIC, M. (1988) Regulation of malate dehydrogenase activity by glutamate, citrate, α-ketoglutarate and multienzyme interaction. J. biol. Chem. 263, 10687.
- FELGNER, P. L., MESSER, J. L. and WILSON, J. E. (1979) Purification of a hexokinase-binding protein from the outer mitochondrial membrane. J. biol. Chem. 254, 4946.
- FELL, D. A. and SAURO, H. M. (1985) Metabolic control and its analysis. Eur. J. Biochem. 148, 555.
- FELL, D. A. and SNELL, K. (1988) Control analysis of mammalian serine biosynthesis. Feedback inhibition on the final step. *Biochem. J.* 256, 97.
- FLINT, H. J., TATESON, R. W., BARTHELMESS, I. B., PORTEOUS, D. J., DONACHIE, W. D. and KACSER, H. (1981) Control of the flux in the arginine pathway of *Neurospora crassa*. *Biochem. J.* 200, 231.
- FÖLDI, J. SZABOLCSI, G. and FRIEDRICH, P. (1973) Interaction of glycolytic enzymes: increase of the apparent molecular weight of aldolase in rabbit muscle extract. *Acta biochim. biophys. Acad. Sci. hung.* 8, 263.
- FONT, B., VIAL, D. C. and GAUTHERON, D. C. (1975) Intracellular and submitochondrial localization of pig heart hexokinase. *FEBS Lett.* 56, 24.
- FÖRSTER, M. E. (1988) Citric acid cycle as a "one-step" reaction. J. theor. Biol. 133, 1.
- FÖRSTER, T. (1951) Fluoreszenz Organischer Verbindungen. Vandenhoek und Ruprecht, Göttingen.
- FÖRSTER, T. (1965) Delocalized excitation and excitation transfer. In Modern Quantum Chemistry, Part III (ed. O. SINANOUGLU), pp. 93–137. Academic Press, New York.
- FRANCO, R., CENTELLES, J. J. and CANELA, E. I. (1988) Determination of the characteristics, properties and homogeneity of rat brain microsomes. Binding of lactate dehydrogenase, malate dehydrogenase and 5' nucleotides to microsomal membranes. *Biochem. Int.* 16, 689.
- FRIEDRICH, P. (1974) Dynamic compartmentation in soluble enzyme systems. Acta biochim. biophys. Acad. Sci. hung. 9, 159.
- FRIEDRICH, P. (1984) Supramolecular Enzyme Organization. Quaternary Structure and Beyond. Pergamon Press, Oxford and Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest.
- FRIEDRICH, P. (1985) Dynamic compartmentation in soluble multienzyme systems. In Organized Multienzyme Systems. Catalytic Properties (ed. G. R. WELCH), pp. 141–176. Academic Press, Orlando, London.
- FRIEDRICH, P. and HAJDU, J. (1987) An overview of supramolecular enzyme organization. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 15, 973.
- FRIEDRICH, P., APRÓ-KOVÁCS, A. V. and SOLTI, M. (1977) Study of metabolic compartmentation in erythrocyte glycolysis. FEBS Lett. 84, 183.
- FUJII, T. and SATO, M. (1975) Possible adsorption of aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase into the erythrocyte ghosts prepared under a hypotonic condition. J. clin. Chem. 3, 453.
- GAERTNER, F. H. (1978) Unique catalytic properties of enzyme clusters. Trends Biochem. Sci. 3, 63.
- GAVILANES, F., SALERNO, C. and FASELLA, P. (1981) Heterologous enzyme enzyme complex between D-fructose-1.6-bisphosphate aldolase and triosephosphate isomerase from *Ceratitis capitata*. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 660, 154.
- GENNIS, R. B. and CANTOR, C. R. (1972) Use of nonspecific dye labeling for singlet energy-transfer measurements in complex systems. A simple model. *Biochemistry* 11, 2509.

- GENNIS, L. S., GENNIS, R. B. and CANTOR, C. R. (1972) Singlet energy transfer studies on associating protein systems. Distance measurements on trypsin, alpha-chymotrypsin, and their protein inhibitors. *Biochemistry* 11, 2517.
- GERLACH, E., FLECKSTEIN, A., GROSS, E. and LÜBBEN, K. (1958) Intermediary phosphate metabolism of human erythrocytes: paper chromatographic studies with the use of P³²-labeled orthophosphate. *Pflügers Arch.* 266, 528.
- GERSON, N. D., PORTER, K. R. and TRUS, B. L. (1985) The cytoplasmic matrix: its volume and surface area and the diffusion of molecules through it. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 5030.
- GIERSCH, C. (1988a) Control analysis of metabolic networks. 1. Homogeneous functions and the summation theorems for control coefficients. Eur. J. Biochem. 174, 509.
- GIERSCH, C. (1988b) Control analysis of metabolic networks. 2. Total differentials and general formulation of the connectivity relations. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 174, 515.
- GIERSCH, C. (1988c) Control analysis of biochemical pathways: a novel procedure for calculating control coefficients, and an additional theorem for branched pathways. J. theor. Biol. 134, 451.
- GILBERT, G. A. (1955) Characterization and physical properties. General discussion. Disc. Faraday Soc. 20, 68. GINSBURG, A. and STADTMAN, E. R. (1970) Multienzyme systems. A. Rev. Biochem. 39, 429.
- GIROTTI, A. W. (1976) Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in the isolated human erythrocyte membrane: selective displacement by bilirubin. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 173, 210.
- GLASSTONE, S., LAIDLER, K. J. and EYRING, H. (1941) The Theory of Rate Processes. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- GLUND, K. and WALTHER, R. (1982) Enzymaggregation und Metabolitkompartimentierung. Biol. Rundsch. 29, 205.
- GOLDBETER, A. and KOSHLAND JR., D. E. (1982) Sensitivity amplification in biochemical systems. Q. Rev. Biophys. 15, 555.
- GOLDSTEIN, B. N. and IVANOVA, A. N. (1987) Hormonal regulation of 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase fructose-2,6bisphosphatase: kinetic models. *FEBS Lett.* **217**, 212.
- GONTERO, B., CÁRDENAS, M. L. and RICARD, J. (1988) A functional five-enzyme complex of chloroplasts involved in the Calvin cycle. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **173**, 437.
- GORRINGE, D. M. and MOSES, V. (1980) Organization of the glycolytic enzymes in *Escherichia coli*. Int. J. biol. Macromol. 2, 161.
- Gors, R. E. and BESSMAN, S. P. (1974) The functional compartmentation of mitochondrial hexokinase. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 163, 7.
- GOTS, R. E., GORIN, F. A. and BESSMAN, S. P. (1972) Kinetic enhancement of bound hexokinase activity by mitochondrial respiration. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 49, 1249.
- GOURLEY, D. R. H. (1952) The role of adenosine triphosphate in the transport of phosphate in the human erythrocyte. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 40, 1.
- GRAZI, E. and TROMBETTA, G. (1980) The aldolase-substrate intermediates and their interaction with glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in a reconstructed glycolytic system. Eur. J. Biochem. 107, 369.
- GREEN, D. E., MURER, E., HULTIN, H. O., RICHARDSON, S. H., SALMON, B., BRIERLEY, G. P. and BAUM, H. (1965) Association of integrated metabolic pathways with membranes. I. Glycolytic enzymes of red blood corpuscle and yeast. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 112, 635.
- GROEN, A. K., VAN DER MEER, R., WESTERHOFF, H. V., WANDERS, R. J. A., AKERBOOM, T. P. M. and TAGER, J. M. (1982a) Control of metabolic fluxes. In *Metabolic Compartmentation* (ed. H. SIES), pp. 9–37. Academic Press, New York.
- GROEN, A. K., WANDERS, R. J. A., WESTERHOFF, H. V., VAN DER MEER, R. and TAGER, J. M. (1982b) Quantification of the contribution of various steps to the control of mitochondrial respiration. J. biol. Chem. 257, 2754.
- GROEN, A. K., VERVOORN, R. C., VAN DER MEER, R. and TAGER, J. M. (1983) Control of gluconeogenesis in rat liver cells. I. Kinetics of the individual enzymes and the effect of glucagon. J. biol. Chem. 258, 14346.
- GROEN, A. K., VAN ROERMUND, C. W. T., VERVOORN, R. C. and TAGER, J. M. (1986) Control of gluconeogenesis in rat liver cells. Flux control coefficients of the enzymes in the gluconeogenic pathway in the absence and presence of glucagon. *Biochem. J.* 237, 379.
- GÜTTLER, F. and CLAUSEN, J. (1967) Cellular compartmentalization of lactate dehydrogenase isoenzymes. *Enzymol. biol. Clin.* **8**, 456.
- HAEST, C. W. M. (1982) Interactions between membrane skeleton proteins and the intrinsic domain of the erythrocyte membrane. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 694, 331.
- HALPER, L. A. and SRERE, P. A. (1977) Interaction between citrate synthase and mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase in the presence of polyethylene glycol. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 184, 529.
- HAMMES, G. G. (1981) Fluorescence methods. In *Protein-Protein Interactions* (eds. C. FRIEDEN and L. W. NICHOL), pp. 257–287. Wiley Interscience Publishers, New York, Chichester, Brisbane, Toronto.
- HAMMOND, D. J., AMAN, R. A. and WANG, C. C. (1985) The role of compartmentation and glycerol kinase in the synthesis of ATP within glycosome of *Trypanosoma brucei*. J. biol. Chem. **260**, 15646.
- HARRINGTON, W. F. and KEGELES, G. (1973) Pressure effects in ultracentrifugation of interacting systems. Meth. Enzymol. 27, 306.
- HARRIS, S. J. and WINZOR, D. J. (1985) Effect of thermodynamic nonideality on the subcellular distribution of enzymes: adsorption of aldolase to muscle myofibrils. *Archs Biochem. Biophys.* 243, 598.
- HARRIS, S. J. and WINZOR, D. J. (1987) Enzyme kinetic evidence of active-site involvement in the interaction between aldolase and muscle myofibrils. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 911, 121.
- HART, D. T., BAUDHUIN, P., OPPERDOES, F. R. and DE DUVE, C. (1987) Biogenesis of the glycosome in *Trypanosoma* brucei: the synthesis, translocation and turnover of glycosomal polypeptides. *EMBO J.* 6, 1403.
- HEINRICH, R. and RAPOPORT, T. A. (1973) Linear theory of enzymatic chains; its application for the analysis of the crossover theorem and of the glycolysis of human erythrocytes. *Acta biol. Med. Germ.* **31**, 479.
- HEINRICH, R. and RAPOPORT, T. A. (1974a) A linear steady-state treatment of enzymatic chains: general properties, control and effector strength. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 42, 89.
- HEINRICH, R. and RAPOPORT, T. A. (1974b) A linear steady-state treatment of enzymatic chains. Critique of the crossover theorem and a general procedure to identify interaction sites with an effector. Eur. J. Biochem. 42, 97.

- HEINRICH, R. and RAPOPORT, T. A. (1983) The utility of mathematical models for the understanding of metabolic systems. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 11, 31.
- HEINRICH, R., RAPOPORT, S. M. and RAPOPORT, T. A. (1977) Metabolic regulation and mathematical models. *Prog. Biophys. molec. Biol.* **32**, 1.
- HEINRICH, R., HOLZHÜTTER, H.-G. and SCHUSTER, S. (1987) A theoretical approach to the evolution and structural design of enzymatic networks; linear enzymatic chains, branched pathways and glycolysis of erythrocytes. Bull. math. Biol. 49, 539.
- HESS, B. and BOITEUX, A. (1972) Heterologous protein interactions. Heterologous enzyme-enzyme interactions. In *Protein Protein Interaction* (eds. R. JAENICKE and E. HELMREICH), pp. 271–297. Springer Verlag, Berlin. Heidelberg, New York.
- HESS, B. and WURSTER, B. (1970) Transient time of the pyruvate kinase-lactate dehydrogenase system of rabbit muscle in vitro. FEBS Lett. 9, 73.
- HESS, B., BOITEUX, A. and KRÜGER, J. (1979) Cooperation of glycolytic enzymes Adv. Enz. Reg. 7, 149.
- HIGASHI, T., RICHARDS, C. S. and UYEDA, K. (1979) The interaction of phosphofructokinase with erythrocyte membranes. J. biol. Chem. 254, 9542.
- HIGGINS, J. (1963) Analysis of sequential reactions. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 108, 305.
- HIGGINS, J. (1965) Dynamics and control in cellular reactions. In *Control of Energy Metabolism* (eds. B. CHANCE, R. W. EASTABROOK and J. R. WILLIAMSON), pp. 13–46. Academic Press, New York.
- HILL, T. L. (1985) Cooperativity Theory in Biochemistry. Springer Verlag, New York, Heidelberg.
- HOFER, H. W., GERLACH, G., BIRKEL, G. and KIRSCHENLOHR, H. L. (1987) The possible significance of interactions between soluble proteins in skeletal muscle. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 15, 982.
- HOFMEYR, J. H. S. (1986) Steady-state modelling of metabolic pathways: A guide for the prospective simulator. *Cabios Rev.* **2**, 5.
- HOFMEYR, J. H. S., KACSER, H. and VAN DER MERWE, K. J. (1986) Metabolic control analysis of moiety-conserved cycles. Eur. J. Biochem. 155, 631.
- HOHORST, H., KREUTZ, F. H. and BÜCHER, TH. (1959) Über Metabolitgehalte und Metabolitkonzentrationen in der Leber der Ratte. *Biochem. Z.* **332**, 18.
- HOLMS, W. H. (1986) The central metabolic pathways of *Escherichia coli*: relationship between flux and control at a branch point, efficiency of conversion to biomass, and excretion of acetate. *Curr. Top. cell. Reg.* **28**, 69.
- HOLMS, W. H. (1987) Control of flux through the citric acid cycle and the glyoxylate bypass in *Escherichia coli*. *Biochem. Soc. Symp.* 54, 17.
- HOLZER, H., SCHULTZ, G. and LYNEN, F. (1956) Bestimmung des Quotienten DPNH/DPN in lebenden Hefezellen durch Analyse stationärer Alkohol- und Azetaldehyd-Konzentrationen. *Biochem. Z.* 328, 252.
- HORECKER, B. L., MELLONI, E. and PONTREMOLI, S. (1981) Aldolase and fructose bisphosphatase: key enzymes in the control of gluconeogenesis and glycolysis. *Curr. Top. cell. Reg.* **18**, 181.
- HÜBSCHER, G., MAYER, R. I. and HANSEN, H. J. M. (1971) Glycolytic enzymes as a multienzyme system. Bioenergetics 2, 115.
- HUCHO, F. (1975) The pyruvate dehydrogenase multienzyme complex. Angew. Chem. Int. Edn 14, 591.
- HUE, L. (1982) Futile cycles and regulation of metabolism. In *Metabolic Compartmentation* (ed. H. SIES), pp. 71-97. Academic Press, New York.
- HUMPHREYS, L., REID, S. and MASTERS, C. (1986) Studies on the topographical localization of the binding sites for substrate and for actin on the enzymes, glyceraldehyde-phosphate dehydrogenase and phosphofructokinase. *Int. J. Biochem.* 18, 445.
- HUSKINS, K. R., BERNHARD, S. A. and DAHLQUIST, F. W. (1982) Halibut muscle 3-phospho-glycerate kinase. Chemical and physical properties of the enzyme and its substrate complexes. *Biochemistry* 21, 4180.
- IKKAI, T., MIHASHI, K. and KOUYAMA, T. (1980) Pulse fluorimetric study of labelled actin-DNase I complex. *FEBS Lett.* **109**, 216.
- JABLONSKI, A. (1960) On the notion of emission anisotropy. Bull. Acad. pol. Sci., Ser. Sci. math. Astr. Phys. 8, 259.
 JACOBSON, K. and WOJCIESZYN, J. (1984) The translational mobility of substances within the cytoplasmic matrix. Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81, 6747.
- JAENICKE, R. and HELMREICH, E. (eds.) (1972) Protein Protein Interaction. Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.
- JANCSIK, V. and HORVÁTH, L. (1984) Interaction of cytoplasmic glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase with liposomes. Biochim. biophys. Acta 820, 283.
- JANCSIK, V. and KELETI, T. (1986) On the NADPH dependent reaction of cytoplasmic *sn*-glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Biochem. Int.* 13, 819.
- JANCSIK, V., KELETI, T., BICZÓK, GY., NAGY, M., SZABÓ, Z. and WOLFRAM, E. (1976) Kinetic properties of aldolase in polymer solutions. J. molec. Catal. 1, 173.
- JANCSIK, V., KELETI, T., NAGY, M., FENYVESI, É., BARTHA, A., RUDAS, A., KOVÁCS, P. and WOLFRAM, E. (1979) Effect of soluble polymers on the kinetic properties of aldolase and D-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. J. molec. Catal. 6, 41.
- JANCSIK, V., LINDÉN, M., DORBANI, L., RENDON, A. and NELSON, B. D. (1988) Studies of the relationship between the inner and outer membranes of rat liver mitochondria as determined by subfractionation with digitonin. *Archs Biochem. Biophys.* 264, 295.
- JOVIN, T. M. (1979) Fluorescence polarization and energy transfer: theory and application in flow systems. In *Flow Cytometry and Sorting* (eds. M. MELAMED, P. F. MULLANEY and M. L. MENDELSOHN), pp. 716–734. Wiley and Sons, New York.
- JUCKES, I. R. M. (1971) Fractionation of proteins and viruses with polyethylene glycol. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 229, 535.
- KACSER, H. (1983) The control of enzyme systems in vivo. Elasticity analysis of the steady-state. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 11, 35.
- KACSER, H. and BURNS, J. A. (1973) The control of flux. In *Rate Control of Biological Processes*, pp. 65–104. Cambridge: Univ. Press. Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol. 27.

KACSER, H. and BURNS, J. A. (1979) Molecular democracy: who shares the control? Biochem. Soc. Trans. 7, 1149.

- KACSER, H. and PORTEOUS, J. W. (1987) Control of metabolism: what do we have to measure? *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **12**, 5.
- KALANT, N. and BREITNER, R. (1971) Intracellular compartmentation of glycolytic phosphate esters. J. biol. Chem. 246, 504.
- KÁLMÁN, M. and BOROSS, L. (1982) Characterization of enzyme-enzyme interaction using an affinity batch system. Biochim. biophys. Acta 704, 272.
- KÁLMÁN, M., NURIDSÁNY, M. and OVÁDI, J. (1980) Substrate-induced dissociation of glyceraldehyde-phosphate dehydrogenase detected by affinity chromatography. Study of subunit interactions by affinity sorption. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 614, 285.
- KAMP, F., WELCH, G. R. and WESTERHOFF, H. V. (1988) Energy coupling and Hill cycles in enzymatic processes. Cell Biophys. 12, 201.
- KANT, J. A. and STECK, T. L. (1973) Specificity in the association of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with isolated human erythrocyte membranes. J. biol. Chem. 248, 8457.
- KARADSHEH, N. S. and UYEDA, K. (1977) Changes in allosteric properties of phosphofructokinase bound to erythrocyte membranes. J. biol. Chem. 252, 7418.
- KARKHOFF-SCHWEIZER, R. and KNULL, H. R. (1987) Demonstration of tubulin-glycolytic enzyme interactions using a novel electrophoretic approach. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* **146**, 827.
- KARPATKIN, S. (1967) Soluble and particulate hexokinase of frog skeletal muscle. J. biol. Chem. 242, 3525.
- KELETI, T. (1978) Thermodynamic approach to enzyme action, regulation and evolution. In New Trends in the Description of the General Mechanism and Regulation of Enzymes (eds. S. DAMJANOVICH, P. ELÖDI and B. SOMOGYI), pp. 107–130. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest.
- KELETI, T. (1983) Errors in the evaluation of Arrhenius and van't Hoff plots. Biochem. J. 209, 277.
- KELETI, T. (1984) Channelling in enzyme complexes. In *Dynamics of Biochemical Systems* (eds. J. RICARD and A. CORNISH-BOWDEN), pp. 103–114. Plenum Press, New York.
- KELETI, T. (1986a) Basic Enzyme Kinetics. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest.
- KELETI, T. (1986b) Energetic consequence of enzyme enzyme interactions. In *The Organization of Cell Metabolism* (eds. G. R. WELCH, and J. S. CLEGG), pp. 165-168. Plenum Press, New York.
- KELETI, T. (1986c) Two rules of enzyme kinetics for reversible Michaelis-Menten mechanisms. FEBS Lett. 208, 109.
- KELETI, T. (1988) Kinetic power: basis of enzyme efficiency, specificity and evolution. J. molec Catal. 47, 271.
- KELETI, T. (1989a) Coupled reactions and channelling: their role in the control of metabolism. In Control of Metabolic Processes (ed. A. CORNISH-BOWDEN), Plenum Press, New York, London, Washington, Boston, in press.
- KELETI, T. (1989b) Kinetic power, a key parameter of metabolic control in homogeneous and heterogeneous systems. Nova Acta Leopoldina, in press.
- KELETI, T. and OVÁDI, J. (1988) Control of metabolism by dynamic macromolecular interactions. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 29, 1.
- KELETI, T. and VÉRTESSY, B. (1986) Kinetic power and theory of control. In *Dynamics of Biochemical Systems* (eds. S. DAMJANOVICH, T. KELETI and L. TRÓN), pp. 3–10. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- KELETI, T. and WELCH, G. R. (1984) The evolution of enzyme kinetic power. Biochem. J. 223, 299.
- KELETI, T., BATKE, J., OVÁDI, J., JANCSIK, V. and BARTHA, F. (1977) Macromolecular interactions in enzyme regulation. Adv. Enz. Reg. 15, 233.
- KELETI, T., JANCSIK, V., NAGY, M. and WOLFRAM, E. (1978) Interaction of enzymes with synthetic polymers. In Enzyme Engineering, Vol. 4 (eds. G. B. BROUN, L. B. MANECKE and L. B. WINGARD, JR.), pp. 137–139. Plenum Press, New York.
- KELETI, T., VÉRTESSY, B. and WELCH, G. R. (1988) Perfection of substrate channelling in interacting enzyme systems: energetics and evolution. J. theor. Biol. 135, 75.
- KELL, D. B. (1987) Forces, fluxes and the control of microbial growth and metabolism. J. gen. Microbiol. 133, 1651.
- KELL, D. B. and WESTERHOFF, H. V. (1985) Catalytic facilitation and membrane bioenergetics. In Organized Multienzyme Systems: Catalytic Properties (ed. G. R. WELCH), pp. 63–139. Academic Press, New York.
- KELL, D. B. and WESTERHOFF, H. V. (1986) Metabolic control theory: its role in microbiology and biotechnology. FEBS Microbiol. Rev. 39, 305.
- KEMPNER, E. S. and MILLER, J. H. (1968) The molecular biology of *Euglena gratilis*. IV. Cellular stratification by centrifuging. *Expl Cell Res.* 51, 141.
- KEOKITICHAI, S. and WRIGGLESWORTH, J. M. (1980) Association of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with the membrane of the intact human erythrocyte. *Biochem. J.* 187, 837.
- KIM, Y. T., KWOK, F. and CHURCHICH, J. E. (1988) Interacting of pyridoxal kinase and aspartate aminotransferase emission anisotropy and compartmentation studies. J. biol. Chem. 263, 13712.
- KIRSCHNER, M. W. and SCHACHMAN, H. K. (1971) Conformational changes in proteins as measured by different sedimentation studies. I. A technique for measuring small changes in sedimentation coefficient. *Biochemistry* 10, 1900.
- KISPÁL, GY., SÜMEGI, B. and ALKONYI, I. (1986) Isolation and characterization of 3-hydroxyacyl Coenzyme A dehydrogenase-binding protein from pig heart inner mitochondrial membrane. J. biol. Chem. 261, 14209.
- KLIMAN, H. J. and STECK, T. L. (1980) Association of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with the human red cell membrane. A kinetic analysis. J. biol. Chem. 255, 6314.
- KLINGENBERG, M., VON HOFEN, H. and WENSKE, G. (1965) Hydrogen pathways in mitochondria. II. The reductive amination of ketoglutarate. Analysis of pathways, stochiometry and kinetics. *Biochem. Z.* 343, 452.
- KNOWLES, J. R. (1976) Whither enzyme mechanisms? FEBS Lett. 62 (Suppl.), E53.
- KNULL, H. R. (1978) Association of glycolytic enzymes with particulate fractions from nerve endings. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 522, 1.
- KNULL, H. R. (1980) Compartmentation of glycolytic enzymes in nerve endings as determined by glutaraldehyde fixation. J. biol. Chem. 255, 6439.

- KNULL, H. R., TAYLOR, W. F. and WELLS, W. W. (1970) Effects of energy metabolism on in vivo distribution of hexokinase in brain. J. biol. Chem. 248, 5414.
- KOSHLAND JR., D. E., NÉMETHY, G. and FILMER, D. (1966) Comparison of experimental binding data and theoretical models in proteins containing subunits. *Biochemistry* 5, 365.
- KREBS, H. A. and VEECH, R. L. (1969) Equilibrium relations between pyridine nucleotides and adenine nucleotides and their roles in the regulation of metabolic processes. Adv. Enz. Reg. 7, 397.
- KUCHEL, P. W. and ROBERTS, D. V. (1974) The behaviour of coupled enzyme systems in the transient and steadystate regions of the reaction. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* **364**, 181.
- KUCHEL, P. W., NICHOL, L. W. and JEFFREY, P. D. (1974) Steady state kinetics of consecutive enzyme catalysed reactions involving single substrates: procedures for the interpretation of coupled assays. J. theor. Biol. 48, 39.
- KURGANOV, B. I. and LOBODA, N. I. (1979) Regulation of enzyme activity in adsorptive enzyme systems. J. theor. Biol. 79, 281.
- KURGANOV, B. I., KLINOV, S. V. and SUGROBOVA, N. P. (1978) Regulation of enzyme activity in adsorptive enzyme systems. In New Trends in the Description of the General Mechanism and Regulation of Enzymes (eds. S. DAMJANOVICH, P. ELÖDI and B. SOMOGYI), pp. 81–106. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest.
- KURGANOV, B. I., SUGROBOVA, N. P. and MIL'MAN, L. S. (1985) Supramolecular organization of glycolytic enzymes. J. theor. Biol. 116, 509.
- KUTER, M. R., MASTERS, C. J., WALSH, T. P. and WINZOR, D. J. (1981) Effect of ionic strength on the interaction between aldolase and actin-containing filaments. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 212, 306.
- KUTER, M. R., MASTERS, C. J. and WINZOR, D. J. (1983) Equilibrium partition studies of the interaction between aldolase and myofibrils. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 225, 384.
- KVASSMAN, J., PETTERSSON, G. and RYDE-PETTERSSON, U. (1988) Mechanism of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate transfer from aldolase to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **172**, 427.
- KWON, T. W. and OLCOTT, H. S. (1965) Augmentation of aldolase activity by glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 19, 300.
- LANDAU, B. R. and SIMS, E. A. H. (1967) On the existence of two separate pools of glucose-6-phosphate in rat diaphragm. J. biol. Chem. 242, 163.
- LANZARA, V. and GRAZI, E. (1987) On a Mg²⁺-dependent interaction of actin with glyceraldehyde-phosphate dehydrogenase. The fundamental role of KCl in the organization of F-actin. *FEBS Lett.* **221**, 387.
- LANZARA, V., CERVELLATI, F. and GRAZI, E. (1988) On the interaction between xanthine oxidase and actin. Biochem. Int. 17, 217.
- LASKOWSKI, M. and SEALOCK, R. W. (1971) Protein proteinase inhibitors-molecular aspects. Enzymes 3, 375.
- LATZKOVITS, L., SZENTISTVÁNYI, I. and FAJSZI, CS. (1972) Tracer kinetic analysis of phosphate incorporation into erythrocytes in vitro. Acta biochim. biophys. Acad. Sci. hung. 7, 55.
- LEE, L. L. and LEE, C. J. (1987) Thermal stability of proteins in the presence of poly (ethylene glycols). *Biochemistry* **26**, 7813.
- LETKO, G. and BOHNENSACK, R. (1975) Further characterization of the association of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with reticulocyte membrane. Acta biol. Med. germ. 34, 1145.
- LIAO, J. C. and LIGHTFOOT JR., E. N. (1987) Extending the quasi-steady state concept to analysis of metabolic network. J. theor. Biol. 126, 253.
- LING, G. N. (1969) A new model for the living cell: A summary of the theory and recent experimental evidence in its support. Int. Rev. Cytol. 26, 1.
- LIOU, R. S. and ANDERSON, S. (1980) Activation of rabbit muscle phosphofructokinase by F-actin and reconstituted thin filaments. *Biochemistry* 19, 2684.
- LLEWELLYN, D. J. and SMITH, G. D. (1978) An evaluation of active enzyme centrifugation as a zonal and boundary technique by the analysis of simulated data. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 190, 483.
- LUTHER, M. A. and LEE, J. C. (1986) The role of phosphorylation in the interaction of rabbit muscle phosphofructokinase with F-actin. J. biol. Chem. 261, 1753.
- LYUBAREV, A. E. and KURGANOV, B. I. (1987) Nadmolekul'arnaya organizatsia fermentov tsikła trikarbonovih kislot. *Molec. Biol.* 21, 1286.
- MACIOSZEK, J. and ANDERSON, L. E. (1987) Changing kinetic properties of the two-enzyme phosphoglycerate kinase/NADP-linked glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase couple from pea chloroplasts during photosynthetic induction. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 892, 185.
- MACNAB, R., MOSES, V. and MOWBRAY, J. (1973) Evidence for metabolic compartmentation in *Escherichia coli. Eur.* J. Biochem. 34, 15.
- MANLEY, E. R., WEBSTER, T. A. and SPIVEY, H. O. (1980) K inetics of the coupled aspartate aminotransferase-malate dehydrogenase reactions and instability of oxaloacetate on anion-exchange resin. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 205, 380.
- MANSSON, M. O., SIEGBAHN, N. and MOSBACH, K. (1983) Site-to-site directed immobilization of enzymes with bis-NAD analogues. Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80, 1487.
- MARCO, R., PASTANA, A., SEBASTIAN, J. and SOLS, A. (1974) Oxaloacetate metabolic crossroads in liver. Enzyme compartmentation and regulation of gluconeogenesis. *Molec. cell. Biochem.* **3**, 53.
- MARFTZKI, D., GROTH, J., TSAMALOUKAS, A. G., GRÜNDEL, M., KRÜGER, S. and RAPOPORT, S. M. (1974) The membrane association and dissociation of human glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase under various conditions of hemolysis. *FEBS Lett.* 39, 83.
- MARETZKY, D., REIMANN, B. and RAPOPORT, S. M. (1989) A reappraisal of the binding of cytosolic enzymes to erythrocyte membranes. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 14, 93.
- MASTERS, C. J. (1977) Metabolic control and the microenvironment. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 12, 75.
- MASTERS, C. J. (1978) Interactions between soluble enzymes and subcellular structure. Trends Biochem. Sci. 3, 206.
- MASTERS, C. J. (1981) Interactions between soluble enzymes and subcellular structure. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 11, 105.
- MASTERS, C. J. and HOLMES, R. S. (1975) Hemoglobin, Isoenzymes and Tissue Differentiation. North-Holland, Amsterdam.

- MASTERS, C. J. and WINZOR. D. J. (1981) Physicochemical evidence against the concept of an interaction between aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 209, 185.
- MASTERS, C. J., WINZOR, D. J. and NICHOL, L. W. (1981) Binding of aldolase to actin-containing filaments. *Biochem. J.* **195**, 297.
- MASTERS, C. J., REID, S. and DON, M. (1987) Glycolysis—new concept in an old pathway. *Molec. cell. Biochem.* **76**, 3.
- MASTRO, A. M., BABICH, M. A., TAYLOR, W. D. and KEITH, A. D. (1984) Diffusion of a small molecule in the cytoplasm of mammalian cells. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 3414.
- MATTIASSON, B. and MOSBACH, K. (1971) Studies on a matrix-bound three-enzyme system. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 235, 253.
- MAZAT, J.-P., JEAN-BART, E., RIGOULET, M. and GUÉRIN, B. (1986) Control of oxidative phosphorylations in yeast mitochondria. Role of phosphate carrier. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 849, 7.
- MAYER, R. J. and HÜBSCHER, G. (1971) Mitochondrial hexokinase from small-intestinal mucosa and brain. Biochem. J. 124, 491.
- MCCLURE, W. R. (1969) A kinetic analysis of coupled enzyme assays. Biochemistry 8, 2782.
- MCDANIEL, C. F. and KIRTLEY, M. E. (1975) Cooperativity in the interaction of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase with erythrocyte membranes. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 65, 1196.
- MCDANIEL, C. F., KIRTLEY, M. E. and TANNER, M. J. A. (1974) The interaction of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with human erythrocyte membranes. J. biol. Chem. 249, 6478.
- MELNICK, R. L. and HULTIN, H. O. (1973a) Studies on the nature of the intracellular localization of lactate dehydrogenase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in chicken skeletal muscle. J. cell. Physiol. 81, 139.
- MELNICK, R. L. and HULTIN, H. O. (1973b) On the existence of a complex of glycolytic enzymes. *Bioenergetics* 5, 107.
- MERZ, J. M., WEBSTER, T. A., APPLEMAN, J. R., MANLEY, E. R., YU, H.-A., DATTA, A., ACKERSON, B. J. and SPIVEY, H. O. (1987) Polyethylene glycol-induced heteroassociation of malate dehydrogenase and citrate synthase. *Archs Biochem. Biophys.* 258, 132.
- MICHALAK, K., GUTOWICZ, J. and MODRZYCKA, T. (1987) Fluorescent probe studies on binding of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase to phosphatidyl-inositol liposomes. Further evidence for conformational changes. FEBS Lett. 219, 233.
- MINTON, A. P. (1987) Biorecognition in crowded media. IIGBT Science Newsletter 2, 2.
- MISSET, O., BOS, O. J. M. and OPPERDOES, F. R. (1986) Glycolytic enzymes of *Trypanosoma brucei*. Eur. J. Biochem. 157, 441.
- MITCHELL, C. D., MITCHELL, W. B. and HANAHAN, D. J. (1965) Enzyme and hemoglobin retention in human erythrocyte stroma. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 104, 348.
- MONOD, J., WYMAN, J. and CHANGEUX, J. P. (1965) On the nature of allosteric transitions: a plausible model. J. molec. Biol. 12, 88.
- MOORHEAD, G. B. G. and PLAXTON, W. C. (1988) Binding of glycolytic enzymes to a particulate fraction in carrot and sugar beet storage roots. Dependence on metabolic state. *Plant Physiol.* 86, 348.
- MORIYAMA, R. and MAKINO, S. (1987) Interaction of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with the cytoplasmic role of band 3 from bovine erythrocyte membrane: the mode of association and identification of the binding site of band 3 polypeptide. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 256, 606.
- MORTON, D. J., CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS, C. J. (1977) An electron microscope study of the interaction between fructose diphosphate aldolase and actin containing filaments. J. cell. Biol. 74, 1016.
- MOSBACH, K. (ed.) (1977) Immobilized Enzymes. Meth. Enzymol. 44, 1.
- MOSBACH, K. and MATTIASSON, B. (1970) Matrix-bound enzymes. II. Studies on a matrix-bound two-enzymesystem. Acta chem. scand. 24, 2093.
- Moses, V. (1978) Compartmentation of glycolysis in E. coli. In Microenvironments and Metabolic Compartmentation (eds. P. A. SRERE and R. W. ESTABROOK), pp. 169-186. Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London.
- MOSES, V. and LONBERG-HOLM, K. K. (1966) The study of metabolic compartmentalization. J. theor. Biol. 10, 336. MOSES, V., HOLM-HANSEN, O. and CALVIN, M. (1959) Nonphotosynthetic fixation of carbon dioxide by three microorganisms. J. Bacteriol. 77, 70.
- MOWBRAY, J. and MOSES, V. (1976) The tentative identification in *Escherichia coli* of a multienzyme complex with glycolytic activity. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **66**, 25.
- MURAMATSU, N. and MINTON, A. P. (1988) Tracer diffusion of globular proteins in concentrated protein solution. Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85, 2984.
- MURONETZ, V. I., GOLOVINA, T. O. and NAGRADOVA, N. K. (1982) The use of immobilization for the study of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Immobilized dimers of the enzyme. *Biokhimiya* 47, 3.
- MURONETZ, V. I., ASHMARINA, L. I. and NAGRADOVA, N. K. (1986) Vliyanie belok-belkovih vzaymodeystvii na kataliticheskie svoystva gliceral'degid-3-fosfat degidrogenazi. *Biokhimiya* **51**, 328.
- MURPHY, M. P. and BRAND, M. D. (1987) The control of electron flux through cytochrome oxidase. *Biochem. J.* 243, 499.
- MURTHY, S. N. P., LIU, T., KAUL, R. K., KÖHLER, H. and STECK, T. L. (1981) The aldolase-binding site of the human erythrocyte membrane is at the NH₂ terminus of Band 3. J. biol. Chem. **256**, 11203.
- NAGRADOVA, N. K., ASHMARINA, L. I., ASRYANTS, R. A., CHEREDNIKOVA, T. V., GOLOVINA, T. O. and MURONETZ, V. I. (1981) Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase: the role of subunit interactions in enzyme functioning. *Adv. Enz. Reg.* 19, 171.
- NAZARYAN, K. B. and BATKE, J. (1989) in preparation.
- NEUZIL, J., DANIELSON, H., WELCH, G. R. and OVÁDI, J. (1989) Cooperative effects of fructose bisphosphate and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase on aldolase action. *Biochim. biophys. Acta*, submitted.
- NEWSHOLME, E. A. and CRABTREE, B. (1973) Metabolic aspects of enzyme activity regulation. Symp. Soc. Expl Biol. 27, 429.

- NEWSHOLME, E. A. and CRABTREE, B. (1976) Substrate cycles in metabolic regulation and in heat generation. Biochem. Soc. Symp. 41, 61.
- NEWSHOLME, E. A. and START, C. (1973) Regulation in Metabolism, pp. 132–137 and pp. 316–323. John Wiley, London, New York.
- NEWSHOLME, E. A., CHALLIS, R. A. J. and CRABTREE, B. (1984) Substrate cycles: their role in improving sensitivity in metabolic control. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 9, 277.
- NICHOL, L. W., KUCHEL, P. W. and JEFFREY, P. D. (1974a) The detection and consequences of association of two enzymes involved in catalyzing consecutive reactions. *Biophys. Chem.* 2, 354.
- NICHOL, L. W., OGSTON, A. G., WINZOR, D. J. and SAWYER, W. H. (1974b) Evaluation of equilibrium constants by affinity chromatography. *Biochem. J.* 143, 435.
- NIEHAUS, W. G. and HAMMERSTEDT, R. H. (1976) Mode of orthophosphate uptake and ATP labeling by mammalian cells. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 443, 515.
- NORTH, A. M. (1964) The Collision Theory of Chemical Reactions in Liquids. Wiley, New York.
- OGSTON, A. G. (1937) Some observations on mixtures of serum albumin and globulin. Biochem. J. 31, 1952.
- OKAMOTO, H., TIPAYANG, P. and INADA, Y. (1980) Fibrin membrane endowed with biological function. V.
- Multienzyme complex of uricase, catalase, allantoinase and allantoicase. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* **611**, 35. OPPERDOES, F. R. (1987) Compartmentation of carbohydrate metabolism in *Trypanosomas. A. Rev. Microbiol.* **41**, 127
- OPPERDOES, F. R. (1988) Glycosomes may provide clues to the import of peroxisomal proteins. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 13, 255.
- OPPERDOES, F. R. and BORST, P. (1977) Localization of nine glycolytic enzymes in a microbody-like organelle in *Trypanosoma brucei*: the glycosome. *FEBS Lett.* **80**, 360.
- OPPERDOES, F. R., BAUDHUIN, P., COPPENS, I., DE ROE, C., EDWARDS, S. W., WEIJERS, P. J. and MISSET, O. (1984) Purification, morphogenetic analysis and characterization of the glycosomes (microbodies) of the protozoan hemoflagellate *Trypanosoma brucei*. J. cell. Biol. **98**, 1178.
- OROSZ, F. and Ovádi, J. (1986) Dynamic interactions of enzymes involved in triosephosphate metabolism. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **160**, 615.
- OROSZ, F. and OVADI, J. (1987) A simple approach to identify the mechanism of intermediate transfer; enzyme system related to triosephosphate metabolism. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* **915**, 53.
- OROSZ, F., NURIDSÁNY, M. and OVÁDI, J. (1986) Quantitative determination of triosephosphates during enzymatic reaction by high performance liquid chromatography: effect of isomerase on aldolase activity. J. Biochem. biophys. Meth. 13, 325.
- OROSZ, F., CHRISTOVA, T. Y. and OVÁDI, J. (1987) Aldolase decreases the dissociation-induced inactivation of muscle phosphofructokinase. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 147, 1121.
- OROSZ, F., CHRISTOVA, T. Y. and OVÁDI, J. (1988a) Modulation of phosphofructokinase action by macromolecular interactions. Quantitative analysis of phosphofructokinase-calmodulin-aldolase interacting system. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 957, 293.
- OROSZ, F., CHRISTOVA, T. Y. and OVADI, J. (1988b) Functional in vitro test of calmodulin antagonism. Effect of drugs on interaction between calmodulin and glycolytic enzymes. *Molec. Pharmac.* 33, 678.
- OTTAWAY, J. H. (1979) Sequestration of metabolites: Insights into metabolic control. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 7, 1161.
 OTTAWAY, J. H. and MOWBRAY, J. (1977) The role of compartmentation in the control of glycolysis. *Curr. Top. cell. Reg.* 12, 107.
- OVÁDI, J. (1986) Dynamic assembly of enzymes related to triosephosphates. In Dynamics of Biochemical Systems (eds. S. DAMJANOVICH, T. KELETI and L. TRÓN), pp. 203–216. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- OVÁDI, J. (1988) Old pathway—new concept. Control of glycolysis by metabolite-modulated dynamic enzyme association. Trends Biochem. Sci. 13, 486.
- OVÁDI, J. and KELETI, T. (1978) Kinetic evidence for interaction between aldolase and D-glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase. Eur. J. Biochem. 85, 157.
- OVÁDI, J., SALERNO, C., KELETI, T. and FASELLA, P. (1978) Physico-chemical evidence for the interaction between aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Eur. J. Biochem. 90, 499.
- OVÁDI, J., MOHAMED OSMAN, I. R. and BATKE, J. (1982) Local conformational changes induced by successive nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide binding to dissociable tetrameric p-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Quantitative analysis of a two-step dissociation process. *Biochemistry* 21, 6375.
- OVÁDI, J., MOHAMED OSMAN, I. R. and BATKE, J. (1983) Interaction of the dissociable glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 133, 433.
- OVÁDI, J., BATKE, J., MÁTRAI, GY. and BARTHA, F. (1985) Kinetic pathways of formation and dissociation of the glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase-fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase complex. *Biochem. J.* 229, 57.
- OVÁDI, J., ARAGÓN, J. J. and SOLS, A. (1986) Phosphofructokinase and fructosebisphosphatase from muscle can interact at physiological concentrations with mutual effects on their kinetic behavior. *Biochem. biophys. Res. Commun.* 135, 852.
- OVÁDI, J., TOMPA, P., VÉRTESSY, B., OROSZ, F., KELETI, T. and WELCH, G. R. (1989) Transient time analysis of substrate channelling in interacting enzyme systems. *Biochem. J.* 257, 187.
- PALSSON, B. O. and GROSHANS, T. M. (1988) Mathematical modelling of dynamics and control in metabolic networks. VI. Dynamic bifurcations in single biochemical control loops. J. theor. biol. 131, 43.
- PALSSON, B. O. and LIGHTFOOT, E. N. (1985a) Mathematical modelling of dynamics and control in metabolic networks. IV. Local stability analysis of single biochemical control loops. J. theor. Biol. 113, 261.
- PALSSON, B. O. and LIGHTFOOT, E. N. (1985b) Mathematical modelling of dynamics and control in metabolic networks. V. Static bifurcations in single biochemical control loops. J. theor. Biol. 113, 279.
- PALSSON, B. O., PALSSON, H. and LIGHTFOOT, E. N. (1985) Mathematical modelling of dynamics and control in metabolic networks. III. Linear reaction sequences. J. theor. Biol. 113, 231.
- PATTHY, L. and VAS, M. (1978) Aldolase-catalyzed inactivation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Nature* 276, 94.

- PENVERNE, B. and HERVÉ, G. (1983) In situ behavior of the pyrimidine pathway enzymes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. I. Catalytic and regulatory properties of aspartate transcarbamylase. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 225, 562.
- PERHAM, R. N. (1969) The comparative structure of mammalian glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Biochem. J. 111, 17.
- PERSSON, L.-O. and JOHANSSON, G. (1989) Studies of protein-protein interaction using countercurrent distribution in aqueous two-phase systems. Partition behaviour of six Calvin-cycle enzymes from a crude spinach (Spinacia oleracea) chloroplast extract. Biochem. J. 259, 863.
- PETTE, D. (1978) Cytosolic organization of carbohydrate metabolism. Enzymes in cross-striated muscle. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **6**, 9.
- PETTERSSON, G. and RYDE-PETTERSSON, U. (1988) A mathematical model of the Calvin photosynthesis cycle. Eur. J. Biochem. 175, 661.
- PIERCE, G. N. and PHILIPSON, K. D. (1985) Binding of glycolytic enzymes to cardiac sarcolemmal and sarcoplasmic reticular membranes. J. biol. Chem. 260, 6862.
- POLLARD, T. D. and WEIHING, R. R. (1974) Actin and myosin and cell movement. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 2, 1. POLSON, A., POTGIETER, G. M., LARGIER, J. F., MEARS, G. E. F. and JOUBERT, F. J. (1964) The fractionation of protein mixtures by linear polymers of high molecular weight. Biochim. biophys. Acta 82, 463.
- PONTREMOLI, S., MELLONI, E., SALAMINO, F., SPARATORE, B., MICHETTI, M. and HORECKER, B. L. (1979a) Changes in activity of fructose-1.6-bisphosphate aldolase in livers of fasted rabbits and accumulation of crossreacting immune material. Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76, 6323.
- PONTREMOLI, S., MELLONI, E., SALAMINO, F., SPARATORE, B., MICHETTI, M., SINGH, V. N. and HORECKER, B. L. (1979b) Evidence for an interaction between fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase and fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 197, 356.
- PONTREMOLI, S., MELLONI, E., SALAMINO, F., SPARATORE, B., MICHETTI, M. and HORECKER, B. L. (1980) Inactivation of liver aldolase in fasting rabbits: evidence for the accumulation of two different immunoreactive forms. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 203, 390.
- PONTREMOLI, S., MELLONI, E., MICHETTI, M., SALAMINO, F., SPARATORE, B. and HORECKER, B. L. (1982) Limited proteolysis of liver aldolase and fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase by lysosomal proteinases: Effect on complex formation. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 79, 2451.
- POOLMAN, B., BOSMAN, B., KIERS, J. and KONINGS, W. N. (1987) Control of glycolysis by glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in *Streptococcus cremoris* and *Streptococcus lactis*. J. Bacteriol. 169, 5887.
- PORPÁCZY, Z., SÜMEGI, B. and ALKONYI, I. (1983) Association between the alfa-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex and succinate thiokinase. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 749, 172.
- PORPÁCZY, Z., SÜMEGI, B. and ALKONYI, I. (1987) Interaction between NAD-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase, alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex, and NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase. J. biol. Chem. 262, 9509.
- POWELL, J. T. and MORRISON, J. F. (1979) Enzyme-enzyme interaction and the biosynthesis of aromatic amino acids in Escherichia coli. Biochim. biophys. Acta 568, 467.
- PRANKERD, T. A. J. and ALTMAN, K. I. (1954) A study of the metabolism of phosphorus in mammalian red cells. Biochem. J. 58, 622.
- RAPOPORT, T. A., HEINRICH, R., JACOBASCH, G. and RAPOPORT, S. M. (1974) A linear steady-state treatment of enzymatic chains. A mathematical model of glycolysis of human erythrocytes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 42, 107.
- RAPOPORT, T. A., HEINRICH, R. and RAPOPORT, S. M. (1976) The regulatory principles of glycolysis in erythrocytes in vivo and in vitro. Biochem. J. 154, 449.
- RAPOPORT, T. A., OTTO, M. and HEINRICH, R. (1977) An extended model of the glycolysis in erythrocytes. Acta biol. Med. germ. 36, 461.
- RAWITCH, A. B. and WEBER, G. (1972) The reversible association of lysozyme and thyroglobulin. Cooperative binding by near-neighbour interactions. J. biol. Chem. 247, 680.
- REICH, J. G. (1976) Near-equilibrium reactions and the regulation of pathways. In *Mathematical Models of Metabolic Regulation* (eds. T. KELETI and S. LAKATOS), pp. 159–171. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest.
- RICARD, J. (1989) Modulation of enzyme catalysis in organized biological systems: a physico-chemical approach. Catalysis Today 5, 275.
- RICHARD, J. and NOAT, G. (1984) Enzyme reactions at the surface of living cells. II. Destabilization in the membranes and conduction of signals, J. theor. Biol. 109, 571.
- ROBERTS, S. J. and SOMERO, G. N. (1987) Binding of phosphofructokinase to filamentous actin. *Biochemistry* 26, 3437.
- ROBINSON JR., J. B., INMAN, L., SÜMEGI, B. and SRERE, P. A. (1987) Further characterization of the Krebs tricarboxylic acid cycle metabolon. J. biol. Chem. 262, 1786.
- ROSE, I. A. and WARMS, J. V. B. (1967) Mitochondrial hexokinase. Release, rebinding and location. J. biol. Chem. 242, 1635.
- ROTHSTEIN, A., JENNINGS, D. H., DEMIS, C. and BRUCE, M. (1959) The relationship of fermentation to cell structure in yeast. *Biochem. J.* 71, 99.
- RUDOLPH, F. B., BAUGHER, B. W. and BEISSNER, R. S. (1979) Techniques in coupled enzyme assays. *Meth. Enzymol.* 63, 22.
- RYAZANOV, A. G. (1985) Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase is one of the three major RNA-binding proteins of rabbit reticulocytes. FEBS Lett. 192, 131.
- RYAZANOV, A. G. (1988) Organization of soluble enzymes in the cell. Relay at the surface. FEBS Lett. 237, 1.
- RYAZANOV, A. G., OVCHINNIKOV, L. P. and SPIRIN, A. S. (1987) Development of structural organization of proteinsynthetizing machinery from prokaryotes to eukaryotes. *BioSystems* 20, 275.
- RYAZANOV, A. G., ASHMARINA, L. I. and MURONETZ, V. I. (1988) Association of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with mono- and polyribosomes of rabbit reticulocytes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 171, 301.
- SAGRISTÁ, M. L. and BOZAL, J. (1987) Lactate and malate dehydrogenase binding to the microsomal fraction from chicken liver. Biochimie 69, 1207.

- SALERNO, C. and OVÁDI, J. (1982) Interaction between D-fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase and triosephosphate isomerase. FEBS Lett. 138, 270.
- SALERNO, C., OVÁDI, J., CHURCHICH, J. and FASELLA, P. (1975) Interaction between transaminases and dehydrogenases. In *Mechanism of Action and Regulation of Enzymes* (ed. T. KELETI), pp. 147–160. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and North-Holland, Amsterdam.
- SALERNO, C., OVÁDI, J., KELETI, T. and FASELLA, P. (1982a) Kinetics of coupled reactions catalyzed by aspartate aminotransferase and glutamate dehydrogenase. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **121**, 511.
- SALERNO, C., FASELLA, P. and FAHIEN, L. A. (1982b) Interaction of transaminase with other metabolically linked enzymes. In *Transaminases* (eds. P. CHRISTEN and D. METZLER), pp. 192–213. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- SALHANY, J. M. and GAINES, K. C. (1981) Connection between cytoplasmic proteins and the erythrocyte membrane. Trends Biochem. Sci. 6, 13.
- SALTER, M., KNOWLES, R. G. and POGSON, C. I. (1986) Quantification of the importance of individual steps in the control of aromatic amino acid metabolism. *Biochem. J.* 234, 635.
- SANDERS, C., STEWART, D. I. H. and SMILLIE, L. B. (1987) Troponin-T and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase share a common antigenic determinant. J. Muscle Res. Cell Motil. 8, 118.
- SAURO, H. M., SMALL, J. R. and FELL, D. A. (1987) Metabolic control and its analysis. Extensions to the theory and matrix method. Eur. J. Biochem. 165, 215.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1969a) Biochemical system analysis. I. Some mathematical properties of the rate law for the component enzymatic reactions. J. theor. Biol. 25, 365.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1969b) Biochemical system analysis. II. The steady-state solutions for an n-pool system using a power-law approximation. J. theor. Biol. 25, 370.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1970) Biochemical system analysis. III. Dynamic solutions using a power-law approximation. J. theor. Biol. 26, 215.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1971a) Parameter sensitivity as a criterion for evaluating and comparing the performance of biochemical systems. *Nature* 229, 542.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1971b) Concepts relating the behavior of biochemical systems to their underlying molecular properties. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 145, 612.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1972) The behavior of intact biochemical control systems. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 6, 63.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1976) Biochemical System Analysis. A Study of Function and Design in Molecular Biology. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1985) A theory of alternative designs for biochemical control systems. *Biomed. biochim. Acta* 44, 875.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A., VOIT, E. O. and IRVINE, D. H. (1987a) Biochemical systems theory and metabolic control theory: 1. Fundamental similarities and differences. *Math. Biosci.* **86**, 127.
- SAVAGEAU, M. A., VOIT, E. O. and IRVINE, D. H. (1987b) Biochemical systems theory and metabolic control theory: 2. The role of summation and connectivity relationships. *Math. Biosci.* 86, 147.
- SCHMIDT, E., SCHMIDT, F. W., HORN, H. P. and GERLACH, U. (1963) The importance of enzymatic analysis in medicine. In *Methods in Enzymatic Analysis* (ed. H. W. BERGMEYER), pp. 6–14. Academic Press, New York.
- SCHRIER, S. L. (1966) Organization of enzymes in human erythrocyte membranes. A. J. Physiol. 210, 139.
- SCHRIER, S. L. (1967) ATP synthesis in human erythrocyte membranes. Biochim. biophys. Acta 135, 591.
- SCHUSTER, R., HOLZHÜTTER, H.-G. and JACOBASCH, G. (1988) Interrelations between glycolysis and the hexose monophosphate shunt in erythrocytes as studied on the basis of a mathematical model. *BioSystems* 22, 19.
- SEGEL, G. B., FEIG, S. A., GLADER, B. E., MÜLLER, A., DUTCHER, P. and NATHAN, D. G. (1975) Energy metabolism in human erythrocytes: the role of phosphoglycerate kinase in cationic transport. *Blood* 46, 271.
- SHAW, W. N. and STADIE, W. C. (1957) Coexistence of insulin-responsive and insulin-non-responsive glycolytic systems in rat diaphragm. J. biol. Chem. 227, 115.
- SHAW, W. N. and STADIE, W. C. (1959) Two identical Embden-Meyerhof enzyme systems in normal rat diaphragms differing in cytological location and response to insulin. J. hiol. Chem. 234, 2491.
- SHEMISE, O. A., HAPPY, J. M. and FAHIEN, L. A. (1972) Reaction between reduced diphosphopyridine nucleotide and glutamate oxaloacetate transaminases. J. biol. Chem. 247, 7556.
- SHIN, B. C. and CARRAWAY, K. L. (1973) Association of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase with the human erythrocyte membrane. Effect of detergents, trypsin and adenosine triphosphate. J. biol. Chem. 248, 1436.
- SIEGBAHN, N. and MOSBACH, K. (1982) An immobilized cyclic multi-step enzyme system the urea cycle. *FEBS Lett.* 137, 6.
- SIEGBAHN, N., MÅNSSON, M.-O. and MOSBACH, K. (1987) Immobilized and soluble site-to-site directed enzyme complexes composed of alcohol dehydrogenase and lactate dehydrogenase. *Meth. Enzymol.* 136, 103.
- SIEKIEVITZ, P. (1959) Meaning of intracellular structure for metabolic regulation. In CIBA Foundation Symposium on Regulation of Cell Metabolism (eds. G. E. W. WOLSTENHOLME and C. M. O'CONNORS), pp. 17–32. Little, Brown, Boston.
- SMALL, J. R. and FELL, D. A. (1989) The matrix method of metabolic control analysis: its validity for complex pathway structures. J. theor. Biol. 136, 181.
- SMITH, G. D., KIRSCHNER, M. W. and SCHACHMAN, H. K. (1973) Analysis of association-dissociation equilibria in proteins by difference and differential sedimentation. *Biochemistry* 12, 3801.
- SOLS, A. and MARCO, R. (1970) Concentrations of metabolites and binding sites; implications in metabolic regulation. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 2, 227.
- SOLTI, M. and FRIEDRICH, P. (1976) Partial reversible inactivation of enzymes due to binding to the human erythrocyte membrane. *Molec. cell. Biochem.* 10, 145.
- SOLTI, M. and FRIEDRICH, P. (1979) The "enzyme-probe" method for characterizing metabolite pools. The use of NAD-glycohydrolase in human erythrocyte sonicate as a model system. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 95, 551.
- SOLTI, M., BARTHA, F., HALÁSZ, N., TÓTH, G., SIROKMÁN, F. and FRIEDRICH, P. (1981) Localization of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in intact human erythrocytes. Evaluation of membrane adherence in autoradiographs at low grain density. J. biol. Chem. 256, 9260.

- SORRIBAS, A. and BARTRONS, R. (1986) Theoretical analysis of the flux control properties of a substrate cycle. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **158**, 107.
- SOTTOCASA, G. L., KUYLENSTIERNA, B., ERNSTER, L. and BERGSTRAND, A. (1963) Separation of some enzymatic properties of the inner and outer membranes of rat liver mitochondria. *Meth. Enzymol.* **10**, 448.
- SRERE, P. A. (1967) Enzyme concentrations in tissues. Science 158, 936.
- SRERE, P. A. (1972) Is there an organization of Krebs cycle enzymes in the mitochondrial matrix? In *Energy Metabolism and the Regulation of Metabolic Processes in Mitochondria* (eds. M. A. MEGHLMAN and R. W. HANSEN), pp. 79–91. Academic Press, New York.
- SRERE, P. A. (1974) Controls of citrate synthase activity. Life Sci. 15, 1695.
- SRERE, P. A. (1980) The infrastructure of the mitochondrial matrix. Trends Biochem. Soc. 5, 120.
- SRERE, P. A. (1982) The structure of the mitochondrial inner membrane-matrix compartment. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 7, 375.
- SRERE, P. A. (1985) The metabolon. Trends Biochem. Sci. 10, 109.
- SRERE, P. A. (1987) Complexes of sequential metabolic enzymes. A. Rev. Biochem. 56, 21.
- SRERE, P. A. and HENSLEE, J. G. (1980) Is there an infrastructure in the mitochondrial matrix? In Cell Compartmentation and Metabolic Channeling (eds. L. NOVER, F. LYNEN and K. MOTHES), pp. 159-168. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- SRERE, P. A. and MOSBACH, K. (1974) Metabolic compartmentation: symbiotic, organellar, multienzymic and microenvironmental. A. Rev. Microbiol. 28, 61.
- SRERE, P. A., MATTIASSON, B. and MOSBACH, K. (1973) An immobilized three-enzyme system: a model for microenvironmental compartmentation in mitochondria. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 70, 2534.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. K. and BERNHARD, S. A. (1984) Direct transfer of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide from glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase to liver alcohol dehydrogenase. *Biochemistry* 23, 4538.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. K. and BERNHARD, S. A. (1985) Mechanism of transfer of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide among dehydrogenases. *Biochemistry* 24, 623.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. K. and BERNHARD, S. A. (1986a) Enzyme enzyme interactions and the regulation of metabolic reaction pathways. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 28, 1.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. K. and BERNHARD, S. A. (1986b) Metabolite transfer via enzyme-enzyme complexes. Science 234, 1081.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. K. and BERNHARD, S. A. (1987a) Biophysical chemistry of metabolic reaction sequences in concentrated enzyme solution and in the cell. A. Rev. Biophys., biophys. Chem. 16, 175.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. K. and BERNHARD, S. A. (1987b) Mechanism of transfer of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide among dehydrogenases. Transfer rates and equilibria with enzyme-enzyme complexes. *Biochemistry* 26, 1240.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. K., BERNHARD, S. A., LANGRIDGE, R. and MCCLARIN, J. A. (1985) Molecular basis for the transfer of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide among dehydrogenases. *Biochemistry* 24, 629.
- STEBBING, N. (1980) Evolution of compartmentation, metabolic channelling and control of biosynthetic pathway. In Cell Compartmentation and Metabolic Channeling (eds. L. NOVER, F. LYNEN and K. MOTHES), pp. 93-105. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- STEPHAN, P., CLARKE, F. and MORTON, D. (1986) The indirect binding of triosephosphate isomerase to myofibrils to form a glycolytic enzyme mini-complex. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 873, 127.
- STEWART, M., MORTON, D. J. and CLARKE, F. M. (1979) Changes associated with glycolytic enzyme binding in the equatorial X-ray-diffraction pattern of glycerinated rabbit psoas muscle. *Biochem. J.* 183, 663.
- STEWART, M., MORTON, D. J. and CLARKE, F. M. (1980) Interaction of aldolase with actin containing filaments. Biochem. J. 186, 99.
- STORER, A. C. and CORNISH-BOWDEN, A. (1974) The kinetics of coupled enzyme reactions. Biochem. J. 141, 205.
- STRAPAZON, E. and STECK, T. L. (1976) Binding of rabbit muscle aldolase to band 3, the predominant polypeptide of the human erythrocyte membrane. *Biochemistry* 15, 1421.
- STRAPAZON, E. and STECK, T. L. (1977) Interaction of the aldolase and the membrane of human erythrocytes. *Biochemistry* 16, 2966.
- STRYER, L. (1978) Fluorescence energy transfer as a spectroscopic ruler. A. Rev. Biochem. 47, 819.
- SUGROBOVA, N. P., ERONINA, T. B., CHEBOTAREVA, N. A., OSTROVSKAYA, M. V., LIVANOVA, N. B., KURGANOV, B. I. and POGLASOV, B. F. (1983) Regulation of enzyme activity in adsorptive enzyme systems. III. Interaction of pig muscle lactate dehydrogenase with F-actin. *Molec. Biol.* 17, 430.
- SUKHODOLETS, M. V., MURONETZ, V. I. and NAGRADOVA, N. K. (1987) Kinetic evidence for the interaction between rabbit muscle D-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and 3-phosphoglycerate kinase. *Biochem. Int.* 15, 373.
- SÜMEGI, B. and ALKONYI, I. (1983) A study on the physical interaction between the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and citrate synthase. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* **749**, 163.
- SÜMEGI, B. and SRERE, P. A. (1984) Complex I binds several mitochondrial NAD-coupled dehydrogenases. J. biol. Chem. 259, 15040.
- SÜMEGI, B., GYÓCSI, L. and ALKONYI, I. (1980) Interaction between the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and citrate synthase. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 616, 158.
- SÜMEGI, B., GILBERT, H. F. and SRERE, P. A. (1985) Interaction between citrate synthase and thiolase. J. biol. Chem. 260, 188.
- SZABOLCSI, G. and CSEKE, E. (1981) On the molecular sieving property of the human erythrocyte membrane. Localization of some proteins within the cell. *Acta biol. Med. germ.* **40**, 471.
- TAGER, J. M., WANDERS, R. J. A., GROEN, A. K., KUNZ, W., BOHNENSACK, R., KÜSTER, U., LETKO, G., BÖHME, G., DUSZYNSKI, J. and WOJTCZAK, L. (1983) Control of mitochondrial respiration. *FEBS Lett.* **151**, 1.
- TAMIR, H., KAUFMAN, H. and RAPOPORT, M. M. (1972) Subcellular distribution of pyruvate kinase (EC 2.7.1.40) in celebral cortex. J. Neurochem. 19, 1759.
- TAO, T. (1969) Time-dependent fluorescence polarization and Brownian rotational diffusion coefficients of macromolecules. *Biopolymers* 8, 609.

- TAYLOR, M. B., BERGHAUSEN, H., HEYWORTH, P., MESSENGER, N., REES, L. J. and GUTTERIDGE, W. E. (1980) Subcellular localization of some glycolytic enzymes in parasitic flagellated protozoa. Int. J. Biochem. 11, 117.
- THRELFALL, C. J. and HEATH, D. F. (1968) Compartmentation between glycolysis and gluconeogenesis in rat liver. Biochem. J. 110, 303.
- TILLMANN, W., CORDUA, A AND SCHRÖTER, W. (1975) Organization of enzymes of glycolysis and of glutathion metabolism in human red cell. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 382, 157.
- TOMPA, P., BÄR, J. and BATKE, J. (1986) Interaction of enzymes involved in triosephosphate metabolism. Comparison of yeast and rabbit muscle cytoplasmic systems. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **159**, 117.
- TOMPA, P., BATKE, J. and Ovádi, J. (1987a) How to determine the efficiency of intermediate transfer in an interacting enzyme system? *FEBS Lett.* **214**, 244.
- TOMPA, P., BATKE, J., OVÁDI, J., WELCH, G. R. and SRERE, P. A. (1987b) Quantitation of the interaction between citrate synthase and malate dehydrogenase. J. biol. Chem. 262, 6089.
- TORRES, N. V., MATEO, F., MELÉNDEZ-HEVIA, E. and KACSER, H. (1986) Kinetics of metabolic pathways. A system in vitro to study the control of flux. *Biochem. J.* 234, 169.
- TURKOVA, J. (1978) Affinity Chromatography. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- URETA, T. (1978) The role of isoenzymes in metabolism: a model of metabolic pathways as the basis for the biological role of isozymes. Curr. Top. cell. Reg. 13, 233.
- URETA, T. (1985) Organización del metabolismo: Localización subcelular de enzimas glicolíticas. Archs biol. Med. Exp. 18, 9.
- VALDES JR., R. and ACKERS, G. K. (1979) Study of protein subunit association equilibria by elution gel chromatography. *Meth. Enzymol.* 61, 125.
- VAS, M. and BATKE, J. (1981) Evidence for the absence of an interaction between purified 3-phosphoglycerate kinase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 660, 193.
- VEECH, R. L., EGGLESTON, L. V. and KREBS, H. A. (1969) The redox state of free nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide phosphate in the cytoplasm of rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 115, 609.
- VEECH, R. L., RAUMAN, L. and KREBS, H. A. (1970) Equilibrium relations between the cytoplasmic adenine nucleotide system and nicotinamide-adenine-nucleotide system in rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 117, 499.
- VÉRTESSY, B. and OváDI, J. (1987) A simple approach to detect active-site-directed enzyme enzyme interactions: the aldolase/glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase enzyme system. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **164**, 655.
- VÉRTESSY, B. and OvADI, J. (1989) Modulation of the interaction between aldolase and glycerolphosphate dehydrogenase by fructose phosphates. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, submitted.
- VIITANEN, P. and GEIGER, P. (1979) Heart mitochondrially bound hexokinase: direct demonstration of compartmentation with the use of newly synthetized ATP. Fedn Proc. 38, 561.
- VISSER, N., OPPERDOES, F. R. and BORST, P. (1981) Subcellular compartmentation of glycolytic intermediates in Trypanosoma brucei. Eur. J. Biochem. 118, 521.
- WALSH, J. L. and KNULL, H. R. (1988) Heterologous interactions among glycolytic enzymes and of glycolytic enzymes with F-actin: effects of polyethylene glycol. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 952, 83.
- WALSH, T. P., CLARKE, F. M. and MASTERS, C. J. (1977) Modification of the kinetic parameters of aldolase on binding to the actin-containing filaments of muscle. *Biochem. J.* 165, 165.
- WALSH, T. P., WINZOR, D. J., CLARKE, F. M., MASTERS, C. J. and MORTON, D. J. (1980) Binding of aldolase to actin containing filaments. *Biochem. J.* **186**, 89.
- WANDERS, R. J. A., VAN ROERMUND, C. W. T. and MEIJER, A. J. (1984a) Analysis of the control of citrulline synthesis in isolated rat-liver mitochondria. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 142, 247.
- WANDERS, R. J. A., GROEN, A. K., VAN ROERMUND, C. W. T. and TAGER, J. M. (1984b) Factors determining the relative contribution of the adenine -nucleotide translocator and the ADP-regenerating system to the control of oxidative phosphorylation in isolated rat-liver mitochondria. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 142, 417.
- WASTERNACK, C. H. (1984) Kompartmentierung und Regulation des Argininstoffwechsels in Neurospora crassa. Biol. Rdsch. 22, 5.
- WASTERNACK, C. and HAUSE, B. (1986) Metabolic channelling—ein Prinzip der Stoffwechselregulation. Wiss. Z. Univ. Halle 35, 87.
- WEBB, J. L. (1963) General Principles of Inhibition. General Considerations of Multienzyme Systems. Enzyme and Metabolic Inhibitors, Vol. 1, pp. 372–383. Academic Press, New York.
- WEBER, J. P. and BERNHARD, S. A. (1982) Transfer of 1,3-diphosphoglycerate between glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and 3-phosphoglycerate kinase via an enzyme-substrate complex. *Biochemistry* 21, 4189.
- WEISS, T. L., ZIESKE, J. D. and BERNSTEIN, I. A. (1981) Reversible microsomal binding of hepatic aldolase. *Biochim. biophys. Acta* 661, 221.
- WELCH, G. R. (1977a) On the role of organized multienzyme systems in cellular metabolism: a general synthesis. Prog. Biophys. molec. Biol. 32, 103.
- WELCH, G. R. (1977b) On the free energy "cost of transition" in intermediary metabolic processes and the evolution of cellular infrastructure. J. theor. Biol. 68, 267.
- WELCH, G. R. (ed.) (1985) Organized Multienzyme Systems: Catalytic Properties. Academic Press, New York.
- WELCH, G. R. and CLEGG, J. S. (EDS.) (1986) The Organization of Cell Metabolism. Plenum Press, New York.
- WELCH, G. R. and KELETI, T. (1981) On the "cytosociology" of enzyme action in vivo: a novel thermodynamic correlate of biological evolution. J. theor. Biol. 93, 701.
- WELCH, G. R. and KELETI, T. (1987) Is cell metabolism controlled by a "molecular democracy" or by a "supramolecular socialism"? *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **12**, 216.
- WELCH, G. R., KELETI, T. and VÉRTESSY, B. (1988) The control of cell metabolism for homogeneous vs heterogeneous enzyme systems. J. theor. Biol. 130, 407.
- WESTERHOFF, H. V. and CHEN, Y.-D. (1984) How do enzyme activities control metabolite concentrations? *Eur. J. Biochem.* **142**, 425.
- WESTERHOFF, H. V., PLOMP, P. J. A. M., GROEN, A. K. and WANDERS, R. J. A. (1987a) Thermodynamics of the control of metabolism. Cell Biophys. 10, 239.
- WESTERHOFF, H. V., PLOMP, P. J. A. M., GROEN, A. K., WANDERS, R. J. A., BODE, J. A. and VAN DAM, K. (1987b) On

the origin of the limited control of mitochondrial respiration by the adenine nucleotide translocator. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 257, 154.

- WESTRIN, H. and BACKMAN, L. (1983) Association of rabbit muscle glycolytic enzymes with filamentous actin. A counter-current distribution study at high ionic strength. Eur. J. Biochem. 136, 407.
- WIESENGA, R. K., SWINKELS, B., MICHELS, P. A. M., OSINGA, K., MISSET, O., VAN BEEUMEN, J., GIBSON, W. C., POSTMA, J. P. M., BORST, P., OPPERDOES, F. R. and HOL, W. G. J. (1987) Common elements on the surface of glycolytic enzymes from *Trypanosoma brucei* may serve as topogenic signals for import into glycosomes. *EMBO J.* 6, 215.
- WILLIAMSON, J. B. and COOPER, R. H. (1980) Regulation of the citric acid cycle in mammalian systems. FEBS Lett. 117 (Suppl.), K73.
- WILSON, J. E. (1972) The localization of latent brain hexokinase on synaptosomal mitochondria. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 150, 96.
- WILSON, J. E. (1978) Ambiguitous enzymes: variation in intracellular distribution as a regulatory mechanism. Trends Biochem. Sci. 3, 124.
- WILSON, J. E., REID, S. and MASTERS, C. J. (1982) A comparative study of the binding of aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase to the human erythrocyte membrane. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 215, 610.
- WOLPERT, J. S. and ERNST-FONBERG, M. L. (1975a) A multienzyme complex for CO₂ fixation. *Biochemistry* 14, 1095.
- WOLPERT, J. S. and ERNST-FONBERG, M. L. (1975b) Dissociation and characterization of enzymes from a multienzyme complex involved in CO₂ fixation. *Biochemistry* 14, 1103.
- YANG, S.-Y. and SCHULZ, H. (1987) Kinetics of coupled enzyme reactions. Biochemistry 26, 5579.
- YANOFSKY, C. and RACHMELER, M. (1958) The exclusion of free indole as an intermediate in the biosynthesis of tryptophan in *Neurospora crassa. Biochim. biophys Acta* 28, 640.
- YELTMAN, D. R. and HARRIS, B. G. (1980) Localization and membrane association of aldolase in human erythrocytes. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 199, 186.
- ZIMMER. D. B. and VAN ELDIK, L. J. (1986) Identification of a molecular target for the calcium-modulated protein S100. J. biol. Chem. 261, 11424.
- ZIMMERMAN, J. K. and CROWL-POWERS, M. L. (1988) The determination of equilibrium constants for heterogeneous macromolecular interactions. *Biophys. Chem.* 29, 231.

NOTE ADDED IN PROOF

The theories concerning metabolic control have been reviewed recently (Meléndez-Hevia et al., 1987; Torres et al., 1988a; Cornish-Bowden, 1989a,b; Sorribas and Savageau, 1989a,b,c). The control analysis was extended for convergent metabolic pathways (Torres et al., 1988b), and for homologously (subunit-subunit) and heterologously (enzyme-enzyme, enzyme-cytomatrix) interacting organized systems (Kacser, 1989, Kacser et al., 1989; Welsh and Keleti, 1989) including the role of external ligands (Khodolenko, 1988). The matrix method for the calculation of the parameters was further developed (Reder, 1988; Cascante et al., 1989a,b) and the graph method elaborated (Hofmeyr, 1989). The transit time and metabolic flux control analyses were combined (Acerenza et al., 1989; Easterby, 1989; Torres et al., 1989). Further data are presented on the supramolecular organization of metabolic pathways (Kurganov, 1988; Lyubarev and Kurganov, 1989) including metabolic compartmentation (Spivey and Merz, 1989; Batke, 1989a,b; Ovádi, 1989) and multienzyme complexes in the one-carbon metabolism (Schieh and Strong, 1989).

REFERENCES

- ACERENZA, L., SAURO, H. M. and KACSER, H. (1989) Control analysis of time-dependent metabolic systems. J. theor. Biol. 137, 423.
- BATKE, J. (1989a) Remarks on the supramolecular organization of glycolytic system in vivo. FEBS Lett. 251, 13.
- BATKE, J. (1989b). Channeling of glycolytic intermediates by temporary-stationary bi-enzyme complexes is probable in vivo. Trends Biochem. Sci., in press.
- CASCANTE, M., FRANCO, R. and CANELA, E. I. (1989a) Use of implicit methods from general sensitivity theory to develop a systematic approach to metabolic control. 1. Unbranched pathways. *Math. Biosci.* 92, 271.
- CASCANTE, M., FRANCO, R. and CANELA, E. I. (1989b) Use of implicit methods from general sensitivity theory to develop a systematic approach to metabolic control. 2. Complex systems. *Math. Biosci.* 92, 289.
- CORNISH-BOWDEN, A. (1989a) Metabolic control theory and biochemical system theory: different objectives, different assumptions, different results. J. theor. Biol. 136, 365.
- CORNISH-BOWDEN, A. (ed.) (1989b) Control of Metabolic Processes. Plenum Press, New York, in press.
- EASTERBY, J. S. (1989) Temporal analysis of the transition between steady states. In *Control of Metabolic Processes* (ed. A. CORNISH-BOWDEN). Plenum Press, New York, in press.
- HOFMEYR, J.-H. S. (1989) Control-pattern analysis of metabolic pathways. I. Flux and concentration control in linear pathways. In *Control of Metaolic Processes* (ed. A. CORNISH-COWDEN). Plenum Press, New York, in press.
- KACSER, H. (1989) Enzyme-enzyme interactions and control analysis. In Control of Metabolic Processes (ed. A. CORNISH-BOWDEN). Plenum Press, New York, in press.
- KACSER, H., SAURO, H. M. and ACERENZA, L. (1989) Enzyme-enzyme interactions and control analysis. Eur. J. Biochem., submitted.
- KHODOLENKO, B. N. (1988) How do external parameters control fluxes and concentrations of metabolites? An additional relationship in the theory of metabolic control. FEBS Lett. 232, 383.
- KURGANOV, B. I. (1988) Role of multienzyme complexes in the integration of cellular metabolism. In *Enzyme Dynamics and Regulation* (eds. P. BOON CHOCK, C. Y. HUANG, C. L. TSOU and J. H. WANG), pp. 175–180. Springer Verlag, New York.

- LYUBAREV, A. E. and KURGANOV, B. I. (1989) Supramolecular organization of tricarboxylic acid cycle enzymes. *BioSystems* 22, 91.
- MELÉNDEZ-HEVIA, E., RID-CIMAS, M. and TORRES, N. V. (1987) La teoria del control y su aplicación al metabolismo. An. Quim. 83C, 224.
- Ovádi, J. (1989) Dynamic channelling complex of enzymes and its control by metabolites and calmodulin. In Control of Metabolic Processes (ed. A. CORNISH-BOWDEN). PLenum Press, New York, in press.
- REDER, C. (1988) Metabolic control theory: a structural approach. J. theor. Biol. 135, 175.
- SCHIRCH, V. and STRONG, W. B. (1989) Interaction of folylpolyglutamates with enzymes in one-carbon metabolism. Archs Biochem. Biophys. 269, 371.
- SORRIBAS, A., and SAVAGEAU, M. A. (1989a) A comparison of variant theories of intact biochemical systems. I. Enzyme-enzyme interactions and biochemical system theory. *Math. Biosci.* 92, 161.
- SORRIBAS, A. and SAVAGFAU, M. A. (1989b) A comparison of variant theories of intact biochemical systems. II. Flux-oriented and metabolic control theories. *Math. Biosci.* 92, 239.
- SPIVEY, H. O. and MERZ, J. M. (1989) Metabolic compartmentation. BioEssays 10, 127.
- TORRES, N. V., MELÉNDEZ-HEVIA, E. and RIOL-CIMAS, J. M. (1988a) A study of the distribution of flux control coefficients in an *in vitro* metabolic system: a practical exercise. *Biochem. Educ.* 16, 100.
- TORRES, N. V., MATEO, F., SICILIA, J. and MELÉNDEZ-HEVIA, E. (1988b) Distribution of the flux control in convergent metabolic pathways: theory and application to experimental and simulated systesm. *Int. J. Biochem.* 20, 161.
- TORRES, N. V., SOUTO, R., and MELÉNDEZ-HEVIA, E. 1989) Study of the flux and transit time control coefficient profiles in a metabolic system *in vitro* and the effect of an external stimulator. *Biochem. J.* 260, 763.
- WELCH, G. R. and KELETI, T. (1989) Metabolic control analysis for heterogeneous enzyme systems. In Structural and Organizational Aspects of Metabolic Regulation (eds. P. SRERE, M. E. JONES, and C. MATHEWS). Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York, in press.